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AWARDS

AND RECOGNITION

RIBR B

Significant awards won by the Group in the
financial year 2019/2020:

% B 1A2019/2020 BN F E &S/ = B 4218 -

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

EREXEREEARAT

“15 YEARS PLUS CARING COMPANY”
LOGO

15FPLUS[ & R R BB 1Z 1125

The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service

BAEHERBBE

SILVER AWARD FOR VOLUNTEER
SERVICE

&5 TIEZE AR
Social Welfare Department
HEENE

GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY

AWARDS LABELLING SCHEME

BRERLNEREE

— GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY
WORKPLACE LABELS
(RefrzE I RMEEIFRE]

& =
o W

World Green Organisation
R4k A

THE 10" HONG KONG OUTSTANDING

CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP AWARDS

ETEEERUECEARSE

— CORPORATE CITIZENSHIP LOGO —
ENTERPRISE CATEGORY
TCEAREFED-LXAR

The Hong Kong Productivity

Council

BEEENRER

GOOD MPF EMPLOYER 2018-19

&2 1718 X 2018-19

— GOOD MPF EMPLOYER 5 YEARS
BEHEESE

— E-CONTRIBUTION AWARD
ol e

— MPF SUPPORT AWARD
BEHEER

Mandatory Provident Fund

Schemes Authority

BREERTERFIEER

MENTAL HEALTH WORKPLACE CHARTER

BHERBENE

— MENTAL HEALTH FRIENDLY
ORGANISATION
BHRERAEHRE

Advisory Committee on Mental

Health and Department of Health

BEEREAZE® BLEE

EMPLOYER OF CHOICE AWARD 2019
£ #4E E K #2019
— NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENT
AWARD
SHMHHERERE KR
JobMarket
KB B& %5

2019/20 MERCURY EXCELLENCE

AWARDS

— WEBSITES/MOBILE MEDIA:
REDESIGN/RELAUNCH —
SILVER AWARD

MerComm, Inc.

HONG KONG GREEN AWARDS 2019

EEZELEKRE2019

— CORPORATE GREEN GOVERNANCE
AWARD — STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT
TESEERR-FHESH

Green Council

RIRIBED

THE 9" CHINA CHARITY FESTIVAL
ENERE D
— 2019 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
BUSINESS LEADER OF THE YEAR
019FEEEMEEM
— MRVICTOR CHA
B EE
— 2019 PUBLIC WELFARE
COMMUNICATION OF THE YEAR
19FENHERER
China Charity Festival Committee
PEAGEHATS

CHINA FINANCE SUMMIT 2019
AR B B AR U2 & 2019
— BUSINESS LEADER IN NEW ERA
HEREEER
— MRVICTOR CHA
B EE
— CSRMODEL
TEMSSFAHER

Organising Committee of China
Finance Summit
PEKESHEZS
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2019 CHINA REAL ESTATE FASHION
AWARDS
2019 A B3 2= & 1= K 3%
— INFLUENTIAL LEADER OF THE YEAR

FEXENERM

— MRVICTOR CHA

ERBEE

Boao Real Estate Forum 2019
2019 EF thE R E

HONG KONG BUSINESS MANAGEMENT
EXCELLENCE AWARDS 2019
— EXECUTIVE OF THE YEAR AWARD
FOR REAL ESTATE
— MR VICTOR CHA
Hong Kong Business

BEIJING EVENING NEWS INDUSTRIAL
ECONOMY ANNUAL REPORT
LR HEKE T F LA
— CONTRIBUTION FIGURE OF THE YEAR
2019 B REA YD
— MRVICTOR CHA
ERREE
Beijing Evening News

BlN ik

ASIA PROPERTY AWARDS
— BEST DEVELOPER (HONG KONG)
PropertyGuru

2019 JINWU AWARD

2019 £ 4E 88

— CONTENT MARKETING PRIZE
WA & B L ARG

— SOCIAL MEDIA MARKETING PRIZE
HELEHBRARMR

Organising Committee of Jinwu

Award

eHRRELTE

DISCOVERY BAY SERVICES

MANAGEMENT LIMITED
MRERBERERDA

2018 HONG KONG AWARDS FOR
ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE
2018 EBREZMAE
— BRONZE AWARD — PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT (RESIDENTIAL)
MEEE (EE)-0%
Environmental Campaign
Committee
RBEHEEG

CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2019

HE[AIFETRE ¥ K5 12019

— JOINT ENERGY SAVING AWARD
OB KR

CLP Power

REB T

HKRI TAIKOO HUI

=z

THE MUST-GO SHOPPING MALL 2019
2019 KRBT L LS (7 35)
dianping.com

KR E

GRADE EVALUATION FOR CHINA

SHOPPING CENTER

HEBENROER

— FIVE STAR SHOPPING CENTER
FEBYFRL

Commercial Cultural Tourism

Committee of China Real Estate

Association

A S b 7 2 1R e rE S SUB TR

HEWEZEE

2019 LIFESTYLE AWARDS
019 FEEFAAKE
— SHOPPING DESTINATION OF
THE YEAR
FEREBEME N
that’'s magazine
ATl L

THE BEST BANG AWARDS 2019

20193 M AEERE

— BEST POPULARITY SHOPPING
CENTER
FEARBYH O

Shanghai BANG

£ EBANG

JIN MAO AWARD

I3

— MOST POPULAR CHECK-IN SPOT
2019
019FEREZEMIT Rt

Go App

7E #E App

2020 ANNUAL FASHION GALA
2020 F [ I 1= 2% B2
— BEST POPULARITY SHOPPING
CENTER
[ 5 m B i A R i
GOGOShanghai



JIAXING REAL ESTATE HONOUR LIST

EEBERER

— MOST ANTICIPATED PROJECT
ERHHER

Zhejiang Real Estate Market

Website

LB E R A

SOHU FOCUS (JIAXING)

R AR B 22 U

— THE MOST VALUABLE PROJECT OF
THE YEAR
FEEBEAZHER

Sohu Focus

AN H

REAL ESTATE CHOICE AWARD 2019

19FERBREE

— EXCELLENT QUALITY PROJECT
fn B 12 AR

jiaxing.19Lou.com

1918 3%

CREEKSIDE ONE
ERAXNAE

JIAXING REAL ESTATE ANNUAL AWARD
2019
FHEMhEFE 2019
— MOST LIVABLE PROJECT OF THE
YEAR
FERELEEEEES
Jiaxing Broadcast and Television
Group and Jiaxing University Real
Estate Research Center
FEMEEEREE -
RHEBREMEHRRTF L

SOHU FOCUS (JIAXING)

RN ES B 5=

— HABITAT OF HONOUR OF THE YEAR
FEERAEHER

Sohu Focus

I

REAL ESTATE CHOICE AWARD 2019

19FERBEE

— CLASSIC LIVABLE PROJECT
ABKHES

jiaxing.19Lou.com

198 5= #

MANSION ONE 0ASIS ONE
ERARKAH ERAXBE

2019 BAIDU CERTIFIED GOLD

CREDIT MERCHANT
0195EFEREREL

Baidu Trust and Baifang Network
(Zhejiang)

BERGFE aE®MKONT)

HANGZHOU REAL ESTATE PROJECT OF

THE YEAR

MNEHEFEZE

— STAR PROPERTY OF THE YEAR
FEHRERE

Yao Hao App

B/NE S ER

TOP 10 HANGZHOU REAL ESTATE
ENTERPRISE
BELRFBAMAMELRTOP 10
Keyhouse.com.cn

{3 47 48

AUBERGE DISCOVERY BAY

HONG KONG
ERmSEEE

SAY YES TO BREASTFEEDING

2020/2021

& %, 5 28 7= fl & 2020/2021

— GOLD LABEL OF BREASTFEEDING
FRIENDLY PREMISES
BIRBEREGH 2 EIRE

— BREASTMILK STORAGE SERVICE
LABEL
B FFIRISZRE

UNICEF Hong Kong

BEBRREASCHESZET

EXPAT LIVING READERS’ CHOICE

AWARDS 2020

— BEST BEACHFRONT HOTEL IN
HONG KONG — SILVER WINNER

Expat Living

CTRIP AWARDS 2019

— BEST RESORT HOTEL
Ctrip.com

BIRMRITAS

CUSTOMER REVIEW AWARD 2019
Agoda

TRAVELLER REVIEW AWARDS
Booking.com

AunwimiE 5
[} vursacen |

_—

2019 PARTNER EMPLOYER AWARD

2019 KB AR IZEF=HE

— OUTSTANDING CORPORATE
EHPE

The Hong Kong General Chamber

of Small and Medium Business

BEERNEPEAEE

THE SUKHOTHAI SHANGHAI
LRRIARERE

THE GOLD LIST 2019
2019 F iS4
— CHINA TOP 10 HOTELS

A EH JETOP 10
Condé Nast Traveler China
magazine
1% %% Condé Nast Traveler 4 7%

THE BEST BANG AWARDS 2019

20193 H £ TE R E

— BEST GUEST EXPERIENCE HOTEL
FEERRREE

Shanghai BANG

+EBANG

BUSINESS TRAVELLER CHINA

AWARDS 2019

2019 75 it -8 & AP % K88

— BEST DESIGN HOTEL IN CHINA
PEREREE

Business Traveller

2 %

THE 9" ANNUAL CHINA HOTEL AWARDS

589 & CHAH BB /5 K 3%

— BEST BOUTIQUE HOTEL
FERERRERE

LifeStyle magazine

LifeStyle i bR & /& 4 7

TIME OUT HOSPITALITY AWARDS

TIME OUT £ 4 &l 1§ K &

— BOUTIQUE HOTEL OF THE YEAR
FERBMBIE

TimeOut Shanghai magazine

TimeOut L8 JH & 38 T 3 55

THE BEST BUSINESS HOTEL
AWARD 2019

019 F EREEBEER
City Traveler

Yok T ik 3%

THE ZUK BAR

BON APP! AWARDS 2019

2019 EARE

— COCKTAIL BAR OF THE YEAR
HBONFEHRE AL

Bon App!

LA SCALA

TIME OUT HOSPITALITY AWARDS

TIME OUT L33 m & i K &

— HOTEL BRUNCH OF THE YEAR
FERERTE

TimeOut Shanghai magazine

TimeOut £ /&) & & FI 3 5%

URBAN Café

THAT’S SHANGHAI FOOD & DRINK

AWARDS 2019

— EDITOR’S PICKS — SOUTHEAST
ASIAN RESTAURANT OF THE YEAR

that’s magazine

WHg S LM

THE RETREAT SPA

BEST ONLINE STAR SPA OF THE YEAR
FERMAKERE

SpaChina magazine
EERKERE

THE SUKHOTHAI BANGKOK

READERS’ CHOICE AWARD 2019
— TOP 10 HOTELS IN BANGKOK
Condé Nast Traveler magazine

LA SCALA

TOP ITALIAN RESTAURANTS SPECIAL
AWARDS 2020

— THREE FOLKS AWARDS
Gambero Rosso

THE BEST ITALIAN RESTAURANTS IN
THE WORLD 2019
la Repubblica

BERAXEAREBERAT 2019/2020 F3] 3



ABOUT

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

FREEREXEREERRAT

OUR VISION, MISSION & VALUES
BMNESR - EaMEESR

iH = To be the pioneer of innovative living space
VISION B85 HERFE AlEEER

MISSION ﬁ’:ﬁj We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living experience through teamwork
and passionate pursuit of innovation and excellence

RS  AIFRL  SEAR  BEAKN  BHEMLEER

VALUES E1E&8 PIONEER

Break new grounds

— PRI’DE i

INTEGRITY
Uphold high ethical
standards
B

=

=

RESPECT
Value the individual and
cherish our environment

BAEL

DEVOTION

Be committed and
passionate
FEOME [380]

=

INNOVATION
Think outside the box
AR (48]

EXCELLENCE
Consistency in the pursuit
of our quality standards

IEREE
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COMPANY HISTORY

=] db =
/Z\\E.Iﬁﬁl

In 1977, the family of Dr CHA Chi Ming, the late founder and
chairman of the Group, acquired the equity interest of Hong Kong
Resort Company Limited (‘Hong Kong Resort”) which is the
registered owner and developer of Discovery Bay on Lantau Island.
The shares of Hong Kong Resort and another Group company
were once listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). During the years 1988 and 1989, the Group
underwent a series of reorganisation and scheme of arrangement
and formed HKR International Limited (“HKRI” or the “Company”)
(Stock Code: 00480) in 1989 as its new listed holding company.

Today, HKRI has diversified interests in real estate development
and investment, property management, luxury hotels and serviced
apartments, healthcare services and other investments in Hong
Kong, mainland China and Asia.

SEEHEMAREREERB LI Z2RER
1TFEBABRERERABLESENE S
BEBAERLAD(EBEE) ZBRAER -
R BEFEEREENS —KAANRKRM
EREBBERZHERAB(BRAN]) £
e 7E1988 2 1080F HifE - LB 1T 7 — &
SrEMANBETE > R1989F ERK L EE
BEFBREBAERAB(EEEHERE] K
[ARDR] (B KER - 00480) » Wk BEE 2
FEMIZBRAF -

EAAXBRAKERS PR A KEM
REZTEED BRUWEEREKRE Y
XEE EEERMREAEE BERFRRE
R EEMLEERR -

ERAXEREEARDT 20192020 FH]H 5



SIGNATURE

PROJECTS
EXTEE

HONG KONG &% - DISCOVERY BAY i1 5%

APPROX. TOTAL GFA AHEEEY

11,000,000 sq. ft.

Located on Lantau Island, Discovery Bay is the Group’s flagship project comprising
garden houses, low-, mid- and high-rise developments, a 27-hole golf course, a
marina, two recreation clubs, a manmade beach, a resort hotel, two shopping malls
and a number of international schools.

ARELNRRESEENERER - BECEMNE - K -+ SEDE  27F
BRRIKS - BRE - MEGH - AEDE  EREE - WERBYES REBHEBRER

2 -

HONG KONG &7 - CDW BUILDING F 3 X B

APPROX. TOTAL GFA AEHEEELN

950,000 sq. ft.

CDW Building is a commercial complex comprising a shopping mall named 82 and an office
tower located in the heart of Tsuen Wan. The building is conveniently linked to the Tsuen
Wan MTR Station via an air-conditioned walkway and is connected with other parts of the
territory by a well-established transportation network.
RARERYENZETHONGEEERT - RIERRKFHEY T O RMNE - W3
BEEFITARBEELEME - TBRBTE - WE\ZE -

HONG KONG &% - LA CRESTA /= %7

APPROX. TOTAL GFA ZZ2HEEX

135,000 sq. ft.

Located in the traditional prestigious and high-end residential area of Kau To, Sha
Tin, this development provides houses and low-density residential tower units.
BT ARZZHEFERETERDPENAMN - BFEMRFEEEMHERK -

MAINLAND CHINA # B 3t - SHANGHAI 3% - HKRI TAIKOO HUI B3 X

APPROX. TOTAL GFA £HEEL

3,500,000 sq. ft.

Located in Jing’an District, Shanghai, HKRI Taikoo Hui is a world class mixed-use
development comprising a prime retail centre, two premium Grade-A office towers, two
boutique hotels, one serviced apartment building, a number of event venues and the
Cha House, a revitalised historic building.

R EESTHZENEENTDESERANGEERER  EHeE—EaREDRS
MERSEREBAE  MRREFDAE - —EBERARE - ZETRANNZIEE
EENSH - AR BB FRELBEECMKNERE o
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W JapanB7#
B China FEIRH

W Hong Kong &%

B Thailand =&

MAINLAND CHINA # El itz - JIAXING 5 & - RIVIERA ONE &8 B X R [E &

APPROX. TOTAL GFA #2EEREL
1,100,000 sq. ft.

Riviera One is a prime residential project in Jiaxing. This luxurious project provides 702
low-rise and high-rise apartment units.
EEEXBEERFEMANELERETEIEE - RE7T02EEE R B AT EAL

MAINLAND CHINA B ith - JIAXING 3= & - MANSION ONE Z 8 5 3 5<% B

APPROX. TOTAL GFA #EEELN

355,000 sq. ft.

Mansion One, located in the Jiaxing Economic and Technological Development Zone, is
a prestige residential project which provides 198 mid-rise apartment units.
ERRERZERVEREEERNHERNSZEETER  RE16ETER
BB -

MAINLAND CHINA F Bl uits - HANGZHOU #u - OASIS ONE & & S % 7 &

APPROX. TOTAL GFA # & EEELN

663,000 sq. ft.

Situated in Zhejiang Hangzhou Future Sci-Tech City and adjacent to Xixi National
Wetland Park, Oasis One is a low-density residential project providing around 400 units,
including low-rise apartments and villas.

EBEERBCEAINMNARREHIS - BEBFEZRR AR - AEEEEEER -
RELAV4001EIEE A BB R FIE o

THAILAND 2% - BANGKOK £# - THE SUKHOTHAI BANGKOK

NO. OF ROOMS EHE# H APPROX. TOTAL GFA &2 HEBEXN

210 435,000 sq. ft.

The Sukhothai Bangkok is a world-renowned and award-winning hotel in Central
Bangkok, highly regarded by international travellers for its unparalleled services and
facilities.

LA EATIH L E The Sukhothai Bangkok th RAIH ~ MEHEMm L - EEBH MRS KR
BRRPIREHS

FREXEREEBRAT 2019/2020 FHK 7



OF THE YEAR
FEAERE

APRIL @@ A 2019 AUGUST /\ A 2019

P The Group acquired an en bloc 16-storey
residential building, Wellgan Villa in Kowloon
Tong, at a consideration of HK$760 million
EEU76EETRBAERE —EI6ESH
FEXE-EHEE

MAY £ A 2019

P Poggibonsi, a luxurious residential project in
Discovery Bay, unveiled on-site show flats
MESREXTEHAREHMREREN

e i
P |
p Discovery Bay Marina Club was rebranded
as Lantau Yacht Club
161 52 7 %% B & 7+ 4% B Lantau Yacht Club
(BRI LEES)

SEPTEMBER 71 A 2019

JUNE < A 2019
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P The latest garden house project in Discovery
Bay was named IL PICCO

P The Group received the “Asia Property
Awards - Best Developer (Hong Kong)” by
PropertyGuru
£ B ¥ PropertyGuru 58 2 [ Asia Property
Awards — Best Developer (Hong Kong) |

e P—

P The Group was presented with “Green
Office and Eco-Healthy Workplace Labels”
in Green Office and Eco-Healthy Awards
Labelling Scheme
SEERERAZERBHIAPEER £
MAZEIRIMEETEBIER

\o A

P The Group was presented with the “15 Years
Plus Caring Company” Logo by The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service
SEEERBLSREHSEZ15FPlus
(BRARBEIER

P The Group was awarded The Hong Kong N
Outstanding Corporate Citizenship Logo by Eﬁﬁ%ﬁ'tﬁ
Hong Kong Productivity Council
SEEEBLEENRERAREBALD
XDNREFER

ERAXEAREBER2AT 20192020 F3] 9



CHAIRMAN’S

STATEMENT
EREEHE

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson

Chairman

It gives me great pleasure to present our annual report for the year
2019/2020 (the “year”) to our shareholders. This report covers
results for HKR International Limited (“HKRI” or the “Company”), as
well as its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group’s turnover for the financial year ended 31 March 2020
was HK$4,696.5 million, representing an increase of 22.2% against
last year’'s HK$3,844.0 million. Profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders for the year under review is HK$1,624.6 million,
representing a decrease of 26.4% compared with HK$2,206.9 million
in 2018/2019. Basic earnings per share were HK109.4 cents,
in comparison to HK148.6 cents last year. As at 31 March
2020, the net asset value attributable to the Company’s
shareholders is HK$22,067.4 million (HK$14.9 per share),
compared with last year's HK$21,300.4 milion (HK$14.3 per
share).

The Board of Directors has recommended a final dividend
of HK7 cents per share for the year. This, alongside the interim
dividend of HK5 cents per share, brings the total dividend amount
to HK12 cents per share for the year. In financial year 2018/2019, a
total dividend of HK10 cents per share was paid to shareholders.

10 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020

AAMAMBRIBSBEREXZBBREBER
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Al (& E])2019/2020F E ([ R FE )
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

2019/2020 was an eventful year. Globally, the Sino-US trade war
and Brexit created enormous uncertainties. The outbreak of
CQOVID-19, the worldwide economic ‘shutdown’ and the plunge in
consumer confidence that followed, have left many countries
struggling. The IMF predicts at least a 3% contraction in the global
economy, and many countries will fall into recession in the coming
months.

The United States recorded a drop in GDP of 4.8% in the first
quarter of 2020, while its unemployment rate also showed a post-
war high of 14.7% in April. In response to this pandemic, the
massive expansion of the US’s quantitative easing programme will
likely weaken the US dollar. There is also a growing possibility that
the US will enter a recession as the situation persists, which will no
doubt have a huge impact on economic performance and
consumer sentiment around the world.

The Group’s two key markets, mainland China and Hong Kong,
have also been seriously hit by this pandemic. Fortunately, whilst its
GDP suffered a loss of 6.8% in the first quarter, mainland China’s
containment of the outbreak is encouraging, and hopes are high
that it will soon be on the road to recovery. Back in Hong Kong,
depressed by the challenging macroeconomic as well as political
and social issues, the city’s economy is expected to remain weak,
and the rate of unemployment is on the rise, dampening home-
buying confidence.

In face of these challenges, the Group continued to operate in a
cautious manner. We immediately adjusted the priorities of some
businesses, reviewed our operational needs and investment
approach, and executed prudent cost containment measures to
ensure a healthy liquidity. We are glad to report that despite our
exposure to these unfavourable conditions, our operations
remained largely at normal levels during the year, and our revenue
from operations and cashflow remained stable.

OUTLOOK

We are fortunate that the Group has always pursued a long-term
strategic approach for our core business in real estate development
and investment. Our focuses on building high-quality properties,
and markets that offer enduring underlying value, strengthen our
ability to weather short-term external shocks.

S EP7
2019/2020F £ * IR BE RS I1H 0 LI &
FE2Y hEZE BN ABEEMS BRI S
B - EEFABEBRRSEREE &
BEIREE BBEELBZTE 2%
BERmMBEERNER - AR EBESHLETE
Al 2EREEBELEGHEI%  TLPRARER
KKRBABARR -

XBESFEFTENBEANLERE T K48%
ARMAEXREAZ_BURNI S E 5
14.7% > RENRREE  XBEAEBRERAEL
RRRE AREEHMETRE- WIBRE
B XBEBABAREBARE H2REHE
RRLHEEELERERS —ATE-

RENSCEENMELIENS — h AR R
EE—XHER -EM BEAMWE—FE
WEB A EERETK6.8%  EBEEERFEH
2R REMTSHEESEH -FEITE X
Bk ZBEERRENEMBOA ML & E M
FE RUANELCHERSHERS MAE
KRB LT TEITEEZALTATHEL -

HHESERH SEEBRTEENLEER
Al- MENKFHELDEENERX BT
LEFTERRENH UEBEENKRAE
B UABRESREORBDESD - 4HE
XEATHRFZRZE  RANEHLERK
FEAARHARLERE ITREFERENEER
ARRBER -

RE
SE-BENRERBELFHNEZRIERE
X% - BHEZEEME UEZEZERAS
K ABEEEBENMS I —REEEEHR
NEENERBRAERNENETE -

TBIKERRERRAT 20192020 £/ {1



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

HKRI Taikoo Hui S 3 X & E

There has been an increasing desire to have a healthier and
distinctive living lifestyle among mainland China consumers,
especially after the outbreak of COVID-19. As a long-term leader of
an environment-first and quality-of-life led developmental approach,
this trend plays naturally to the Company’s advantage. Our success
in residential and commercial projects in the Yangtze River Delta
speaks to that. We will continue with our proven successful
approach, and keep looking for opportunities to expand our land
base in some regions in mainland China.

In Hong Kong, consumer sentiment may not recover overnight, but
the Hong Kong Government’s relaxation of certain mortgage
financing requirements gave a welcome boost to the city’s sluggish
market. Together with the continued shortage of housing supply
and a low interest rate environment, we do not anticipate a free fall
in the property market. Number of transactions and price will
gradually become stable. The Group shall carry on with the existing
luxurious residential projects in Discovery Bay and the rest of Hong
Kong. The revitalisation of West Gate Tower from an industrial
property to a commercial one will enhance the value of our
investment properties and bring higher rental incomes in the long
run.

Heightened risks brought by the coronavirus threaten Thailand’s
and Japan’s economies, property markets and tourism industries.
While supportive policies and fiscal measures from these
governments are expected, it is likely that the instability and
uncertainty will have a lingering impact throughout 2020. We
remain cautious, and will adopt a prudent and flexible approach in
these two countries.

12 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020
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The Sukhothai Bangkok

- ] Bl /4 '
: /

Riviera One &8 E¥Ix[E &

APPRECIATION 2t

| would like to express my gratitude to our Board of Directors, HAA#EHHMEZ @R U S 282 HEW
whose leadership and insight have skilfully guided the Group 4B IR SERBHEE LEEEER
through difficult times, and helped us to continue to reach key ER&EFHY - BB RMEE TR B E: REIR
targets. | am also deeply grateful for the efforts of the Group’s B EBEETHEBLE TN EME - EE
management and staff. This year has brought with it challenges ZAFEE@EAIIARAKE KE LK IR -

and adverse working conditions never faced before, and their I {fI{IRB LB FEHEENEE BFE
dedication, professionalism, flexibility and spirit of community have B EBEEH e EH SEFEUNEBEE
been instrumental in ensuring that the Group can sail through the  2£fd - &% - KA RSB ABERHE  MANE
turbulent wave of uncertainty. Lastly, | would like to thank all Hi% i EHERMFKAEEEFTLENRAK
stakeholders for your long-standing support, which gives us the &/ -

motivation to be stronger and better.

prunoeAA—— = 4—@‘/{2\

CHA Mou Sing Payson ey
Chairman TR
Hong Kong, 17 June 2020 2020F6 A17TB R ES
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DIRECTOR’S OPERATIONS REVIEW
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Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

BERERESHEE
BN EE

We are living in challenging times. Global growth this year recorded R Z i 1F L B B IR £ 5 o NFE 2 K& E
its weakest pace in a decade. Rising trade barriers, further EBREI+FHE B FESER B HHER
uncertainties in trade policy and geopolitical tensions continued to  BA TR MA B R FP Bk #8
weigh on global business sentiment and activity. China's economic  # Z22 R EE EFH LA S - FH AL EILE K
growth hit its slowest rate in 29 years. The extended slowdown in K ZE29F K H 1K KR EHFENES HE KL
the Chinese economy has prompted a plunge in spending and KEMEBEIH HALCHEEBRIER
investment. Meanwhile, back in Hong Kong, business sentiment ZREBL&E IR 240 TN H b AR #h 7t & =5 4
was not immune to the macroeconomic environment, and was, at g2 o

the same time, affected by other local social issues.

These factors aside, the COVID-19 outbreak has probably caused Ept A - A BRESEITE LT E A

the severest impact, not only on our economies, but also onthe R HZAFE TEFEZBELE FEHE
way we do business, and on our way of life. THEMOEEFXNMEFTEE -
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Some of our businesses were heavily curtailed due to this epidemic
outbreak. Our operations in mainland China were suspended for a
period of time due to the nationwide lockdown, whilst our frontline
teams in Hong Kong and other parts of the region gave their best
efforts to keep operations running as normal. In the face of such an
unforeseen and unprecedented pandemic, the Group’s
management team and staff truly distinguished themselves,
responding collectively with speed, understanding and care. A
dedicated task force was set up to handle operational crisis, and
was immediately integrated into all of our business units, to ensure
a smooth and efficient coordination of resources and approach.
This has included the active management of different levels of
responsive measures, flexible deployment in manpower, clear
communications with stakeholders, and other regulatory
compliance, in accordance with the emerging conditions and
guidelines from the authorities.

All these challenges called for us to stay true to the Group’s intrinsic
principles. Our approach has always been to invest in properties
that are known for their quality and long-term value appreciation.

It is with these principles and unwavering determination that we
were able to achieve considerable milestones this year. We
celebrated the Group’s 30" listing anniversary on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, signifying our long-term
commitment to the community. New residential and commercial
additions, and community facilities in Discovery Bay were launched
to further enhance the development’s all-round experience.

Our focus in recent years on expanding our portfolio continued to
generate fruitful results. The two new projects in Jiaxing, Mansion
One and Creekside One, will help extend our footprint in a region of
China that is set to be one of the country’s key drivers of growth in
the coming decades. These two projects also won a number of
awards prior to their official launch, in recognition of our efforts in
providing luxurious and high-quality residence. During the vyear,
driven by higher contributions from property development and
investment segments, the Group’s underlying profits excluding net
unrealised gains in fair value of investment properties reached
HK$1,142.1 million, compared to HK$775.7 million last year.
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Discovery Bay fii=

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT

The Group’s turnover from property development and investment
for the year (including the proportionate share of joint ventures and
associates of HK$1,357 milion (2019: HK$1,598 million)) was
HK$5,108 million (2019: HK$4,355 million). The Group’s
contribution from property development and investment for the year
(including the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates
of HK$343 million (2019: HK$466 milion)) was HK$1,306 million
(2019: HK$1,081 million).

The Group’s property development and investment businesses
have, at times, been subjected to economic pressures and market
downturns. The current crisis brought on by the global outbreak of
COVID-19 certainly ranks among the most difficult. The lockdown
measures around the world have naturally eaten into consumer
confidence, caused disruptions to production lines and rattled
stock markets. The long-term implications are still to be determined.
We see some encouragement in the initial responses from
governments around the world, including the US Federal Reserve’s
interest rate cuts and the deployment of various stimulus packages.

HONG KONG — PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Discovery Bay remains at the forefront of the Group’s development
portfolio. During the year, the Group continuously sought for ways
to improve and expand upon the development’s already world-
class facilities.
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The Group was delighted to have Poggibonsi, the latest residential
development in Discovery Bay North, launched for sale in early
2019. Inspired by the rolling hills of Tuscany, the project combines
the Group’s signature dedication to luxury with a subtle old-world
charm. The project comprises 196 units, in three mid-rise blocks,
with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately
187,000 square feet. As of 31 March 2020, 87 units were sold.

IL PICCO, located in the upland areas of Discovery Bay, is the
Group’s latest garden house residential development. The project
enjoys scenic view of the reservoir while overlooking Tai Pak Bay.
IL PICCO comprises 21 detached garden houses with a total GFA of
approximately 43,000 square feet. As of 31 March 2020, 1 unit was
sold.

Further residential development projects in this unique community
are currently under negotiation with the Government. The Group
holds a 50% interest in the Discovery Bay development.

The Group’s luxurious residential property La Cresta, a 50:50
partnership with Nan Fung Development Limited, has recorded
excellent sales figures through the year. As of 31 March 2020, 52
of the 61 units were sold and the revenue from 14 units was
recognised upon transfer of ownerships during the year.
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Moving across the city, main contract works are well underway for
another premium low-density development in Tai Po. The site
enjoys panoramic views of Tolo Harbour and Plover Cove
Reservoir. This project, a 40:60 joint venture with Hysan
Development Company Limited, is scheduled to be launched in
2021.

HONG KONG — PROPERTY INVESTMENT

Retail has been one of the hardest hit business sectors during the
past year. The Group is acutely aware of the struggles the industry
is having to bear. As such, it has been in active conversation with
different commercial tenants to provide relief measures for those
most in need, on a case-by-case basis.

The new DB Plaza extension, scheduled for completion in second
quarter of 2020, will boast an array of new dining and leisure
venues, designed to enhance the total experience for residents and
visitors alike. This new extension houses Hong Kong’s largest ice-
skating rink, providing an international-standard venue for leisure
skating, as well as professional ice sports events, training and
competitions.

The existing DB Plaza and DB North Plaza have achieved
occupancy rates of 79% and 95% respectively, as of 31 March
2020. Their continued success in bringing in stable rental revenues
is vital to the Discovery Bay operation.
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The Group holds a 50% interest in the property investment projects
in Discovery Bay.

The Group’s investment has found success elsewhere in Hong
Kong too, notably at 8%2 — the retail podium of CDW Building in
Tsuen Wan. It has reached an occupancy rate of 100% as of 31
March 2020. Over the years, the mall has built up a reputation as a
must-visit destination for families and shoppers alike in the district.
The CDW building as a whole is not far behind, with its average
occupancy rate at 96% during the year, and it continues to be
home to a wide range of multinational corporations and government
departments.

At 2GETHER in Tuen Mun, the commercial podium achieved an
impressive full lease tenancy, while West Gate Tower, which will
soon be converted to a commercial block, and Tuen Mun Central
Square Public Car Park both continued to bring stable rental
income for the Group.

In August 2019, the Group acquired Wellgan Villa, a 16-storey
residential building in Kowloon Tong, to strengthen its property
investment portfolio. The 24-unit building is nestled right in the
centre of an enviable school net and offers a solid addition to the
Group’s residential offering. As of 31 March 2020, Wellgan Vila
achieved 81% occupancy rate and generated stable rental income.
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Mansion One HEBE ¥ X R E

MAINLAND CHINA — PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

In the first quarter of 2020, the property market in mainland China,
along with many other industries, suffered a major setback due to
the outbreak of COVID-19, after previously posting positive figures
for three consecutive quarters. The Group is, as of mid-March, glad
1o see signs of recovery, notably in the Yangtze River Delta, an area
that has for some time been one of the Group’s core investment
focuses.

City One, the Group’s first project in Jiaxing, Zhejiang Province,
achieved a good sales performance, with 99.7% of its
approximately 580 apartment units already taken up and 20 villas
sold, as of 31 March 2020.

Adjacent to City One, Riviera One has proved to be one of the most
successful developments the Group has ever built in mainland
China. As of 31 March 2020, all of the 702 low- and high-rise
apartments were nearly sold out. Of these, revenue from 680 sold
units was realised upon completion and transfer of ownerships
during the year.

Two new projects were unveiled to the market during the year,
namely Creekside One and Mansion One. Both developments wiill
offer luxurious and premium residential accommodations.
Construction works of both projects are slated for completion by
first half of 2021.

20 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020

G ?

PERE—YERRE

FEAMYETSEEE = AT EHRSER
K& R2020F £ —FERREEHATM B
SREMEXER -BEWOL  HMAMASE
AmER=_AHACE2ERTR HHEE
BEBUARNZLORERET =AM -

EBURATTITERETNEEER — &8
FlEmME S EmERENINEEE -8E
20203 H31H ' JHEB #9580 A B EAMF A
99.7% A M 201E RIEEE & H -

ERHEERENMELHEEMNERE A&
BEFEAMGEKIINEREE 2 — - HE
20203 A31H 702K E K & [E A & B
BT 280H5 - & P680MEE B a A
ERAFERIERMEBRIERRBAR-

BN A FEE=EMBEHTIMERER —
EFEENAEREFEERRE - WA
REE#HRESHIZEET HBAREIR
TEERHE R 2021 F ¥ FHR T »



Creekside One, with a total GFA of 214,000 square feet, comprises
mid-rise apartments and villas. Mansion One, located in the Jiaxing
Economic and Technological Development Zone, is a premium
residential project of mid-rise apartments with a total GFA of
approximately 355,000 square feet.

Another land plot in Nanhu New District will be developed into a
deluxe residential project with high-rise apartments and villas. Due
to the COVID-19 outbreak, commencement of foundation works
was inevitably deferred, but the overall project completion is still
expected by 2023.

In Hangzhou, Oasis One, located in the metropolis’s Zhejiang
Hangzhou Future Sci-Tech City, was completed and had its
occupation permit granted in February 2019. All units were nearly
sold out as of 31 March 2020 and revenue from 218 units was
realised upon completion and transfer of ownerships during the
year.

Elite House is a 30-storey residential building located in Changning
District, Shanghai. With a total GFA of approximately 234,000
square feet, it offers 120 newly refurbished residential units in the
heart of the city. As of 31 March 2020, 72 units were sold and the
revenue of 21 sold units was realised upon transfer of ownerships
during the year.
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HKRI Taikoo Hui S22 KX & E

MAINLAND CHINA — PROPERTY INVESTMENT

In Shanghai, HKRI Taikoo Hui (“HTH”) enjoys an unrivalled location
and footprint, and remains one of the city’s most prestigious and
sought-after destinations. It offers an unbeatable combination of
commercial and retail elements and stands as the city’s leading
mixed-used property. The two office towers, HKRI Centres One
and Two, which house many global conglomerates and large local
companies, achieved a 98% commitment rate as of 31 March
2020.

HTH’s success was in no way limited to its office portfolio. Indeed,
the most impressive headlines were reserved for its retail mall,
which recorded its highest ever traffic and sales turnover in
December 2019.

Traffic and sales figures have been rising steadily since the mall
opened, and retail turnover increased 73% in 2019 year-on-year.
This upward trend continued into January 2020, and was only
halted by the outbreak of COVID-19 at the end of that month. The
Group foresees the outbreak would affect the performance of
various units of HTH in the short-term, but remains confident in its
ability to continue its results in the coming years.
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The broad family of businesses at the HTH also include three
hotels/service apartments, namely The Sukhothai Shanghai
(operated by Beaufort Hotels Limited, a subsidiary of the Company),
The Middle House and The Middle House Residences (operated by
Swire Hotels). To-date, they have all established themselves as
three of Shanghai’s most desirable destinations.

The Group has a 50% interest in HTH.

The Exchange, the Group’s 15%-owned investment property in
Tianjin, has a total GFA of over 1.6 million square feet. During the
year, the retail mall, Heping Joy City, and the two office towers
maintained an average occupancy rate of 88% and 86%
respectively, generating stable rental income. Joyer Apt., converted
from the previous Hotel Nikko Tianjin, had its grand opening
ceremony in October 2019.

THAILAND — PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Thailand continues to grow into a key pillar of the Group’s property
portfolio. Building on the formidable success of The Sukhothai
Residences, the Group is further consolidating its growing foothold
in the country, predominately in Bangkok. In view of the current
market conditions, the development programme of the Rama 3
Road project in Bangkok has been adjusted.
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The Group is holding other projects in Bangkok, namely the
Ramintra Road project in the Khannayao District, with an area of
approximately 610,000 square feet; and the land at Wireless Road,
covering a site area of approximately 136,000 square feet, in which
the Group holds a 49% interest.

JAPAN — PROPERTY INVESTMENT AND
DEVELOPMENT

The Group maintains a strategic and steady presence in the Tokyo
property market, and our five investment properties all saw
excellent leasing performances, with occupancy ranging from 92%
to 100% as at 31 March 2020. They are Horizon Place Akasaka, a
high-rise residential block; Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku, a centrally
located office building; Souei Park Harajuku, an en bloc residential
apartment building in Shibuya-ku; Veneo Minami-Azabu, an en bloc
residential apartment building in Minato-ku; and Haluwa Shibakoen,
a 15-storey residential building in Minato-ku. Together with the
Group’s residential plots in the popular ski resort of Niseko, they
provide the Group with effective long-term investment opportunities
in the Japanese market.
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SERVICES PROVIDED

A continuous process of upgrading the Group’s services has long
been central to its mission. The newly rebuilt DB Plaza Bus
Terminus has been in operation since April 2019. It boasts a
revamped, more spacious layout, enhanced safety designs and
expanded areas of greenery.

The ridership of both ferries and buses have been adversely
affected by the city’s social issues and the outbreak of COVID-19.
Unavoidable high maintenance costs and a shortage of skilled staff
remained as key operational concerns, and had imposed undue
pressure on the daily operations of our transport services. The
Group hopes the financial burden will be alleviated by the support
from the Government’s Anti-epidemic Fund and the Special Helping
Measures applicable to our ferry services in the near future.

As always, the Group places environmental sustainability at the
centre of its business practice, and as our latest measure, all new
buses to be deployed are required to meet the Euro VI standards.

The Group’s property management services in Discovery Bay, and
elsewhere in Hong Kong, continued to perform to the highest
standards despite considerable challenges resulted from the social
unrest and the outbreak of COVID-19.

The Group holds a 50% interest in the Discovery Bay service
providers.

DB Plaza Bus Terminus
’h Eigaill‘ll.l\ E

BER%

BERARKEEZEEZZSEE " EBEUXRHEE
Fwm-NEENZFRRESELIRLUER
2019F 4 AL ARYG  HEEZMERRTRE &
R EALTE  WHRZIHE -

AEHEEMHRHETREESEEHER
RETREEKNARTZE - 5/ aDOR
BRAR URFARETERNDAZTEERHK
B O UTAXBRENBELESRNER
h-SEHPE BABELENHEREES R
i PE B AR 75 B9 %5 Bl 15 BY 48 e 1 B B AL S
BB 5

o

BRENAREER BESBEKEENE
BB EEEREMENBANE
j:i/j//\?z.‘fl/:l\ o DIL/\HH$T/E °

MAEELEEHURFEERESRIER
TRNEBUE KFERBSEUREER
BN DEEERBDARBTUARSRELE
B

o 45 5 140 2 % TR 7 4 0 P 50% 25

EREXEREEERAR 20192020 R 25



MANAGING DIRECTOR’S OPERATIONS REVIEW

T AR TE IR O

Club Siena /&% RS Fr

Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong
ERWMSEHE

HOSPITALITY

Hospitality has been one of the hardest hit businesses within the
Group due to the epidemic. The hospitality units immediately
reconfigured their business models, and carried out cost-reduction
measures to adapt to current and future tourism demands, and to
weather these temporary adverse conditions. The Group’s hotels
and clubs are actively preparing for post-pandemic conditions,
drawing up strong and effective marketing campaigns for both local
and overseas markets. The Group is making sure that once global
travel rebounds, its hospitality businesses are primed to take full
advantage of the renewed demand.

HONG KONG

Room occupancy at the Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong was
naturally down, with an expected drop in both the number of leisure
and business guests. However, the hotel and its staff shook off
those adversities to win several accolades, including Expat Living
Readers’ Choice Awards 2020 — Best Beachfront Hotel in Hong
Kong (Silver Winner) and 2019 Best Resort Hotel by Ctrip.com.

The opening of Lantau Yacht Club is scheduled to go ahead as
planned in the fourth quarter of 2020. The Company stands by its
long-term projections about the yachting industry in Hong Kong
and the wider Asia Pacific region.
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The Sukhothai Bangkok

The Discovery Bay Golf Club also continued with its enhancement
works.

The Group holds a 50% interest in the Discovery Bay hospitality
businesses.

THAILAND

The Sukhothai Bangkok was already one of the city’s leading luxury
hotels, even before the renovation works that were completed in
January 2020. The Main Wing of the hotel had 65 rooms and suites
upgraded and its health club was given an invigorating facelift. La
Scala remains a star in the city’s renowned fine-dining firmament,
retaining its Three Forks designation from Gambero Rosso, and
was impressively ranked 18" on the Best Italian Restaurants in the
World list. Colonnade, once again, received the Best Sunday
Brunch Award in Bangkok.

MAINLAND CHINA

The Sukhothai hotel brand is fast becoming a symbol in hospitality
excellence. Like its sister hotel in Bangkok, The Sukhothai Shanghai
is already being considered as one of the most sought-after
destinations in the city. Its unique design, prime location and
meticulous level of service have all been instrumental in the hotel’s
winning of several prestigious awards and accolades, in particular a
spot on China Top 10 Hotels of The Gold List 2019 by Condé Nast
Traveler China.
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HEALTHCARE

The Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, GenRx Holdings Limited
(“GenRx”"), operates a comprehensive healthcare service networks
in Hong Kong and Macau. It covers chronic disease management
and integrated medical centres (Qualigenics Medical), Chinese
medicine centres (Discovery TCM Centre), dental clinics (Health & Care
Dental Clinic — 57%-owned) and medical diagnostic centres (AmMed
Medical Diagnostic Center). Humphrey & Partners Medical Services
Limited, which is also under the GenRx umbrella, operates a
medical network of over 250 affiliated clinics providing general
practitioners, specialists and physiotherapy services.

Healthcare businesses, especially dental and imaging units, have
suffered due to the outbreak of COVID-19, as all non-essential
medical treatments had to be postponed or rescheduled, starting
from the beginning of 2020.

The Group disposed of its medical operations in the Philippines in

January 2020, allowing the Group to consolidate its resources in
Hong Kong for a profitable return.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (“CSR”)

As a leading figure in the corporate community, the Group has
always held to a clear vision of working to create a cohesive,
respectful and healthy society. During 2019/2020, the Group
demonstrated strengths in this aspect, connecting with and
supporting all of its stakeholders to get through these difficult times.
By pooling our resources, we were able to both prioritise personal
health and safety, and secure the unified goal of sustainable growth
in our community.

We are proud of the sustainability progress we achieved this year.
A formal Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Committee, chaired by an Executive Director of the Group and
consisting of respective department heads of different core
functions, was established in September 2019 to steer the
management approach of ESG issues and integrate relevant
considerations into our decision-making processes. Responding to
the global call of sustainable development, the Group has identified
six areas in the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals that
are most relevant to our business, around which the Group will
build our sustainable development agenda in the coming years.
Further information about our enhancements on ESG reporting and
stakeholder engagement methods are illustrated in our fifth
standalone ESG report. Interested stakeholders may refer to our
online ESG Report for more details.
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In recognition of its commitment to corporate social responsibilities,
the Group was honoured with numerous awards and accolades in
the areas of environmental protection, labour practices, product
and services excellence, and community contribution. During the
year, we received the “15 Years Plus Caring Company” Logo from
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service, as well as the Silver
Award for Volunteer Service from Social Welfare Department.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

We care deeply about helping those in need, supporting civic
society through the development of arts and talents of the next
generation, and promoting harmony in every community we serve.
The Group has embraced a brand-new CSR theme, “All-in”, to
encourage our community to participate in making an impact. The
“All-in” initiatives implemented during the year engaged
underprivileged children, preserved local culture and heritage, and
fostered environmental awareness. Unfortunately, due to the
COVID-19 outbreak, some of the “All-in” events were postponed,
but the “All-in” initiatives will be continued in the coming year, to
provide tangible support for a broader spectrum of people in need.

The Group has been working with NGOs and community
partners to initiate charity and community programmes in Hong
Kong, mainland China and Thailand. A new CSR programme
“HKRI e Design with Love” has been launched in partnership
with the China Social Welfare Foundation to upgrade and
refurbish a school that admits children of migrant workers. With
this initiative, we aim to build a more comfortable learning
environment for the betterment of future generations.
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Maintaining its focus on cultivating arts, and creating opportunities
for young and new talents, the Group continued to sponsor art
events such as the Hong Kong Arts Festival, and support local arts
and traditions. We jointly organised a design workshop and
competition in mainland China with East China Normal University to
design an iconic clock tower in HTH, spurring creativity among
young designers.

In addition, the Group was proud to have provided a wide range
of recreational and charitable community events through
Love.Together@DB and Bangkok Uncovered Plus+, engaging its
employees, customers, residents and their family members to
contribute their time and efforts in making the community a better
place to live.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has long recognised the value of environmental
protection and strived to be a role model in sustainable city
development. From business operations to products and services
management, we integrate eco-friendly concepts and advocate
green technology advancements to lower our carbon footprint and
enhance climate resilience. Our green commitments are fully
reflected in our property development business, as we encourage
all projects to incorporate green design features and pursue green
building standards. The new extension of DB Plaza and Riviera One
have adopted a number of energy and resources efficiency
measures to reduce the environmental impact. In addition, the
“Sponge City” concept deployed in some of our projects in
mainland China has proved our determination and capability in
managing climate-related risks such as stormwater runoff and
reducing urban heat island effects.
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Following the internal guidelines regarding energy, emissions, water
and waste management, the Group expanded its efforts toward
sustainability. Throughout the year, the electricity consumption,
water usage and waste generation have been closely monitored
and we are on track to set up quantitative reduction targets in the
coming year to further enhance our environmental performance.
With the aim of promoting eco-consciousness and low-carbon
lifestyles in the communities we operate, we continued to organise
various green activities, such as the family farm, eco-tours, and a
recycling day in Discovery Bay.

By operating responsibly, in 2019/2020, our Hong Kong operations
have recorded a decrease in electricity consumption by 9.6% as
compared with 2018/2019, and the water consumption intensity
for all operations declined by 25.6%. We are also encouraged by
our recycling initiatives with 98% of our food waste at hospitality
operation being recycled during the year. Our hospitality operation
strives to further reduce waste by adopting a series of green
approaches, including the use of biodegradable or wooden
amenities and cutleries instead of plastic.

32 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020

BB EARER HHNE BKRKREDE
EBERANEES  ARAKERRI(E B
—FRABRMFORARRR  RARAFER
DERAEE RAKEREDE AKRR
A&l RRFE RSB IR ES B AR BT
E2EMELBHEREREZNEREETS
A VHEEWMSEERRERR BRE
KB H ERRIES

MR2019/2020F E - AU BEEN X E
i BB EKKNAEE82018/2019F EF
06%  EEEEAKEREATHK25.6%
19 # 17 B9 B I8 o - R AR F OB JE %75 B &
Bl RIZEIB%  NES ATE - BEEBKRA
AR ARARLKEEARBEBR  E— X
JIRIRIEEB BIE — TR EY -



HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2020, the Group had a total of 1,719 employees.
We place a strong emphasis on employee well-being, by creating a
respectful, safe and compassionate working environment that our
people are proud to be a part of. We offer a competitive
remuneration package with medical coverage, which is constantly
reviewed to ensure it is on par with industry standards. The “PRIPDE
Wellness” programme featured sporty, entertaining and fun events
that further complemented employee benefits to support the
physical and mental health of all staff. Parties were held in Hong
Kong, mainland China and Thailand to celebrate with our staff the
Company’s 30" anniversary of listing. During the year, we focused
on growing human capital by leveraging online platforms to achieve
the purpose of self-education and cultivating all-round development
for our staff by organising a series of training workshop.

The Group’s safety-first culture, regular inspections, safety training,
and monitoring activities all help protect our employees against
safety hazards at work. We take pride in maintaining a zero
workplace fatality record over the years. In addition, a holistic
approach has been taken to alleviate potential health threats
associated with COVID-19 at the workplace. We integrated
sufficient senior management oversight, effective communication,
contingency mechanisms and precautionary measures to minimise
the risks posed to our employees. Our measures included remote
office and flexible working hours arrangements, emergency
hotlines, intensive cleaning and disinfection work, and the utilisation
of online communication platforms and robots to prevent the
spread of virus and to lower the risk of our employees.
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CUSTOMERS

The quality and safety of products and services are of vital
importance to HKRI. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, all our
business units immediately strengthened their preventive measures
to better protect our customers. These measures include increasing
the frequency of cleansing and disinfection, deploying
photocatalytic long-acting disinfectant spray, cancelling events to
avoid crowd gathering, assisting residents who were subjected to
home quarantine, and complying fully with applicable health
regulations. Relief measures were also offered on a case-by-case
basis to help tenants in need.

The Group has developed a set of quality assurance processes
across our diverse businesses to ensure compliance with applicable
regulations and market standards. For example, in the hospitality
segment, third parties are constantly engaged to conduct quality
examinations on food safety and hygiene. In addition, our various
customer engagement channels allow the Group to gather
customer feedback to ensure continued improvements and to
properly handle any complaints.
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SUPPLIERS

Our commitment to sustainability extends beyond our own
operations, addressing supply chain risk in quality, compliance and
environmental and health areas. We aim to collaborate with
environmental and socially conscientious suppliers, to build a
responsible supply chain. We have developed a new set of Supplier
Codes of Conduct this year, laying out our expectations for
suppliers in terms of business dealings, labour and human rights,
and environmental performance. Our suppliers are selected and
engaged in an open, fair and impartial basis. Scoring criteria have
been developed to assess the sustainability performance of our
suppliers, and we continue to provide incentives for them to
improve, and screen out disqualified suppliers.

The Group advocates green procurement and encourages the use
of non-toxic and recyclable materials. We also support local
sourcing to reduce carbon emissions generated from long-haul
transportation, and we rigorously apply the principles of responsible
procurement to drive positive change in the industry.
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OUTLOOK

The Group’s key markets of mainland China, Hong Kong and
Thailand are, unsurprisingly, going to be under severe economic
strain in the coming year. The extent will very much depend on the
development and the governments’ response to the ongoing
coronavirus crisis and the political and social issues that remain
unresolved. The Hong Kong economy may continue to record
negative growth in 2020, although the Group notes that the city’s
government has been active in deploying policies to boost the
economy. Consumers’ purchasing power might be affected in the
short term with the rise of unemployment rate and overall
dampened sentiment. However, in the long run, the Group sees the
property market demand remaining stable due to a shortage of
housing supply and a low interest rate environment.

Mainland China, already facing considerable economic headwinds
before the epidemic outbreak, is expected to experience further
slowdown in its growth. Its “phase one” trade deal with the U.S.
should ease some risks, but further progress on trade issues and
unresolved disputes on broader US-China economic relations
could create tensions without warning, especially before the U.S.
election later this year. Nevertheless, with the growing consumer
trend towards seeking quality living spaces, we remain confident
that our premium properties can capture the opportunities from this
trend.
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Looking forward, the macro-economic outlook will remain uncertain
and not overly positive. It is under these conditions that the Group’s
long-term strategy really comes to the fore. The Group will continue
to focus on building high quality developments on prime sites in key
cities, cautiously seek investment opportunities with enduring value,
remain flexible with its business approach, and take cost
containment measures to maintain a healthy liquidity.

Lastly, | would like to thank our Board of Directors for the support
and guidance they have provided throughout the year. | am, as
always, thankful to the efforts of our staff. Without their resilience
and dedication, we would not have overcome so resolutely the
year’s many obstacles nor been able to continue to achieve the
success we have. | am also extremely grateful to our shareholders,
customers and business partners. Their confidence in our abilities
encourages us to continue to strive for even greater success in the
future.

CHA Mou Zing Victor

Deputy Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 17 June 2020
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BIOGRAPHICAL

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EECZERE

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson e, pssc (Hons), aged 77,
was appointed Executive Director and the Chairman in 1989 and
2007 respectively. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee and a director
of some subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA has over 50 years
extensive experience in property development and investment. He
is the chairman and non-executive director (“NED”) of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and Million Hope
Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope”), executive chairman of
Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), independent non-executive director
(“INED”) of each of New World Development Company Limited
(“NWD”), Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited being manager of
Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (“CREIT”) and Hongkong
International Theme Parks Limited. Hanison, Milion Hope, NWD
and CREIT are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr CHA is a member of One
Country Two Systems Research Institute Limited, governor of
China-United States Exchange Foundation, board member of the
Real Estate Developers Association of Hong Kong, the chairman
of Qiu Shi Science & Technologies Foundation (“Qiu Shi
Foundation”), trustee of Sang Ma Trust Fund (“Sang Ma”) and
honorary trustee of Oregon State University Foundation. He is a
sibling to Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson
CHA. Mr CHA is also a director of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited
(“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents Limited (“LBJ Regents”), both are
substantial shareholders of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and together
whose interests in the Company represent the substantial interests
of the Cha Family in the Company.
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DEPUTY CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR Bl = E RE S A K

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor ga msa, aged 70, was
appointed Executive Director, the Managing Director and the
Deputy Chairman in 1989, 2001 and 2007 respectively. He is also
a member of the Remuneration Committee and director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA is responsible for the overall
and day-to-day management of the Group. He has over 40 years
extensive experience in real estate development and textile
manufacturing. Mr CHA is an alternate INED of NWD and NED of
Mingly. He ceased as an INED of SOHO China Limited (“SOHO
China”) with effect from 17 August 2018. NWD and SOHO China
are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr CHA is the chairman of each
of the Hong Kong-Jdapan Business Co-operation Committee of
Hong Kong Trade Development Council and Hong Kong Arts
Festival Society Limited and is also a member of the board of
trustees of The Better Hong Kong Foundation and trustee of Sang
Ma. He is a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Payson CHA and
Mr Johnson CHA.
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Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham ecpa, aged 74, was
appointed Executive Director in 1994 and is also a director of
some subsidiaries of the Company. He has been serving in the
Group since 1978 and is now the head of finance and group
operations overseeing the Group’s finance, accounting, tax,
insurance, information technology functions, all operating units in
Discovery Bay and hospitality operation. Mr CHUNG is currently a
NED of Million Hope which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He is
a certified public accountant and fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr
CHUNG has over 45 years extensive experience in financial
management and property development in Hong Kong.

Mr TANG Moon Wah sa arch studies), Barch, aged 66, was
appointed Executive Director in December 2004 and is also a
director of some subsidiaries of the Company. He has been
serving in the Group since 1985 and is now the Country Head of
Greater China (Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China)
and the Head of Group Projects. Mr TANG has over 40 years
extensive experience in property development. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and has been
the Authorised Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and
1991 respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EECEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS JE #1 1TE =

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
GBM, CVO, GBS, OBE, JP, aged 81, joined the Board in 1989 and was
re-designated as Non-executive Director in June 2005. He is a
senior partner of King & Wood Mallesons. Mr ARCULLI is an INED
of Hang Lung Properties Limited, NED of Sino Hotels (Holdings)
Limited, Sino Land Company Limited, Tsim Sha Tsui Properties
Limited, HK Electric Investments Manager Limited (as trustee-
manager of HK Electric Investments) and HK Electric Investments
Limited. Save for HK Electric Investments Manager Limited, all the
aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. He holds
directorships in other public and private companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. Mr ARCULLI is now the chairman of FWD Group,
an honorary fellow of Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute and vice patron and former directors committee member
of The Community Chest of Hong Kong. He is also a board
member and the vice-chairman of the board of The West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority and chairs its executive committee and
development committee as well as being a member of its
investment committee and remuneration committee.

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson BS, MBA, aged 68, joined
the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director in December 2004. He is also a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years extensive
experience in venture capital and investment management and
currently the chairman of C.M. Capital Advisors (HK) Limited. He is
a NED of Hanison and Mingly. Mr CHA ceased as a NED of China
International Capital Corporation Limited (“CICCL”) with effect from
28 February 2020. Hanison and CICCL are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also an INED of Shanghai Commercial Bank
Limited and director of a number of other companies in Hong
Kong and overseas including LBJ Regents. Mr CHA is a member
in non-profit organisations including Qiu Shi Foundation and Moral
Education Concern Group. He is also a council member and a
member of the finance committee of The Hong Kong University of
Science & Technology. Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms Madeline
WONG, Mr Payson CHA and Mr Victor CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 80,
joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director in December 2004. She is also a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee and a director of some
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms WONG is the deputy chairman
of Mingly and also director of a number of private companies in
Hong Kong and overseas, including CCM Trust and LBJ Regents.
She is the chairwoman and a trustee of Sang Ma. Ms WONG is a
sibling to Mr Payson CHA, Mr Victor CHA and Mr Johnson CHA.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS B . E H 1TE S

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus gss;, e, aged 72,
joined the Board in January 2006 and was re-designated as
Independent Non-executive Director in March 2012. He is also the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of
China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited which is listed on the Stock
Exchange. He ceased as the board of directors of Sotheby’s with
effect from 3 October 2019 due to its privatization and delisted
from the New York Stock Exchange on the even day. Mr CHEUNG
was also the chief executive of Hong Kong Telecommunications
Limited from 1994 to 2000, deputy chairman of PCCW Limited
from August 2000 to February 2004 and INED of Taikang Life
Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry sa s sss, Jp, aged 72,
was appointed Independent Non-executive Director in November
2017. He is also a member of Remuneration Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has
over 30 years’ experience in business management. He is
currently an INED of Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange and the managing director of Hong
Kong Glory Limited, a family investment company. Mr FAN also
served as a director and then managing director of CITIC Pacific
Limited (now known as CITIC Limited) from 1990 and 1992
respectively to 2009 and the deputy chairman of Cathay Pacific
Airways Limited from 1997 to 2009. He has a long record of
public services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
and is currently the chairman of the Hospital Authority and West
Kowloon Cultural District Foundation Limited, a member of the
Chief Executive’s Council of Advisers on Innovation and Strategic
Development, a member of the board of the Financial Services
Development Council and the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority. Mr FAN was also a non-official member of the Executive
Council of Hong Kong, chairman of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority, NED of Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong and INED of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited. He is an Attorney-at-Law in the State of California, U.S.A.
and Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England and Wales.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EECEE

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta rom fetied), aged 73, was
re-designated as Independent Non-executive Director with effect
from April 2010. Prior to her re-designation, she was appointed as
Executive Director in 1994 and re-designated as Non-executive
Director in April 2008 upon her retirement from all executive roles
in the Group. Ms HO is also a member of both the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. She is a
retired member of the Chartered Institute of Housing Asian Pacific
Branch and has over 45 years extensive experience in property
development, property investment and management.

Mr TANG Kwai Chang rcca rora, aged 67, was
appointed Independent Non-executive Director in September
2014. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with extensive experience in auditing
and audit risk management, the vice chairman of Deloitte China
and board member of Deloitte Global when he retired in May
2013. He is currently an INED of Bank of Communications (Hong
Kong) Limited, Baosteel Resources Company Limited and
Baosteel Resources International Company Limited (subsidiaries
of China Baowu Steel Group Corporation Limited), Tsit Wing
International Holdings Limited (“Tsit Wing”) and Foxconn
Interconnect Technology Limited (which carries on business in
Hong Kong as FIT Hon Teng Limited (“FIT”)). Both Tsit Wing and
FIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr TANG is a fellow
member of both the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the HKICPA. He is also currently a court member
of the Hong Kong Baptist University, a member of the disciplinary
panel of the HKICPA and a convenor of Financial Reporting
Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited final results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 226 to 237.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 98.

The Board has recommended the declaration of a final dividend of
HK7 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK6 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the
registers of members of the Company on 28 August 2020. The
proposed final dividend will be paid on 14 September 2020
following approval at 2020 annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on 19 August 2020 (“2020 AGM”). The proposed final
dividend together with the interim dividend of HK5 cents per share
for the six months ended 30 September 2019 makes up a total
dividend of HK12 cents per share for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: HK10 cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 14 to 19 August 2020 (both days inclusive) and from
26 to 28 August 2020 (both days inclusive) for the 2020 AGM and
the final dividend respectively. During the periods, no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the 2020 AGM, and entitled for the final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2020, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 August and 25
August 2020 respectively. The notice of the 2020 AGM will be
published on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
despatched to the shareholders of the Company in due course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business and analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators during the
year, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by
the Group and an indication of the likely future development of the
Group’s business are provided in the sections of this annual report
headed “Chairman’s Statement” (on pages 10 to 13), “Managing
Director's Operations Review” (on pages 14 to 37), “Directors’
Report” (on pages 45 to 63), “Financial Highlights” (on page 86),
“Financial Review” (on pages 87 to 89), “Five-year Financial
Summary” (on page 243) and in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements. For review of the development, performance
or position of the Group’s business, the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group and
understanding of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact
on the Group, please see sections of this annual report headed
“Managing Director’'s Operations Review” (on pages 14 to 37),
“Directors’ Report” (on pages 45 to 63) and “Corporate Governance
Report” (on pages 64 to 85) as well as the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Company which is published online
at the same time of this annual report.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the applicable
companies laws. Details of the Company’s compliance with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are
provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 64 to 85.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence to
the relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the Group in conduct of its business, including but not limited to
the Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance, Competition
Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse
Accommodation Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Minimum Wage Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance, Regulations on Administration of
Development and Operation of Urban Real Estate, Regulations on
Administration of Qualification of Real Estate Development
Enterprises and Regulatory Measures on the Sale of Commercial
Houses. Any new enactment of or changes in the relevant laws and
regulations would be communicated to the relevant departments
and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders on compliance would
also be sent out where necessary. During the year under review,
there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations regarding the environment, labour standards,
occupational health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy in
Hong Kong and overseas.
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of operations
and growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The risk
factors set out below are those that could result in the Group
businesses, financial conditions, results of operations or growth
prospects differing materially from expected or historical results.
Such factors are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive, and
there may be other risks in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be very material in the future. In addition, this
annual report does not constitute a recommendation or advice to
invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Property development and investment are the Group’s core
businesses, primarily in Hong Kong, mainland China, Thailand and
Japan. There exist a number of factors which could affect the
property market in these regions, including among other things,
changes in the economic, political and legal environment, as well as
the changes in the government’s policies and regulations such as
suppression on the selling price, mortgage levels and ownership in
the mainland China. These inherent risks may affect the Group’s
investment strategy, business model and the performance of the
Group’s overall financial results and positions. To mitigate the risks,
the Group actively assesses overall economic, political, legal and
property market developments as well as their changes in these
regions and continue to review and evaluate its investment strategy
to ensure the Group responds to the market changes promptly and
appropriately. The Group will also stay alert to market needs and
continuously to upkeep the quality of its investment properties
together with building up a diversified and high-quality tenant-mix in
order to preserve its competitiveness. For each potential project,
detailed feasibility and stress test with regard to all aspects will be
carried out before making any commitment and will also share such
risk with potential joint venture partner, if considered appropriate.
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The Group’s operations are subject to a number of risk factors
distinctive to the operation of property development and
investment, hospitality, services provided and healthcare business.
For instance, default on the part of contractors or sub-contractors,
buyers and tenants; or inadequacies or failures of internal
processes and systems; or other external factors such as rising
construction cost, increasing competition and seasonality. In
addition, accidents which may happen despite policies and
procedures are set up for their prevention, which may lead to
financial loss, litigation, damage of reputation and may cause
certain degree of negative impact on the results of the operations.
To mitigate the relevant risks, the Group regularly reviews its
existing policies and procedures to ensure their effectiveness and
adequacy, imposes straight guidelines on carefully selecting and
engaging vendors, closely monitors the project time frame and
status, keeps on assessing the market condition and changes in
order to react with appropriate business strategies as well as
continuously improves its service quality and facilities to ensure its
competitiveness. The Group has also arranged adequate insurance
coverage on business interruption or disaster that may result in loss
of income.

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables, amounts due from associates, loans to joint ventures,
amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances and cash, other
financial assets, trade payables, deposits received and other
financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other liabilities. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risk are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 213 to 224.
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The Group’s success is dependent upon its ability to attract, train,
retain and motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members in
every aspect. The loss of key personnel, or the inability to find
additional qualified personnel, could materially and adversely affect
the Group’s prospects and results of operations. To mitigate such
uncertainty, succession planning is adopted to identify successors
for key management positions and continuously provide coaching
and training, both in-house and external, for talent development.
The Group also regularly reviews its compensation and benefit
packages to ensure such packages are in line with the market as
well as creates a bonding culture to strengthen the sense of
belongings of staff members.

Corporate cyber-attacks have increased in frequency, scale and
severity in recent years. Cyber-attacks may cause loss of data,
leakage of confidential information including personal information of
customers and employee, equipment failure and also disruptions to
the Group’s or its partners’ operation for a period of time. The
costs related to the cyber-attacks, may include reputation damage,
loss of investors’ confidence, loss of revenue from business
interruption and arousing of claims, all of which could be
substantial. To mitigate the risk of cyber-attacks of the Group,
external cyber security consultant has been engaged to conduct a
cyber security assessment and penetration tests on a regular basis.
Information technology orientation sessions and disaster recovery
drills are regularly conducted. Firewall, email filtering and web
content filtering have been adopted and anti-virus programs on
servers and computers have been installed. In addition, there is
also a regular user-education on cyber security risks through
internal communication. All these measures could prevent the
attacks from hackers and reduce the cyber security risks.

Whilst the Group has a diversified portfolio of business operations
across Hong Kong, mainland China and various Asia Pacific
regions, there may be a risk associated with the failure to anticipate
the trend of regulatory changes on compliance with the relevant
requirements of the local laws or regulations. To mitigate the risks,
the Group continually monitors changes in relevant local laws and
regulations, actively assesses the effect of relevant developments
and seeks for legal advice whenever necessary to ensure that the
relevant requirements are properly complied with in an effective
manner.
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The outbreak of novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) since
January 2020 in different parts of the world has posed significant
adverse impact on global economy as a result of the community
standstill, extensive disruption of business activities, people
movement as well as the weakened consumer sentiment. The
Group’s operations, financial position and financial performance
would inevitably be affected and the magnitude of impact remains
uncertain as the situation is still evolving. The Company will
continue to closely monitor the situation and assess and react
actively to the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s operations and
performance. The Company will also use its best endeavors to take
every measure to protect the safety of its employees, tenants and
customers while ensuring its operations is maintained at normal
level.

Risk management is closely linked to the Group’s internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the
risk management process are subject to independent review by the
Internal Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit
Committee, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
Details of the aforesaid review of the effectiveness are disclosed in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 64 to 85.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements on page 202.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2020 and
at the date of this annual report are those set out on pages 38 and
39.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the
“Articles”), the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules, Mr Payson CHA, Mr TANG Moon Wah, Ms Madeline
WONG and Mr TANG Kwai Chang will retire by rotation at the 2020
AGM. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the 2020 AGM. Other remaining
Directors will continue in office.
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None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2020 AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company
in accordance with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a
mechanism to ensure that all Directors shall retire at least once
every three years.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) of the
Company has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs of
the Company meet the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the Executive Directors (‘EDs”)
of the Company have the direct responsibilities for the business
and operations of the Group and hence the EDs of the Company
are regarded as the Company’s senior management. Biographical
details of the Directors are set out on pages 40 to 44. Details of the
Directors’ emoluments are also provided under note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 168 to 169.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS AND
OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he/she may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or
otherwise in relation thereto. Directors and Officers Liability
Insurance Policy is in place to protect the Directors against potential
costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and their respective associates in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules and adopted by the Company were as
follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

A)  LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING A AR RFREESE TG
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH EB@ERRD 2 TR
Number of ordinary share :
RERBE gk
Other/ of issued
Personal Family  Corporate Underlying share capital
Name of director Capacity interests  interests interests interests Total {HEETRA
EEEE &4 AR RikER ARER Hit/HEER 2y ZHNE
Payson CHA Beneficial owner, interests of a 3,424,424 - 18,553,781"  780,114,975% 802,093,180 54.00
ERE controlled corporation and
beneficiary of discretionary trusts
EXAEA FEEEERR
RERIREA
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary of 1,254,278 - - 791,778,271%% 793,032,549 53.39
BB discretionary trusts
EREAARBMEETRR
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts - - - 790,351,023%% 790,351,023 53.21
EmE BERTIRHEA
Madeline WONG  Founder and/or beneficiary of - - - 789,566,258 789,566,258 53.15
TEXE discretionary trusts
BEETALAR/EZEA
Ronald ARCULLI  Beneficiary of a trust 265,619 - - - 265,619 0.02
BEER FREXEA
Abraham CHUNG  Beneficial owner 346,592 - - - 346,592 0.02
E0H ERHEAA
Loretta HO Beneficial owner 94,160 - - - 94,160 0.01
(R E0= En#EEA
TANG Moon Wah  Beneficial owner 148,720 - - - 148,720 0.01
HimE EnBEAA

1

1

2

52

The shares are held by Accomplished Investments Limited, a corporation 100% owned by Mr Payson CHA.
ZERM T mBEME L L2 E %A 2 A 7 Accomplished Investments Limited 35 A& ©

The shares belong to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and LBJ Regents
Limited (“LBJ Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries.

ZEBRMDBRE T TR EIS(E 5 & B % ACCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([CCM Trust |) K LBJ Regents Limited ([LBJ Regents |) 2 3% B
XREARE MEBREFBERHEXR A

Such long position includes unlisted physically settled derivative interests in 74,265,090 shares, which arise from an option agreement dated
31 December 2019 entered into by Soar Boom Limited (“Soar Boom”) for a right or an obligation to take 74,265,090 shares with an exercise
period from 31 December 2019 to 30 September 2020 at a price depending on the market price on the date of exercising such option (the
“Option Agreement”). Soar Boom is a company wholly-owned by Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), and CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity
interest in Mingly.

ZIF R B1E74,265,000 D 2 EHITATAAEY Y #E  ZEROHDHRAFRER QA (AKX K20199 12 431
BRIz RERTZE  ANB A BRET4,265000 B0 2 A &EH  1TEHR2019F12 31 HE2020F9 A30H - BHEER
FROEEMRABEZTE 2T SERME(RBEERRED) FXAABNEEZERBERATDN(ENDEEHABZ AR - HCCM
Trust¥ B & 187 .5% I 2 #E % o

635,627,031 shares belong to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees
and the Director is among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
635,627,031 At 17 BN E T A RIB S5 R HAE ACCMTrust X LBJRegents ZEE R AR B  MAZEFERBHBEZHA °

The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and
member of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 153,939,227 shares in aggregate,
which include the interests arising from a right or an obligation to take 74,265,090 shares by Soar Boom pursuant to the Option Agreement.
ZEER/BEBCCMTrust & LBJ Regents 2 EZB X FEA P2 METRAMBEENEZIAREPOREXEA - ZSEAER
RYEB A 163,939,227 R IR h 2 e ss - B BEA KRB R E R RRIE74,265,090 0% B 7 2 I S B PAE L 2 s
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Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details
of which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding non-
beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the subsidiaries
of the Company as the nominee shareholders, as at 31 March
2020, none of the Directors or their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted its share option scheme, namely 2011
Scheme and the listing status of the shares issued (if any) under
this scheme was granted by the Stock Exchange. Particulars of the
2011 Scheme as required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules
are set out below:

To provide the participants who have been granted share options
to subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage the participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed
on a contract basis) of the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its
associated companies are eligible to participate in the 2011
Scheme.

A maximum number of 135,027,436 shares of the Company may
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted or to be
granted under the 2011 Scheme.
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The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the share options granted and to be
granted to each participant (including both exercised and
unexercised share options) under the 2011 Scheme or any other
share option scheme (if any) adopted by the Company in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders
of the Company.

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
INED of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the
Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share
options already granted and to be granted to such person in any
12-month period up to and including the date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of
HK$5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of
the Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date on
which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the
relevant committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.
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The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant
must be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted
within 14 days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered to
the participant and a consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon
acceptance.

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the
higher of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days of the Stock Exchange immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of
grant.

The 2011 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 7
September 2021 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with
the terms of the 2011 Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED AND
AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

The total number of shares in the Company available for grant of
share options under the 2011 Scheme is 135,027,436 shares
which represents 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the date of adoption of the 2011 Scheme (i.e. 8 September
2011). No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the 2011 Scheme during the
financial year ended 31 March 2020. Details of the movement of
share options during the year and the outstanding share options as
at 31 March 2020 under the 2011 Scheme were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ESEHG

Number of share option
Exercise price B 47 AR 2L A

pershare  Balanceasat  Exercised Balance as at
Name or Category of (HKS) 1 April 2019 during 31 March 2020
participant BRITEE 20195 the year 20205
SHREHEANER Date of grant™’ Bt Y (Br) 4R1BEH ErTE 3A3A&E
Payson CHA 28 February 2017 201742 528H 3.845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
EE 12 March 2018 201843A12H 4.373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201742H28H 3.845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
B 12 March 2018 20184%3A12H 4.373 5,500,000 - 5,500,000
Abraham CHUNG 28 February 2017 201742 H28H 3.845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
#0H 12 March 2018 201843A12H 4.373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 201742 828H 3.845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
- E 12 March 2018 201843712H 4.373 3,300,000 - 3,300,000
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201742 7[28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
TEXE 12 March 2018 201843 712H 4.373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 201742 H28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
E@E 12 March 2018 201843A12H 4.373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Ronald ARCULLI 28 February 2017 201742H28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
BER 12 March 2018 2018F3H12H 4.373 1,760,000 - 1,760,000
Loretta HO 28 February 2017 201742 H28H 3.845 770,000 - 770,000
A 12 March 2018 2018437128 4.373 880,000 - 880,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 201742 H28H 3.845 550,000 - 550,000
oK A 12 March 2018 201843A12H 4.373 880,000 - 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 201742H28H 3.845 220,000 - 220,000
HE¥ 12 March 2018 2018%3A12H 4.373 880,000 - 880,000
Ex-director® 28 February 2017 201742 7[28H 3.845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
AES® 12 March 2018 201843 712H 4373 880,000 - 880,000
Employees of the Group
SEZESR 12March 2018 2018437121 4.373 1,540,000 - 1,540,000
Total #2&t 45,100,000 - 45,100,000

5 Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027.

Share options granted on 12 March 2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.
°  R2017F2A28 B 2 B D HEERI R 2017 F2 A28 H £ 2027 F2 A27 H A A TT{E ©
2018F3 A 12 B H 2 IR BIE 7] 201843 A 12 H £2028F 3 A 11 H A 1T (% »

" The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

TOBRMHHBERSELARERES -

8 Adirector resigned with effect from 31 March 2018.
8 —HZBER2018F3ASIHEIEMES -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year, the interests of the Directors in businesses, which
competed or were likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules are as follows:

a) Mr Ronald ARCULLI is an INED of Hang Lung Properties
Limited (“HLP”) and also non-executive director (“NED”) of Sino
Hotels (Holdings) Limited (“SHH”), Sino Land Company Limited
(“SLC”) and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited (“TSTP”). The
businesses of HLP, SHH, SLC and TSTP involve at least some of
property investment, property development, property management
and hotel management and ownership. HLP, SHH, SLC and TSTP
are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

b) Mr Payson CHA is the chairman and NED of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and INED of New World
Development Company Limited (“NWD”), Eagle Asset Management
(CP) Limited (“EAM”) being manager of Champion Real Estate
Investment Trust (“CREIT”) and Hongkong International Theme
Parks Limited (“HITP”) being owner and operator of Hong Kong
Disneyland hotels. The businesses of Hanison, NWD, EAM, CREIT
and HITP involve at least some of property investment, property
development, property management, healthcare services and hotel
management and ownership. Hanison, NWD and CREIT are all
listed on the Stock Exchange.

c)  Mr Victor CHA is an alternate INED of NWD whose group’s
businesses consist of property investment, property development,
property management and hotel management and ownership.
NWD is listed on the Stock Exchange.

d)  Mr Johnson CHA is a NED of Hanison whose group’s
businesses consist of property investment, property development,
property management and healthcare services. Hanison is listed on
the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above, BAAFBER FXEBEEIN  EERERN
none of the Directors was interested in any business apart from the 1 £ JA & & 2 7% LA M T (o] B2 5= (B 2 7% 5 3 o,

23 o7

Group’s businesses which competed or was likely to compete, RIHEEZRAIEIFEE T 2 XETHEAEZR o

either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during

the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERRK

As at 31 March 2020, the following persons (other than the 202043 H31 8 - iR & /&~ A 7 & B % (&

Directors) had interests or short positions in the shares and F336IEREEBFE 2 SR MAREE - THA
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register +(ZBZBIN RAR R ZBH REBE KD S
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO: MEZERIABWT

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES WA AN~ & & X EE0.257F L% 1D &

OF THE COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH MHERD 2B
Approximate
Number of percentage
ordinary share/ of issued
underlying share share capital
Name of shareholder Capacity ZER B/ HERTREAZ
BRERER & 1% MRS B BABEI
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 715,499,345° 4817
EBIEFEA
LBJ Regents Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280 6.81
EEZFEA
Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,487,944" 9.73
BENEBEERERDA RIEE 2

9

58

These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust, 70,222,854 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Mingly, and the interests arising from a right or an obligation to take 74,265,090 shares by Soar Boom pursuant to the Option
Agreement (please refer to Note 3 above). CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly which in turn holds 100% equity interest
in Soar Boom. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which
members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

ZERNERBIECCM Trust B 5B 2571,011,401 R D - BREBH 22 EWB R R EERHE 270,222,854 &7 - AR F X
IRE R ZRE74,26500 B0 2 RS EBIEEZ e (FF2H EXHFE3) « COM Trust#E B 4 /187.5% I #E 2 # 2 -
& NAFERKZ100% K - COMTrust LUEBE R A FH AE T TRABBERFEE LRk HER  TZEEECHERR
ABREREBEREL 2EF -

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of
discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.

ZEBRBGTIALBIRegents EB X EAF N AE T TRABNBEERAFAE MZSEAZHBEXAACEEREERE L
& o

These share interests comprise 70,222,854 shares held by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and an interest in 74,265,090
shares arising from a right or an obligation to take 74,265,090 shares by Soar Boom pursuant to the Option Agreement (please refer to Note
3 above). Mingly is deemed to be interested in the 74,265,090 shares under the Option Agreement.

ZEROBRPELNEBHE 2 ENBRRRE 270,222,854 A1 - LA K B KRR R85 # 1% 3 3R 88 74,265,090 % i 17 2 # | 3%
ESATE £ 274,265,000 M8 19 2 # = (FF 20 L XPIE3) - BN WIR BB REREIHZRIE T 274,265,000 Bt 7 2 #E45
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no other interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2020, principal amount of unlisted notes issued by
the Company which due 2020 amounted to HK$798.0 million in
aggregate. Details of the debt securities are disclosed in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 198.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs (a)
and (b) of note 46 to the consolidated financial statements on page
238 constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules but are exempt from
shareholders’ approval and disclosure and other requirements
under Chapter 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Save for the aforesaid
transactions, the other related party transactions shown in note 46
to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTIONS AND ARRANGEMENTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or
arrangements of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director or controlling
shareholder had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligation set out in rule 13.21 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of a
loan agreement with covenants relating to specific performance on
the controlling shareholders of the Company as at 31 March 2020
pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no reporting obligation
by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of the Listing Rules
accordingly.
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The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into on
8 September 2015 (the “Loan Agreement”) for a transferable term
loan and revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$8.0 billion with final maturity date falling five years from the date
of the Loan Agreement.

Under the Loan Agreement, among others, an event of default is
triggered when the existing individual shareholder of the Company
(together with his associate(s)) holding the single largest
shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the date of the
Loan Agreement ceases to be the Company’s single largest
beneficial shareholder at any time during the term of the Loan
Agreement.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Mr Payson CHA, the
Chairman of the Company, who personally and together with his
associates including a controlled corporation and certain
companies acting as corporate trustees of certain discretionary
family trusts of which Mr Payson CHA (to his knowledge) was
among the discretionary beneficiaries, held direct and indirect an
aggregate interest in 638,875,574 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 47.31% of the then issued share capital
of the Company and he was treated the then individual beneficial
shareholder holding the single largest shareholding in the Company
under the Loan Agreement.

As at the date of this annual report, the aggregate interest in the
shares in the Company held by Mr Payson CHA, direct and indirect,
is 727,828,090 shares, representing approximately 49.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company and he is still treated as the
single largest beneficial shareholder of the Company.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULES 13.20 AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13
OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of
financial assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to
affiliated companies of the Company as at 31 March 2020 pursuant
to rules 13.13 and 13.16 thereof:
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a) As at 26 May 2017, the Group committed to advance to
Gainwick Limited (“Gainwick”), a joint venture formed by the Group
(owned as to 40%) and Hysan Development Company Limited
(owned as to 60%) for the purpose of a residential property
development in Tai Po, New Territories, in a form of shareholders’
loan in a total amount of HK$1,437.2 million which is unsecured
and has no fixed terms of repayment (the “Shareholders’ Loan”,
comprising loan for land premium amounted to HK$1,357.2 million
which is non-interest bearing and loan for working capital up to
HK$80.0 million with an interest rate of 2% per annum over 1-month
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)). The Company also
provides guarantee up to HK$2,000.0 milion in favour of a
syndicate of financial institutions in Hong Kong as a security for
Gainwick’s obligation under the banking facilities granted to
Gainwick by the financial institutions (the “Guarantee”). The interest
rate for the banking facilities is a sum of HIBOR of 0.65% per
annum and relevant interest period (one, two to three months or
subject to availability six months at the selection of Gainwick and
mutually agreed with the financial institutions). Further details of the
repayment terms and security of the Guarantee are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 26 May 2017. As at 31
March 2020, the outstanding Shareholders’ Loan amounted to
HK$778.4 million and out of which HK$80.0 million was loan for
working capital. The guarantee given in respect of the banking
facilities granted to Gainwick amounted to HK$779.3 million.

b) As at 31 March 2020, the Group advanced to Dazhongli
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) an
aggregate amount of HK$4,705.3 milion. Dazhongli group is
engaged in the operation of investment properties and hotel
properties in Jing’an District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic of
China in which the Group has 50% interest. The advances were
provided by the Group in the form of equity and loans in proportion
to its shareholding interest therein, for the purpose of financing the
development expenditure of Dazhongli group. Out of the advances,
HK$267.5 million are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per
annum and repayable in December 2022. Pursuant to the
undertaking of bank loans, Dazhongli group is refraining from
settling the loans from shareholders until the settlement of all bank
loans. The remaining of the advances are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

c) As at 31 March 2020, the Group also advanced to and
guarantees given for other several affiliated companies an
aggregate amount of HK$1,291.1 million. The Group has interests
ranging from 31% to 50% in these affiliated companies.
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As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of advances provided
to and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the
Group amounted to HK$7,554.1 million representing 20.3% of the
consolidated total assets of the Group of HK$37,240.9 million as at
31 March 2020.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31
March 2020 are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 180 to 187.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in
the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$0.8 million (2019: approximately
HK$1.5 million).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws
of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public
exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2020 has
been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company established
in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant
provisions of the CG Code.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

On behalf of the Board
REESS

CHA Mou Sing Payson
Chairman
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Hong Kong, 17 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to good corporate governance which it
believes to be core to the success of its business and operations.

The corporate governance functions are undertaken by the Board
of Directors (the “Board”), through the Corporate Governance
Committee as delegated by the Board, as prescribed by code
provision D.3.1 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) which are included in the
terms of references of the Board and the Corporate Governance
Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company fully complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code save for a deviation of E. 1.2
(Chairman of the Board’s attendance of the annual general meeting
(“AGM”)). Details and reasons for the deviation are set out below in
the paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board
and Board Committee Meetings”.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises eleven Directors of which four are
Executive Directors (“EDs”) and seven are Non-executive Directors
(“NEDs”) of whom four and hence, with more than one-third of the
Board, are Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). Each
Director possesses skills and experience appropriate to the
business of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the
particulars of Directors are duly set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 40 to 44 of 2019/2020
annual report.

Save for Mr Payson CHA, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA and Ms

Madeline WONG who are siblings, all other Directors have no family
relationship with each other.
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The Board has the responsibility for strategic leadership, control
and providing guidance to management to ensure the Company’s
objectives are achieved.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given
comprehensive and formal induction documentation of the business
operation of the Group and information for his/her understanding
and awareness of his/her responsibilities as Director under the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory and statutory requirements
together, if required, with brief meetings with senior executives and
department heads of the Group.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group and has informed the Company
in a timely manner for any change, the number and nature of offices
held in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments. Details of Directors’ other appointments are shown
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” on pages
40 to 44 of 2019/2020 annual report.

A list of the Directors, their roles and functions and, in particular
whether they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and is updated as and when
required.

The dates of the regular Board meetings in a particular year are
scheduled ahead to give all Directors adequate time to plan their
schedules to attend meetings. There are four regular Board
meetings in a year which are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc
Board meetings will also be held as and when required. For the
year ended 31 March 2020, four Board meetings were held and
attendance records of the Board meetings held during the year are
set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General
Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular
Board meeting and reasonable advance notice would also be given
for other Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to whether
they wish to include any matters in the agenda and the Chairman of
the Board would review and approve the agenda before the
agenda for each Board meeting is issued.
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Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors/
Board Committees members at least three days (or such other
period as agreed) before meetings. With the assistance of the EDs,
the Chairman of the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive
adequate documents and information about the Group in a timely
manner. The Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, the Deputy
Chairman and Managing Director, leads meetings and ensures that
all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Directors in a
timely manner. Directors are provided sufficient time for discussion
on issues in the meetings and encouraged to express their
viewpoints on the Board’s affairs and voice their concerns, if any.
The Chairman directs discussions in the meetings in reaching a
consensus and consolidates discussions with conclusions. Minutes
of Board/Board Committees meetings record matters considered
and decisions reached. Draft and final signed minutes of Board/
Board Committees meetings are sent to all Directors for their
comment and records respectively.

The Chairman of the Board meets at least once annually with the
INEDs without the presence of EDs and NEDs. In March 2020, the
Chairman of the Board met the INEDs without the presence of EDs
and NEDs and three out of four INEDs attended the same.

Where necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters which
are their specific responsibilities. During the year, no such meeting
was required to be held.

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated and not be performed by the
same individual to ensure there is a clear division of responsibilities
between the Board and the executives who run the business.

The roles of Chairman, Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of
the Company have been taken up by two different individuals who
are brothers. Mr Payson CHA is the Chairman and Mr Victor CHA
is the Deputy Chairman and Managing Director of the Company.
Their respective roles and responsibilities are clearly separated and
set out in writing.
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The Chairman is mainly responsible for setting the Company’s
direction in consultation with the Board and for the macro oversight
of the management. With the support of the Company Secretary
and Corporate Governance Committee, the Chairman also takes
primary responsibility to establish good corporate governance
practices and procedures of the Company. The Managing Director,
with the support of EDs (who are in charge of different businesses
and functional divisions in accordance with their respective areas of
expertise), is responsible for strategic planning of different business
functions and day-to-day management and operation of the Group.

NEDs of the Company are appointed with a specific term of three
years which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election of
Directors under the Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”). Details of the mechanism are set out in below paragraph
headed “Appointments, Re-election and Removal”.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in writing.
NEDs are not involved in the day-to-day management of the
Group’s businesses but participate in Board/Board Committee
meetings where they bring independent views and judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources,
key appointments and standards of conduct.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and the
Company implementing the rules, procedures and plans
established and help ensure that the interests of the shareholders
as a whole are taken into account by the Board. Each of the INEDs
has provided to the Company an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all of them continue to be independent
with reference to the terms of guidelines set out in the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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The Articles stipulate that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of
filing a casual vacancy) or until the next following AGM (in the case
of a new appointment to the Board) and be eligible to offer for re-
election. Re-election of each eligible Director is subject to approval
by shareholders at the general meeting of the Company.

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest changes
or material development in laws, the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices relating to the duties and responsibilities of
Directors and are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development seminars to update their knowledge for
discharging directors’ responsibilities.

During the year, existing Directors have participated in the following
various continuous professional development activities in order to
develop and refresh their skills and knowledge. Each Director has
provided his/her training record to the Company with particulars set
out as follows:
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Type of training(s)

Name of director EENF g R
Payson CHA B A
Victor CHA B A
Abraham CHUNG 0 H A B
TANG Moon Wah B i 2= A
Ronald ARCULLI ERES: A B, C
Johnson CHA BE A B
Madeline WONG TEERE A
Linus CHEUNG R K FF A
Henry FAN 3B R R A
Loretta HO [ERiEE=] A
TANG Kwai Chang B & & A B
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Notes:

A. Reading/viewing materials/articles/videos in relation to director responsibilities
as well as updates and developments on the statutory and regulatory
requirements on risk management and environmental, social and governance.

B. Attending seminars/workshops/forums/conferences/programme in relation
to director development, updated statutory and regulatory requirements as well
as developments on financial, commercial, legal, risk management, technology,
data security, banking, insurance market, governance and economic
environments.

C. Speaking topic(s) in relation to insight of leadership.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated and set out levels of authority and
expressed terms of reference for the Board Committees and
reserves the rights to oversee and decide all other non-delegated
matters, in particular, major acquisitions or disposals and
connected transactions. The Board also delegates certain
management and administration functions to the management as it
considers appropriate from time to time, with directions as to the
powers of management, including circumstances where
management shall report to and obtain prior approval from the
Board.

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and other committees, namely Finance Committee,
Investment/Divestment Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and
Transfer of Shares Committee and Inside Information Committee.
During the year, the Board has also set up a new committee in
September 2019, namely Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Committee for the purpose to advise and assist the Board
in managing matters relating to ESG of the Group, such as
governance, policies, initiatives, performance and reporting. Details
of the roles and responsibilities of the ESG Committee can refer to
the Company’s standalone ESG Report for the year ended 31
March 2020 which released online at the same time with the
publication of 2019/2020 annual report. The Board may also on a
need basis set up special committees with clear terms of reference
to deal with specific transactions or matters of the Company.
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https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2019-2020.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=FA95DD726D22D6C3BD903CA505A0CD814E7D3387
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2019-2020.pdf?la=zh-tw&hash=FA95DD726D22D6C3BD903CA505A0CD814E7D3387
https://www.hkri.com/-/media/hkri/documents/esg-report/esg-report-2019-2020.pdf?la=en&hash=88A4BA42C37F49FB112BC7642A216DBB983C3848

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on 26
March 2012 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter
alia, that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs and the Chairman must be either
an INED or the Chairman of the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Payson CHA, the
Chairman of the Board, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang.
The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr Payson CHA.

The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons to
become members of the Board, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, to maintain (i) a policy
concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) and consider the measurable objectives, if required, for
recommending to the Board for adoption; and (i) a policy
concerning nomination of Director (the “Director Nomination
Policy”). The Nomination Committee is entitled to seek independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if it considers
necessary in order to perform its duties.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March
2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee will
review, discuss and agree annually all measurable objectives in
accordance with the structure, size and composition of the Board
for achieving diversity on the Board and recommend them, if any,
to the Board for adoption. The Nomination Committee also
monitors the progress and its policy implementation for annual
reporting in the corporate governance report. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee
on an annual basis and when required to ensure effectiveness.
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The Director Nomination Policy was adopted by the Board in
November 2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee
will discuss and consider the nomination of candidates from various
sources for new Directors, examine the qualification of these
candidates, and then recommend such candidates to the Board,
which have the final authority on determining the selection of such
candidate to be appointed as a Director. The major criteria
considered by the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, candidates’
educational backgrounds, experience and expertise in their chosen
industries, their proposed commitment to the Company and the
goal, if any, of diversity of the Board. Regarding the nomination of
INEDs, the Nomination Committee will also particularly consider the
independence of such candidates. The policy will be reviewed by
the Nomination Committee on an annual basis and when required
to ensure effectiveness.

During the year, the Nomination Committee in a meeting held in
March 2020 has (a) reviewed the retirement of Directors and
recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr Payson CHA, Mr
TANG Moon Wah, Ms Madeline WONG and Mr TANG Kwai Chang
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held in August
2020; (b) reviewed, assessed and considered all INEDs are
independent; (c) reviewed, assessed and considered the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and Director
Nomination Policy; and (d) reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board during the year of 2019/2020 and
considered that the current diversity of the Board appropriate and it
was not necessary to set out any measurable objectives for
enhancing the diversity of the Board for the year of 2020/2021. The
records of the meeting held of the Nomination Committee during
the year are set out in the below paragraph headed “Attendances
of General Meetings, Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established on
2 December 2004 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require,
inter alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less
than three members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus
CHEUNG, Mr Henry FAN and Mr Victor CHA with Mr Linus
CHEUNG acting as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee is
to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine the
remuneration packages of individual EDs and senior management,
if any, including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind, share options
and other plans. Such factors as remuneration paid for comparable
positions, time commitment and responsibilities of the EDs and
senior management as well as the Company’s remuneration policy
will be considered. The Remuneration Committee is entitled to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if it
considers necessary in order to perform its duties.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but
the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by means of
electronic circulation (a) 2019/2020 salary increment proposal for
senior executive; (b) 2019/2020 bonus proposal for senior
executive; and (c) medical benefit top-up for EDs. The records of
circulated electronic communication of the Remuneration
Committee during the year are duly set out in the below paragraph
headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and Board
Committee Meetings”.

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 17 July
1998 and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of
the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia,
that the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members
who are NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the
Company. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
members, namely Mr TANG Kwai Chang, Mr Linus CHEUNG and
Ms Loretta HO with Mr TANG Kwai Chang leading the Audit
Committee as the Chairman.
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The principal role and function of the Audit Committee is to assist
the Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective
system of risk management and internal controls and compliance,
as well as meeting its external financial reporting objectives. The
Audit Committee is entitled to seek independent professional
advice, at the Company’s expenses, if it considers necessary in
order to perform its duties.

During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held, of
which three meetings were held with senior management and the
Independent Auditor and has (a) reviewed and received the client
service plan for audit of the financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019; (b) reviewed and received the
report of risk management review for the year ended 31 March
2019; (c) considered the Independent Auditor’s projected audit and
non-audit services fees; (d) reviewed the independence of the
Independent Auditor, the nature and scope of the audit and
recommended the re-appointment of Messrs Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) as the Independent Auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2020; and (e) reviewed and discussed
the interim and final financial statements and the Independent
Auditor’s review and report for the Board’s approval. During two of
these three meetings, the Audit Committee also met with the head
of the Internal Audit Department of the Company to receive their
work plan and, review and discuss on their findings and rectification
actions taken by the business units. Another Audit Committee
meeting was held in December 2019 for a site visit and to assess
risk management and internal control systems of Discovery Bay
operations. More details about the risk management and internal
control systems are set out in below paragraph headed “Risk
Management and Internal Controls”.
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The Corporate Governance Committee was established on 12
September 2018 for the purpose to enhance and ensure the
Company maintains a high standard of the corporate governance.
Its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG
Code and pursuant to which, the Corporate Governance
Committee requires, inter alia, comprising of not less than three
members who with majority of them must be NEDs (including
INEDs) of the Company. The Corporate Governance Committee
currently comprises four members, namely Mr Payson CHA, the
Chairman of the Board, Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Henry FAN and
Mr TANG Kwai Chang. The Corporate Governance Committee is
chaired by Mr Payson CHA.

The principal role and function of the Corporate Governance
Committee is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance on assurance the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. The Corporate Governance Committee is
entitled to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its duties.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee in a meeting
held in January 2020 and through electronic circulation has (a)
reviewed the corporate governance report to be incorporated in the
annual report of 2018/2019; (b) received and reviewed the training
records of all Directors for the financial year 2018/2019; and (c)
reviewed and discussed the level of authority of management and
the future direction of the Company on governance perspective in
view of the economic conditions, and make relevant
recommendation to the Board for consideration. The records of the
circulated electronic communication and meeting held of the
Corporate Governance Committee during the year are set out in
the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings,
Board and Board Committee Meetings”.
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ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS, BOARD
AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS
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Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetingsof MRERNFRITEREASLNEES  BHEE B
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination & - #FHfZEZE8 €  IERZEBEe R PEET AL
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee held duringthe EBe@emvsE2E=HFEXREHI WO T
year are set out below:
Corporate
Governance AGM
Remuneration Committee held on
Audit Committee Nomination meeting/ 21 August
Board Committee circulated Committee circulated 2019
meeting meeting  communication meeting  communication 20195
ESe ENZEE FMEEE REEEE (EEBREES 8H21H
Name of director BEEpA a3 g BRIEA E SR/ENER BIZRRES
Payson CHA% BHEe 4/4 - - 11 2/2 X
Victor CHA* B’ 4/4 - 3/3 - - v/
Abraham CHUNG &0 A 4/4 - _ _ _ /
TANG Moon Wah BmEE 4/4 - _ _ _ /
Ronald ARCULLI EEE 4/4 - - - - X
Johnson CHA BERE 4/4 - - - - X
Madeline WONG* ITEEE 4/4 - - - 2/2 X
Linus CHEUNG** R 3/4 3/4 3/3 - - X
Henry FAN™ ek 4/4 - 3/3 - 2/2 v/
Loretta HO*® g E*® 4/4 4/4 - 1/1 - X
TANG Kwai Chang*®*  Bf& &/ 4/4 4/4 - 1/1 2/2 v/
Notes: M -
* members of Audit Committee * BIZEBEERKE
members of Remuneration Committee tHMEEERKE
@ members of Nomination Committee e BXEFEEERE
* members of Corporate Governance Committee - pEELBEZEERE
Due to other business engagements, Mr Payson CHA, the HREZLQXHEMER ZEEFEeXFERAL

Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company could not
attend the AGM of the Company held on 21 August 2019.
However, Mr Victor CHA, the Deputy Chairman of the Board and
Managing Director of the Company, who is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee took the chair of that meeting and Mr
TANG Kwai Chang, who is the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, and Mr Henry FAN, who is a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee, together with all other EDs of the Company and the
representative of the Company’s Independent Auditor, Deloitte,
were present to answer questions from shareholders.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts for financial year which is required to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, its
results and the cash flows for the Group. For preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020, the Directors selected appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimations that
are prudent and reasonable, and prepared accounts on a going
concern basis. The statement of the Company’s Independent
Auditor about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 is contained in the Independent Auditor’s report of 2019/2020
annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has an overall responsibility for evaluating and providing
direction to the Company on the nature and extent of the risks that
shall be taken in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective systems of risk management and internal controls,
which include financial, operational and compliance controls.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and
procedures, as well as a reporting mechanism to facilitate the
Group to manage its risks across business operations. Key policies
and procedures have been developed, implemented and
communicated to staff as well as regularly reviewed to ensure there
are continued relevant and effective risk management and internal
control systems and for continuous improvement which includes (a)
setting core values and beliefs which form the basis of the Group’s
overall risk philosophy and appetite; (b) having an organisational
structure in place with defined lines of responsibility and delegation
of authority which hold individuals accountable for their risk
management and internal control responsibilities and provides
necessary information flow for risk analysis and management
decision-making on an on-going basis; (c) imposing budgetary and
management accounting controls to efficiently allocate resources
and providing timely financial and operational performance
indicators to manage business activities and risks; (d) ensuring
effective financial reporting control to record complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information; and (e) having
structural internal audit function to perform independent appraisal
of business units and corporate functions on an on-going and
cyclical basis.
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The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee responsibility for
providing oversight in respect of risk management and internal
control activities. The Audit Committee discusses the risk
management and internal control systems with management for the
year under review to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have an effective risk management and internal control
systems. Discussion covers areas, inter alia, the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programme
and budget (collectively “Resources”) of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions.

To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in overseeing the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, the Internal
Audit Department is responsible for performing independent
reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s systems
of internal controls and risk management and reports audit findings
to the Audit Committee and the Board regularly. An Internal Audit
Charter, which was adopted in 2008, formulates the processes and
procedures of internal audit function for strengthening of the control
framework. The Audit Committee also separately consults with the
Internal Audit Department in respect of the adequacy of Resources
of the Company’s internal audit function.

The successful management of risks is essential for the long-term
growth and sustainability of the Group’s business. To ensure risk
management of the Group is integrated into the day-to-day
operation of the Group and is continuously carried out at all levels
of the Group, the Company has established a risk management
framework and governance structure which consists of the Board,
the Audit Committee, risk management steering group and
business lines to facilitate a systematic approach to the
management of risks within the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEERHE

The following diagram illustrates the Group’s risk governance and T EIFI R E®E 2 E R EA R EIBIELE :

management framework:

Board of Directors EE€

evaluate and provide direction to the Company on the nature and extent of
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systems of risk management anci |ntemal contiois
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Audit Committee BERXZEZES

Internal Audit Department

R EREERF

e perform audits to evaluate the proper
functioning of the risk management
and internal control systems
AT 2 DAY 10 LB B3R AR
ERZREREERE
report findings to the Audit Committee
and provide the Committee with an
independent and objective assurance
on the effectiveness of the risk

oversee management in design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems
EERREERANEERR IR RITRERER I

review, at least annually, the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group with the support of Internal Audit Department to ascertain whether
management has fulfilled its responsibilities in establishing and maintaining
effective systems
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review risk assessment results, including changes in the nature and extent of
significant risks since the last review and the Group’s ability to respond to

c anges in its business and the external environment
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consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal control

matters and management'’s response to these findings
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identify any S|gn|f|cant risks that should be drawn to the attention of the Board
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review and consider enhancement to the risk management and internal

control systems as proposed by the risk management steering group and/or

the Intemal Audit Department
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® manage risks within their business units/departments
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e identify and evaluate risks potentially impact the achievement of business
objectives within their business units/departments
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* mitigate and monitor risks identified on day-to-day operation
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e conduct risk assessment and control self-assessment on regular basis
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The Company has also formulated and adopted Risk Management
Policy in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the risk management
steering group, which comprises of the heads of all business units
and corporate functions, collects and collates risk information from
business lines, identifies risks, on a group-wide basis, that would
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritises the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are established and risk
owners are also assigned to closely monitor those risks which are
considered to be significant on an on-going basis and implement
the mitigation plans. The identified risks which are considered to be
significant to the Group, including their changes in nature and
extent since the last review, and the relevant mitigation plans for
the year under review have been presented and accepted by the
Audit Committee and the Board in April and June 2020 respectively.

The Internal Audit Department acts as an independent assessor as
another line of defence on risk management system. It conducts
independent review and assesses, at least on an annual basis, if all
the key risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance
with the Risk Management Policy and whether the existing risk
controls are operating effectively. A control self-assessment
process was also established which requires risk owners to assess,
through questionnaire, the adequacy and effectiveness of risk
controls over the areas under their responsibilities. The process and
its results were reviewed by the Internal Audit Department and form
part of the Audit Committee’s annual assessment of control
effectiveness.

In addition to the independent assessment on the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried
out reviews on the (a) Group’s Procurement Policy; (b) operation of
HKRI Taikoo Hui; (c) office management and administration of Hu
Hang (Shanghai) Management Consultancy Services Limited; (d)
voting mechanism in the AGM; (e) operation of projects in Jiaxing
city; (f) operation of Discovery Bay Recreation Club and Club Siena;
and (g) other business units with audit follow-up. With the
implementation of follow-up measures after the reviews, the
effectiveness in areas with irregularities has gradually improved.
Findings on the reviews, control weaknesses, if any, and the
relevant recommendations have been presented to and accepted
by the Audit Committee and the Board in November 2019 and
June 2020.
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Apart from the above, during the year, the Audit Committee made
a site visit to Discovery Bay and met with the heads of various
Discovery Bay operations to understand the risks and mitigation
arrangements on the development and operation in Discovery Bay.
During the site visit, the Audit Committee reviewed the internal risk
and control systems in respect of Discovery Bay operations and
considered that which are generally in place in the area being
reviewed.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board,
through the works of the Audit Committee, risk management
steering group and the Internal Audit Department, has conducted
an annual review on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 and considers that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year were effective and adequate.
Management of the Group has also provided confirmation to the
Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of such
systems for the year under review.

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. A Disclosure of Inside
Information Policy has established by the Company to set out the
procedures on reporting the likely inside information to ensure that
potential price sensitive or inside information of the Group can be
promptly identified, assessed and escalated for disseminating to
the public. The Company discloses inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Company ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Company will
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Company is
committed to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading as to any material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of any material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders
and has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the
Policy, the declaration or recommendation of dividends is subject
to the sole discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

e the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;
e gshareholders’ interests;

e the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

e the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;

e any restriction on payment of dividends that may by imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

e the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

e general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
motion control business or financial performance and position of
the Company;

e taxation considerations;
e statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
e any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continually review the Policy and reserve the right in
its sole absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Policy at any time, and the Policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Company in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the
Stock Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for
the year ended 31 March 2020 online at the same time with the
publication of 2019/2020 annual report, which captures in detail
the Group’s ESG-related initiatives, policies and performance in
Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand throughout the financial
year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject
to shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with
reference to prevailing market situation, their respective duties and
responsibilities and the Group’s remuneration policy. Under the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the
Remuneration Committee should make recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration policy and it has the delegated
responsibilities to determine the remuneration of the EDs. The EDs
are entitled to salary, contribution to retirement schemes and
discretionary bonus which are subject to the ED’s and the
Company’s performance.

In general, the Managing Director, who is a member of the
Remuneration Committee, is involved in recommending proposals
on the remuneration of other EDs for due consideration and
approval by the Remuneration Committee. However, he abstains
from voting when his remuneration is considered by the
Remuneration Committee. His remuneration is recommended by
the Chairman of the Board and reviewed and determined by the
Remuneration Committee. No Director will participate in the
discussion and review of his/her own remuneration.
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The NEDs are entitled to a director’s fee for their service which was
determined by the Board, pursuant to the authority given by the
shareholders at general meeting from time to time, with reference
to their duties and responsibilities in the Company and the
prevailing market situation. Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per
annum being the basic fee for acting as a NED, additional fee of
HK$100,000 per annum will be paid to each member, who is NED,
of each of Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company and additional
fee of HK$150,000 per annum will be paid to each member, who is
NED, of Audit Committee. An additional fee of HK$50,000 will also
be paid to each INED having a seat in any independent board
committee which is required to be set up from time to time under
the Listing Rules.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis) for
the year ended 31 March 2020 are disclosed in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 168 to 169 of
2019/2020 annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Deloitte is the Independent Auditor of the Company. The
remuneration for audit services provided by Deloitte to the Group
for the year under review amounted to approximately HK$9.4
million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had appointed
Deloitte for the interim results review and the other non-audit
services including tax compliance and advisory, remuneration of
which amounted to approximately HK$2.9 million for the year under
review.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (including amendments as effected from time to
time) as its own code of conduct to regulate securities transactions
by Directors (the “Model Code”). All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the
year from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020 (both days inclusive). The
Model Code has been extended to and has become equally
applicable to dealings in the securities of the Company by members
of senior management and relevant employees.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affair. During the year ended 31 March 2020, she has taken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in accordance
with rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and will continue to comply with
such requirement for the year ending 31 March 2021 and report
regularly.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings
shall also be convened by the written requisition of any two
shareholders of the Company representing not less than 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the time of requisition.
Shareholders wishing to do so must serve a duly executed written
requisition to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200
Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal Place of
Business”) specifying the object(s) of the meeting. If the Directors
do not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed to duly convene the meeting, such shareholders may
convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meeting(s) may be convened by the
Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by those
shareholders as a result of the failure of the Directors to convene
the general meeting shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

In addition, any shareholder acting on his/her own or together with
other persons whose shareholding interests in the Company in
aggregate representing not less than 5% of the issued share capital
of the Company (other than the person to be proposed) may
nominate a person to stand for election as Director at the general
meeting in accordance with article 120 of the Articles. Any
shareholder wishing to do so must serve (a) a written notice of
intention to propose such person for election as Director; (b) a
notice executed by that person of his/her willingness to be elected;
and (c) the information of that person as required to be disclosed
under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules to the Principal Place of
Business between the period commencing from the date after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and ending on (and excluding) the date that is seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company shall issue
an announcement and/or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to
inform the shareholders the biographical details of the candidate
proposed if a valid notice to propose a person to stand for election
as Director is received.

HKR International Limited Annual Report

RNEWE

KRR ZARIMEAARTRERET AT AR
B HEEE - HE2020F3A31THILFE 1
AR E MR A FE 32016 F A L 5@ )
Br 2 MR R - WA E £2021 43 A 31
BIEFEEEBTHBARTE I T BREL RS -

AR R & R

RBZERRMAF720F  RREFHIKE HA R
TAMERRELEERRFEEARRA D HITR
AKALRE%ZARBRRZE@MERMA
M- BARERABRABRRBIARGZRER A
EeEEZERERERNAHRERZAER
MXEARAEBIRZLEEMH HWUERE
78 T %4 8 168-200 5% = & L B R A E 23
BIETBEEXRWH] HEFRENREREX
ZEAHEANRALABRAARE  AMZFR
RABTARRRAS(AEFEEMESRH
MZBERAGHAMER) MARFAMEZ
EFRRALMSIBZ—NREER -

dE AN - AR B =2 A0 R SE 12016 - (E fa] B 3R 40 LA
BEAZBHEEMALTHBEERERERAR
AEBHTHRAN D RNE%E (KERA Z AL
BRON)  BRRZE-BATIRBERASLEE
BEF - TNABRFLRERZBRRMBARE
EEZERZBRRAGRSHELERREEZ
BRRASEHMAELR(TEFSGHER) LXK
ZQREREZALBEREERE 2 EMZEER
BHOARALTRERTEREBEZAMN
£ RORELEMRAUFIBSIQEREERT
BEEMZALTZENEZEZTZZEXEME - i
WEIERRERAALERES 2 AREBNE
ARAB T ERE R/ EN(ER)
NHMEBRREBLEAZBEFE-



INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Board which set out the Company’s policy for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and investment community. The
policy is subject to regular review by the Board to ensure its
effectiveness. The Company’s AGM, for which at least 20 clear
business days’ prior notice is given, is one of the principal channels
of communication with its shareholders. Shareholders have the
opportunity to communicate face to face with the Directors if they
have any questions on the Company’s performance and
operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on the
Company’s activities in respect of its financial, business and
operations is provided by way of announcements, annual and
interim reports and circulars which are sent to shareholders and/or
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary of the
Company whose contact details are available on the Company’s
website at www.hkri.com. The Company Secretary is responsible
for forwarding communications relating to matters within the
Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and communications
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries
and customers complaints, to the relevant executive officers of the
Company under the direction of the Chairman of the Board and/or
Managing Director of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
No change was made to the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEHE

2020 2019
For the year ended 31 March BZE3ASIBALEE HK$'M HK$'M
Results B BEABRT BEET
Turnover X 3,844.0
Profit attributable to owners ARQB A A G & T
of the Company 2,206.9
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) i Z A & F GEAL) 148.6
2020 2019
At 31 March A3A31H HK$'M HK$'M
Financial Position B #E AR BEATT BEAETT
Total assets BEMBAE 35,457.4
Total liabilities BERR 11,635.0
Equity attributable to owners NARHE AEGRER
of the Company 21,300.4
Net asset value per share (HK$) FREEFEGET) 14.3

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)
BTREEFE(ET)

14.9
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

As at 31 March 2020, the shareholders’ funds of the Group
increased by HK$767.0 milion to HK$22,067.4 milion (2019:
HK$21,300.4 million). The gross profit margin for the Group for the
year was 41.3% (2019: 31.1%).

MAJOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES

In August 2019, the Group acquired the entire issued capital of
Dorro Properties Limited at a cash consideration of HK$758.9
million. The major asset of Dorro Properties Limited is an investment
property representing a block of residential building situated in
Hong Kong.

During the year, shareholders’ loans of HK$204.4 million was
extended to a joint venture by the Group. Further, the Group
received shareholders’ loan repayment and cash advance totalling
HK$554.5 million from joint ventures.

MAJOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

During the year, sales proceeds from disposal of certain
development properties in Hong Kong and mainland China
amounted to HK$624.7 million and HK$1,738.1 million respectively.

During the year, net proceeds of HK$210.6 million were received
from the disposal of medical operations in the Philippines.

FINANCIAL LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had total cash and securities
investment of HK$3,167.2 million (2019: HK$3,129.6 million) whilst
total bank borrowings, bonds and other loans were HK$7,321.2
million (2019: HK$6,686.6 million).

GEARING

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was 21.8% (2019:
19.1%) as calculated by the Group’s consolidated net borrowings
to the shareholders’ funds.

By %5 o R

BRRES

MR2020F3A31H SB2BKREE BN
767.08 BB T E22,067.4H &8 7T (20194F ¢
21,3004EBE L) - EERAFE 2 EF =
41.3% (20194F : 31.1%) ©

FTEREEE

R2019F8 A EE IR S RE75898 & 78
THWEBEMEXEBER AR EITRA -
ENEXERAANEZEELS—HEED
¥ HE—BRUNEBNEEKRE -

RERN EEM—KXEERaE L2448
EBTHREER - I &2 RAIMEEE
ERFERLREBRBESBNS 55458 8
BT o

TEEEXRK
RER LHEEERTENBETERD

EVHEMESRED R ACATEEB LM
1,7381 BB AT °

RER - BEMRIER
HIEHFE A2106E B8

nBES

2020563 AB31TH  SERFAFREREFHK
& % F3,167.28 & /5 7L (20194 : 3,120.6 7
g8 MIRTTIEE  EFRAMERRE
Al /732128 & & 7t (20194 : 6,686.6 B &
BT °

EXERELER

MR2020F3A31H  HEBGAEEFERI
BERESFEZEBELAGEL X A21.8%
(20194F : 19.1%) °

BBEREREGZME
7TEO

EREXEREEERAR 20192020 F, 87



BANKING FACILITIES AND OTHER LOANS

The Group closely monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges
financing for its development projects and operations as and when
appropriate.

As at 31 March 2020, the unutilised credit facilities were
approximately HK$5,495.6 million (2019: HK$7,396.3 million). The
reduction is mainly attributable to a repayment of term loan under a
syndicated loan facility.

As at 31 March 2020, the maturity profile of bank borrowings,
bonds and other loans were 56.1% (2019: 13.6%) falling within one
year, 6.3% (2019: 78.0%) falling between one and two years and
37.6% (2019: 8.4%) falling between two and five years.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a
conservative approach for its treasury management. The Group
closely reviews and monitors its foreign currency exposure. To
manage foreign currency exposure in certain overseas investments,
the Group maintains certain naturally hedged positions and will
make any swap or future arrangements as appropriate. The
Group’s banking facilities are principally on floating rate basis and
interest rate swaps will be employed to manage interest rate risk for
its short to medium-term borrowings when appropriate and
necessary.

It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial derivatives
for speculative purpose.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, certain bank loans of the Group were
secured by certain investment properties and properties held for
sale at a total carrying value of HK$315.4 million (2019: HK$553.9
million).

In addition, the loans to a joint venture by the Group amounting to
approximately HK$771.9 million (2019: HK$771.9 million) were
subordinated to banks to secure a banking facility granted to the
joint venture for financing the development in Tai Po.

HKR International Limited Annual Report

RITEEREREMER

SETVERERPESR R YEEER
RAHEZEREREREELHRE -

R2020F3A3IB ABRHEZEEBEN A
5,495.6 8 &8 7T (20194 : 7,306 3@ BB L) ©
RADEEHREEREERREETIHNE

R
BB -

R20203A31H RITEE -BEHFLEM
BREEPERBEA —FANAE56.1% (2019
F:13.6%) —F E M F A K 156.3% (2019
F:78.0%) M F =R F A G37.6% (2019
F 1 8.4%)

BE# R

SECETEERBE YEEHKEET @
ROEERK SERNEEREZEHEINE
Rk - RBERETEIIMNEEPTE S 2 SMER
B SEAFETHRERREEHERE
B arh SEZRTEERTE
BEPEXRFE IRKERERTERRT
Rz EBERHNEREH  AEERNRER -

SEZBHRASBERRIEASRITET AF
BREAE-

EERH

R2020F3A31H ' BRE A E &£31548 &8
(2019 : 553 0B EB L) 2 A TR EWE
LREELNEVEEFEASERETRITERZ
AR o

BN BFE—REE QR ERBITEER
EARBEREBCES SEERGE TZ
AERNBHNTTIOE BB TL(2019F : 77198
BETT) ZERMRITIEERERE -



CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had contingent liabilities relating to a corporate
guarantee on the Group’s 15% proportionate share to the extent of
HK$117.4 million (2019: HK$125.9 million) as at 31 March 2020
given to a bank in respect of a banking facility granted to an
investee company.

Two subsidiaries of the Company provided guarantees amounting
to HK$342.3 million (2019: HK$406.5 million) as at 31 March 2020
in respect of mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the
Group’s properties.

The Company provided a corporate guarantee of proportionate
share to banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint
venture to finance the development in Tai Po. As at 31 March 2020,
40% proportionate share of the bank loan balance is HK$779.3
million (2019: HK$682.1 million).

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
FRAREREERRAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of HKR
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 98 to 242, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

HRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEERARESNSZTR

Valuation of investment properties

REYF1EE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significant unobservable
inputs and significant judgements associated with
determining the fair value.

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment property portfolio
comprised industrial, commercial and residential
properties located in Hong Kong, mainland China,
Thailand and Japan and was stated at fair value of
HK$14,766.5 million, accounting for approximately
39.7% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March
2020 with a change in fair value of HK$147.4 million
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year then ended.

All of the Group’s investment properties were
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent firms of
professional valuers (the “Valuers”). As disclosed in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, in
determining the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties, the Valuers applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable
inputs and significant judgements, representing
appropriate capitalisation rates, market rent, estimated
construction costs to be incurred, developers’ profit of
investment properties under construction and adjusted
market prices that have taken into account property-
specific adjustments including location and timing of
referenced transactions.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

° Obtaining an understanding from the Valuers about
the valuation techniques, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas, key inputs and data used in the
valuations;

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs
used in the valuation by comparing the market rent
estimated by the Valuers against available market data or
rental of existing lease, benchmarking capitalisation rate
against available market data and comparing adjusted
market prices with comparable market transactions for
comparable properties in similar location and condition on
a sample basis;

° Assessing the integrity of information provided by
the management to the Valuers by comparing details of
rentals on a sample basis to the respective underlying
existing lease agreements; and

° Assessing the appropriateness of estimated
construction costs to be incurred by comparing capital
expenditure incurred to date against the construction plan
and evaluating whether the developers’ profit used is
comparable to the market.
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Key audit matter

HRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEERARESNSZTR

Interest in a significant joint venture

R-—HREAEERAR#E

We identified the Group’s interest in a significant joint
venture, Dazhongli Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), as
a key audit matter due to the significance of this
investment to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as a whole and the involvement of
judgements in the valuation of investment properties of
Dazhongli, which could in turn significantly affect the
amount of interests in joint ventures accounted for
using the equity method as at 31 March 2020 and
share of results of joint ventures for the year ended.

Dazhongli and its wholly owned subsidiaries were
engaged in the operation of investment properties and
hotel properties in the Jing’an District of Shanghai in
mainland China. As disclosed in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount
of interest in Dazhongli accounted for using the equity
method and investment properties of Dazhongli as at
31 March 2020, change in fair value of investment
properties of Dazhongli and the Group’s share of result
from Dazhongli for the year ended 31 March 2020
were HK$2,582.2 million, HK$22,212.7 million,
HK$437.3 million and HK$375.4 million, respectively.
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Our procedures in relation to the interest in Dazhongli
included:

o Obtaining an understanding of Dazhongli by reading
its financial information and discussing with its
management and component audit team about the
financial performance, significant events occurred during
the year and the key areas of judgement made in
preparing its financial information to identify and assess
the risks that are significant to the audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements;

o Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of
audit evidence obtained from work performed by the
component audit team of Dazhongli by reviewing its audit
documentation and discussing the results of its work with
the component audit team; and
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Key audit matter

HRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNEFNAEEARESNSZTR

All of the Dazhongli's investment properties were
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by an independent firm of
professional valuers (the “Valuer”). As disclosed in Note
4 to the consolidated financial statements, in
determining the fair values of the Dazhongli's
investment properties, the Valuer applied a market
value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate capitalisation rates and
market rent.

AP BEHNMBEREMEDRBILEEMEMT
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° Working with the component audit team of
Dazhongli to carry out the following procedures:

(1) Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;

(2)  Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation techniques, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas, key inputs and data used in the
valuations;

(8)  Evaluating the reasonableness of the key inputs
used in the valuation by comparing capitalisation rate and
market rent against available market data on a sample
basis; and

(4)  Assessing the integrity of information provided by
the management to the Valuer by comparing details of
rentals on a sample basis to the respective underlying
existing lease agreements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

HKR International Limited Annual Report

s HEZRAKELLSFERNRBREN
fEHEm - RIEMERNEFAERE  BER
BFEERZRABREEANEERYE &
SENFERERENELETEARENEAD
BEE - MRMARBSEFEEEARTEEML A
BEVBERBMBEPREFEAEIZRA
MBERTORBRE - HEBNKESE
AIRMEEERFEREER - RMINEH
RENZEAHRE R LA ETRE -
A - AREHXBERATEEY EEET

ab B 477 A
REFFAELE -

7]

s HESAGVBHIRNERIGZTN &
BMAR(BREEE)AREEMBRE
RERRBBIZMNEIR -

=
XEIZZI_

e ¥ BEEEAEBAXRHEDNMBE
EERRE EENEFRE NWHEAM
BHREBERBER - BZMARES EBENH
TEEFEZ BRARBAERAEEMAMLE -

BMEEREERREM (AT %) 8/
BiHE SHLXEMREAERFERET &
BREMEFATHANDABEZNETANER
ERFG o

BZRTAEAEBRRIER HBERMETE
ERBUMNBABEREZR YRKEFER
BRRGEMKNARETERMBIENT
FERARREMER  AREERABRATHME
R SRR



From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Wong Lam Ching.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
EEeBEEMRAEFAIT
Certified Public Accountants

HE 2D

Hong Kong, 17 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

PROFIT OR LOSS
e EmR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #,Z=2020F3A31H EFE

2020 2019
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
Hf & BEBR BEBTT

Turnover ey 5 4,696.5 3,844.0
Cost of sales 55 KA (2,756.1) (2,646.6)
Gross profit EF 1,940.4 1,197.4
Other income H A YA 6 168.2 197.4
Other gains and losses Hib Yz K E5 18 7 45.6 (30.5)
Administrative expenses TR S (494.4) (473.9)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB ARz WS 35 182.5 22.4
Gain on revaluation of certain propertes A TYWEBRFELEME
upon transfer from properties held for Mt HEFER/ RS
sale and properties held for/under VIHXEBREIREYER
development for sale to 2 B
investment properties 15 —
Change in fair value of KEMENTFEEZDH
investment properties
Realised gains on disposals HERZEER W 15 3.3 —
Unrealised gains Sk B8 U 3% 15 144.1 1,117.4
Finance costs W% ER 8 (271.8) (245.7)
Share of results of associates DAEEE QR EE (0.1) 0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEERRIEE 506.6 946.7
Profit before taxation B Bt A& A 9 2,522.0 2,731.0
Taxation 18 10 (837.7) (325.8)
Profit for the year NEE &7 1,684.3 2,405.2
Profit for the year attributable to: T3 FEAG AN A
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE? F =N 11 1,624.6 2,206.9
Non-controlling interests el g £ 59.7 198.3
1,684.3 2,405.2
HK cents HK cents
Al AL
Earnings per share P& & 7| 14
Basic HAR 109.4 148.6
Diluted o] 109.4 148.5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERnKEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & Z£2020F3 A31H [FFE

2020
HK$'M
BHEET

Profit for the year KE E
Other comprehensive income (expense): HEmemilkzs (FAx) :

Items that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss

Revaluation gain on property, plant and
equipment upon transfer to
investment properties

Investments in equity instruments
measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
Fair value changes during the year
Deferred tax arising from fair

value changes

Share of asset revaluation reserve of

a joint venture

T EEH 7 BERmBA

ME BEMRBERERE

MERZE{EE

BAFEFAREMEE RS
FAREZRATARE

A TEES

NP ERHES ZREREA

DERERAZEESMHFHE

Items that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising from
foreign joint ventures
Exchange differences arising from

HEXNGEN D RERBZEA

BONGERAEEZENEZR

BEEMBIETEEZERL

(388.0)

(295.7)

(16.4)

(700.1)

(710.2)

974.1

translation of other foreign operations =R
Release of exchange reserve upon 5 AN B A B H S /I Bk T RS
disposal/deregistration of % B B 55 % 1
foreign subsidiaries
Other comprehensive expense for the year N E E fib 2 H F &2
(net of tax) (IR ER)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEErEKFLLEE
Total comprehensive income attributable to: T %] & 1 % & U 25 48 &8 -
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE F SN
Non-controlling interests I AR 2

906.5
67.6

974.1

2019
HK$'M
BEBTT

2,405.2

24.6

(15.7)

0.2

9.1

(449.8)

(245.6)

(695.4)

(686.3)
1,718.9

1,616.9
202.0

1,718.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

e B ISR R

At 31 March 2020 7202043 531 H

NOTES
B 5
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment properties EME 15
Property, plant and equipment WE - BWEREE 16
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17
Interests in associates /N o v o 18
Interests in joint ventures BERNAIZER 19
Equity instruments measured at fair BEAVTEFAEMEZE
value through other comprehensive W2 cRAT A
income 20
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAERZ
profit or loss TREE 20
Investments in debt instruments R ER A E 2B
measured at amortised cost TEKRSE 20
Other assets HEmEE 21
Deferred tax assets FEFIEE E 31
Current assets MBENE E
Inventories FE 22
Properties held for sale FHIELEME
Properties held for/under development HEEFER/ZRP
for sale ES 23
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 24
Deposits, prepayments and b A - ﬁ RIE N H At
other receivables JE W3R 25(a)
Loan to a joint venture BERTE M ’& 7 19
Amounts due from associates FE W HsE & A ) IE 18, 25(b)
Amounts due from joint ventures B E &R T = 25(c)
Taxation recoverable AR B B 18
Investments in debt instruments R ARG E 2 EH
measured at amortised cost TEEE 20
Bank balances and cash WITHEHREE S 25(a), 36
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables, provision and ERE SRR BEX
accrued charges FEET &R 26
Deposits received and other financial B e REM SR
liabilities B8E
Contract liabilities AHAEE 27
Taxation payable FERTBIIE
Bank and other loans due within —FRIHZEITR
one year HEE 28
Lease liabilities HEAE 29
Other liabilities due within one year —FRIHzHMbEE 30

Net current assets

mE B EFE

Total assets less current liabilities

BMEERABRE
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2020
HK$'M
BHEAET

2019
HK$'M
BEBTT

12,434.6
2,362.1

33.7
396.4

60.7
172.9
15.5

24,239.6

44.2
2,591.4

4,576.5
431

811.0
307.4
8.1
183.9
13.4

27.9
2,610.9

11,217.8

1,200.9
150.8
1,599.3
144.3

906.2

31,455.9



2020 2019
NOTES HK$'M HK$'M
Hf 5 BEBR BEAT

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank and other loans due after one year ~— &S| Bl V $R1T &%
Hi B 28 3,212.4 5,780.4
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 65.7 —
Other liabilities due after one year —FRIPZ2EMEE 30 1,330.5 1,371.1
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE 31 472.7 382.0
5,081.3 7,533.5
24,746.2 23,922 .4
Capital and reserves BARN G
Share capital fi& < 32 371.3 371.3
Reserves i 21,696.1 20,929.1
Equity attributable to owners of KARIERE AEIERER
the Company 22,067.4 21,300.4
Non-controlling interests JEE AR RE S 2,678.8 2,622.0

24,746.2 23,922.4

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 242 were $98H EF22HE iHl G & M B MK E RN
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 202096 A 17 B & & % & #t A& & 5 # 71/ 3% -

June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: W TINEERKFEE
CHA Mou Zing Victor CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director Executive Director
B 2 /0
B FEREFHRIEE HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #,Z=2020F3A31H EFE

2020 2019
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
B 7 BEABT BEATT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EIEEK
Profit for the year K E E 55 F 1,684.3 2,405.2
Adjusting items, net FHEIFE F5 (@) 366.9 (1,401.6)
Operating cash flows before movements Kt A L EE & & AT 2
in working capital KERESRE 2,051.2 1,003.6
Decrease in inventories FERD 0.4 0.4
Decrease in properties held for sale BIEHEMERLD 284.7 1,312.3
Increase in properties held for/under HEEFER/ZRAME
development for sale 190 (430.9) (943.1)
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables &I E 5 B8 2R 4> (42 1n0) 3.9 (9.9)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and B - TAR IR K& H M FE UK
other receivables I E N (255.0) (297.6)
Increase in mortgage instalment JiE Wt 8 55 HA 4 538 0
receivables (40.4) (18.1)
Increase in amounts due from joint FEU & & A Al JRIE I N
ventures (16.8) (5.6)
Increase in trade payables, provision and  fE{ & 5 BE 5% - B R EST
accrued charges & A g 113.4 256.2
Increase in deposits received and other B WiEEREM SR EE
financial liabilities 120 41.4 0.3
Decrease in contract liabilities AHBaERD (394.4) (418.5)
Cash generated from operations EIEBEEREE 1,357.5 880.0
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BERBEEMER (54.6) (29.7)
Overseas tax paid B8N IR (598.3) (197.5)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM BEEKFBREFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 704.6 653.4
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2020

NOTES HK$'M
B 7 BEAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Repayment of loan from a joint venture AENREEBENR
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant H&EME - BERREZ
and equipment Frig 18 0.8
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMMEB A7 2R &K
HEE 35 192.8
Redemption of investments in debt BERZEHEN AT E 2 BB
instruments measured at amortised cost T A& & 27.9
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HE& R A FEF Az 2
at fair value through profit or loss CRMEEZBHE 33.2
Interest received 2T B 29.2
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREYEZFTERA
properties 15 24.6
Repayment of loans from associates BENAEEBEN 4.0
Loans to joint ventures ERTHEZERA (204.4)
Additions of investment properties REREWE (247.4)
Additions of property, plant and equipment & ¥ % - = L& E (467.4)
Addition of investments in debt instruments 75 B 12 # 5 ik AN 51 & 2 E 7%
measured at amortised cost TAKRE (50.7)
Addition of financial assets at fair value ARERAFEFAEMEE
through other comprehensive income WHmzemEE (52.5)
Addition of financial assets at fair value NEBRAFETAEBRZ
through profit or loss TREE (92.3)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of WK B AR 2R &R
subsidiaries R 34 (758.9)
NET CASH (USED IN) GENERATED REZEH (A MBRE
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES FE (1,182.2)

2019
HK$'M
BEAT

645.0

1.4

206.2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

2020 2019
NOTE HK$'M HK$'M
Hf & BEBR BEBTT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEH
New bank and other loans raised BT R EMET 3,215.0 217.3
Advance from a non-controlling FEFE AR AR R AR

shareholder 102.2 300.0
Advance from a joint venture SR UNCIE- N 175.6 —
Repayment of bank and other loans EEERITREMER (2,597.3) (1,034.0)
Interest paid 21 & (276.0) (303.8)
Dividends paid 2R E (163.4) (153.9)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHREARE (17.6) -
Repayment to a non-controlling BT IEERRR

shareholder (2.6) (77.5)
Dividend paid to a non-controlling B A FE 12 A% AR SRR A A% B

shareholder (6.0) (17.5)
Club debentures redeemed EEgmES = (42.1)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METBHRBFARE

(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES -0 (1,111.5)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBEEERAZRED

CASH EQUIVALENTS B (230.2)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT HF#{zRERHEL%EER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,908.4
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREFH o ZE

RATE CHANGES (67.3)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRzEERREEEER

END OF THE YEAR 36 2,610.9
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2020 2019

NOTES HK$’'M HK$'M
Bt 5 BEAR ABEET
Note: M &E -
(@) Analysis of adjusting items, net () WBEEBFEZIMN
Taxation Fi1E 10 325.8
Finance costs B 158 R 8 2457
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMERREBEZITE 9 165.2
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEEZNE 9 -
Amortisation of bonds BEH 2 HH -
Impairment loss on other assets HEEZRERRE 7 1.4
Impairment loss on investments in debt instruments Z# X AT E 2 EHF T AKE
measured at amortised cost ZREEE 7 0.5
Impairment loss on trade receivables KRB SERZFHEEE 7 241
Impairment loss recognised (reversed) on loansto  HE:R (B E) BEHXFA L QA2
joint ventures BEEE 7 0.7 0.7)
Impairment loss on other receivables H e RIB 2 B ER R 7 3.7 —
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  #1%  RE M & & 2 B EE 1B 7 3.3 —
Share of results of associates PaR LR AN 18 0.1 0.2
Net (gain) loss from financial assets SREE(Wx) BB FE (48.3) 11.8
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE Y - ME MR B2 EiE 7 0.4 7.5
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARZ K 35 (182.5) (22.4)
Share of results of joint ventures DMEAERNAIEE 19 (506.6) (946.7)
Realised gains on disposal of investment properties H! & & & ¥ ¥ 0 7 B # 10 Uiz (3.3) -
Interest income FEWA 6 (58.3) (74.6)
Unrealised gains on change in fair value of REMERNTEEZH 2 AREEH
investment properties U & (144.1) (1,117.4)
366.9 (1,401.6)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e AR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, £2020%F3 831 H I FE

1. GENERAL

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the development, management and provision
of essential and recreational services for residential housing and
leisure projects in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island, other property
development, property investment, hotel operations and provision
of healthcare services. The Group’s associates and joint ventures
are principally engaged in property development and property
investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the
current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs
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Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and the interpretation in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”, and the related
interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16
to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019, the
Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1 April
2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and measured right-of-use assets at the carrying amounts as if
HKFRS 16 had been applied since commencement dates, but
discounted using the incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the date of initial application
is recognised in the opening accumulated profits and comparative
information has not been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under HKFRS
16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases under
HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of the
date of initial application;

ii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application;

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a
similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets in
similar economic environment. Specifically, discount rate for certain
leases of properties in Hong Kong was determined on a portfolio
basis; and

iv.  used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at date
of initial application in determining the lease term for the Group’s
leases with extension and termination options.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified
as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is 4.03%.

. EETHRENREXEAEAEF12@E
ARNGROHERERERAREERMEERE

i REREREBAEEAEEERME
R EEKA

i. MBEUCERZEANBUERNEBEEEN
HURGHASENTHEHEAERE —RE R
BEEmMs B TYERAENRBE R K
HMEETE K

v. REXRBAEAEENFERBARE
RETSESTAEARR IENHEENELY -

RERENOIBERKEHEZHEZHER
BR SECERRERERERREEE
ERZEEBRNEX - FEMRZ INEFHIE
BERNE54.03% °

At 1 April
2019
#2019 4F
4H1H
HKS$'M
BEET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at M2019F3 A1 B BEM L & HE & IE
31 March 2019 37.2
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental IR EBIE EE Z MR UBBENHEEE
borrowing rates 36.8
Add: Termination option reasonably certain not to be A1 : & I 1 7E T & 17 8 89 4% | F 1
exercised 35.2
Less: Practical expedient — Leases with lease term & : AJ{TAEE 7735 — A EARN B X EF
ending within 12 months from the date of EHRF1I2EANERNEE
initial application (7.4)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases JER BB IETHRE ERIE16551& &
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 and 2019564 A1 BRNLLHERA
as at 1 April 2019 HEBE 64.6
Analysed as AT D47
Current VL 16.7
Non-current FERED 47.9
64.6
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The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1 April
2019 comprises the following:

R2019F4 A1 RIEFERZFRABREEZRE
EeFENT :

Right-of-use
assets
FEHREERE
HKS$'M
BEATT

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases JERESTBERELELF16IRBERH
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 e EREFERAREE 53.4

By class: =R

Leasehold land and buildings HE L MEF 52.4
Furniture, fixtures and equipment KA -RKBRRE 1.0
53.4

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases
in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application
and comparative information has not been restated.

(@  Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application relating to the
same underlying assets under existing lease contracts are
accounted as if the existing leases are modified as at 1 April 2019.
The application has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 April 2019. However, effective
on 1 April 2019, lease payments relating to the revised lease term
after modification are recognised as income on straight-line basis
over the extended lease term.

(b) Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as rights and obligations under leases to
which HKAS 17 applied under trade and other payables. Based on
the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right-of-use assets and were
adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at transition. The
discounting effect has no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the current year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

(c) Effective on 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customer” to allocate consideration
in the contract to each lease and non-lease components. The
change in allocation basis has had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the current year.

Interests in joint ventures
Subleases

At the date of initial application, leased properties under subleases
were assessed and classified as an operating lease or a finance
lease individually based on the remaining contractual terms and
conditions of the head lease and the sublease at that date. All
leased properties under subleases as at the date of initial
application were classified as operating leases and remeasured to
fair value at the date of initial application in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policies for investment properties. The fair
value adjustment and the related deferred tax asset were adjusted
to opening accumulated profits on transition.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

The net effects arising from the initial application of HKFRS 16
resulted in an increase in the carrying amounts of interests in joint
ventures of HK$30.3 million with corresponding adjustments to
accumulated profits.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS
16 on accumulated profits at 1 April 2019.

€ HB2019F4A1HE SEEAEEGTS
HwEEBFEIGHRIREBEREFAHN Z W HE
EHARBEHERASHEHKLD - XD
EEHNEBEHEERNFTFE 2 RAMEHRERIL
EEREATE -

pail

RERERER 2HBRTZHEMETIR
BERZAHEORDHZHBRE O GRRRIE
HETHE LEND>BEAKEZHELRE
HE RESBEERREVEZSTEE
REXEREBMEIEET ZEHEDED
WO BRKERE YREREREAEN
AERAFE - AFEFRERBHELERA
BEERNBERABREHMURAEN -

EEEARTELAAR HEpl@HEAORSHE
AEEBMOBYIAN - DED2EREHNZ
EREEECGE2ZERBEE) " EABMEN

rEME -

ERERE BN REENEORFEEY
FYE . BHARAR R EEEEN

TR =

03B & BT WHREAIEREHE -

TREBABEEEBHBERE LD F 165K Y
2019F 4 A1 H R a2 & o

Notes HKS$'M
B 5 BEATT

Accumulated profits ZEta T
Impact to the Group HEBEZVE (i (11.2)
Impact to interests in joint ventures HEERNRRRIVE (i) 30.3
Non-controlling interests FEE R = (i 4.8
Impact at 1 April 2019 R2019F 4 A1 B 2 ¢ £ 23.9
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The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April 2019.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

A RRER2019F4 1B R S8
EEHEUNTHAR  AZEHFEHEBL L
BIEENR -

Carrying Carrying

amounts amounts

previously under

reported at HKFRS 16 at

31 March 1 April

2019  Adjustments 2019

2019 4F

55 Al 48182

R 20194 BRI

3A31H HEER

EWZ F16FFE T

REE Bk REE

Notes HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

bz BEAT BEAT BEBT
Non-current assets FEMBNEE

Right-of-use assets ERESE i) — 53.4 53.4

Interests in joint ventures AEDNRER (ii) 8,763.7 30.3 8,794.0

Current liability mBAE

Lease liabilities HEAE 0] - (16.7) (16.7)
Non-current liability nRBEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 0] - (47.9) (47.9)
Capital and reserves BN EE

Accumulated profits 2% A (i), (i) (10,540.7) (23.9) (10,564.6)

Non-controlling interests JEIE IR % 0] (2,622.0) 4.8 (2,617.2)

Notes: et 5

(i) Due to the application of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities of
HK$64.6 million and right-of-use assets of HK$53.4 million at 1 April 2019. The
net difference of HK$11.2 million has been debited to the accumulated profits
and non-controlling interests amounting to HK$6.4 million and HK$4.8 million,
respectively.

(i) Due to the application of HKFRS 16, a joint venture of the Group recognised
lease liabilities of HK$211.2 million, investment properties of HK$292.0 million
and deferred tax liabilities of HK$20.2 million at 1 April 2019. The net difference
amounted to HK$60.6 million, of which the Group’s 50% share was HK$30.3
million, has been credited to the accumulated profits and debited to interests in
joint ventures.

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities
under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2020,
movements in working capital have been computed based on
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April
2019 as disclosed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions®
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?®

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2

4

5

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs, a
revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued
in 2018. lts consequential amendments, the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
above new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material
by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

° include the concept of “obscuring” material information in
which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

° replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could
influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

° include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too broad when
deciding what information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs and
will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 April 2020. The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group but may affect the presentation and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards

The New Framework:
° reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;

° introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a
new liability definition that is likely to be broader than the definition it
replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability
and an equity instrument;

° discusses historical cost and current value measures, and
provides additional guidance on how to select a measurement
basis for a particular asset or liability;

° states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset
or liability; and

° discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the
reporting entity and combined financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in
certain HKFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst
some HKFRSs are still referred to the previous versions of the
framework. These amendments are effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on or after 1 April 2020. Other than specific
standards which still refer to the previous versions of the
framework, the Group will rely on the New Framework on its
effective date in determining the accounting policies especially for
transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with
under the accounting standards.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain properties and financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 April
2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or
value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset taken into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting
rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the
relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee
Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with
that standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as
if the acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured at the
same amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or
at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair
value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.
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When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model, and financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associates and joint ventures other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-
alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction price
ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to the
customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in
the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to
by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest
expenses during the period between the advance payments were
received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are
accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance
with transitions in Note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group
reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases within
the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative standalone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term lease
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and “property held for
sale” or “property held for/under development for sale”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
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The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market rental
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the maodification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group as lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered as
integral part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of incentives
is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line
basis.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model. Upon application of HKFRS 16 on 1 April
2019, variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on
an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transition in Note 2)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract
to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in a foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates or joint
ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation, attributable to
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. For
properties under development for which revenue is recognised over
time, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as
the properties are ready for the Group’s intended sale.

Effective 1 April 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or
sale is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
leasing transaction as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease
payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities results on net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than freehold land and properties
under construction as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
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Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before
application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated statement of financial
position except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land under HKFRS 16 or prepaid lease
payments under HKAS 17) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in asset revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than freehold land and properties under construction less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purpose).

Effective from 1 April 2019, investment properties also include
leased properties which are being recognised as right-of-use
assets upon application of HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group
under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction cost incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to
owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement of
owner occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent
accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from inventories (i.e. properties held
for sale) to investment property when there is a change in use to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is
evidenced by the observable actions taken to support the change
in use. Any difference between the fair value of the property at the
date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is
an indication that they may be impaired.
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The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Properties held for/under development for sale

Properties held for/under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured at
cost model in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16, properties held for/
under development for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred
and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties held for/under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are classified
under current assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the accounting
policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of HKFRS 16,
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost relating to the development of properties,
comprising right-of-use assets for lands and development costs,
are included in properties held for/under development for sale until
such time when they are completed. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all anticipated costs to be incurred
in marketing and selling.
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Others

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sale.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecongised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are
included in the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

@iy  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and
is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including investments in
debt instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables,
loan to a joint venture, loan to an investee, mortgage instalment
receivables, other receivables, amounts due from associates,
amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances) and other item
(financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date
as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
mortgage instalment receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances and/or
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a
debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the
credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since
1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (prior to 1 April 2019).

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

o Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and
other receivables, are each assessed as a separate group. Loans
to associates and joint ventures are assessed for ECL on an
individual basis);

° Past-due status;
° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount of income
recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises
reversal of impairment or impairment loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.
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On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification of debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
costs, using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other loans, trade payables,
deposits received and other liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/state-
managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits. Regarding to the share options of the
subsidiary, when share options are exercised after the vesting date,
the amount previously recognised in share options reserve of a
subsidiary will be transferred to share of net assets of subsidiaries
within non-controlling interests.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation, that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that none of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely through
sale is not rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties to the extent
in which the disposal of those investment properties are not subject
to income taxes.

The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through sale.
Therefore, the directors of the Company have determined that the
“sale” presumption set out in HKAS 12 is rebutted.

Management had made the following estimations that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2020 at their fair value of
HK$14,766.5 million (2019: HK$12,434.6 million) (Note 15). The fair
value was based on valuation of these properties conducted by
independent firms of professional valuers (the “Valuers”). In
determining the fair values of the Group’s investment properties,
the Valuers applied a market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates and
adjusted market price that has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including location and timing of referenced
transactions. In determining the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties under construction, the Valuers applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements, representing
appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates, estimated construction
costs to be incurred and developer’s profit. The management of
the Company has reviewed the valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2020, the fair value of the investment properties
held by a joint venture amounted to HK$22,212.7 million (2019:
HK$22,779.7 million) (Note 19) and the Group’s share of the value
of the investment properties amounted to HK$11,106.4 million (2019:
HK$11,389.9 million). The valuation of such investment properties
was conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers (the
“Valuer”). In determining the fair value of the joint venture’s
investment properties, the Valuer applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and
significant judgements, representing appropriate rentals and
capitalisation rates.
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Properties held for/under development for sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties
held for/under development for sale amounting to HK$3,297.6
million (2019: HK$4,576.5 million) (Note 23) with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may
exceed its net realisable value. Write-down for estimated
irrecoverable amounts is recognised in profit or loss when the net
realisable value is below cost. The estimates of net realisable value
are based on the evidence available at the time the estimates are
made of the amount the properties held for/under development for
sale that are expected to realise. Actual realised amount may differ
from estimates or changes in facts and circumstances may result in
downward revision of estimated net realisable value of these
properties held for/under development for sale and additional write-
down may be required.

Project investment undertaken by a joint venture

The Group has a 50% equity interest in a joint venture, Dazhongli
Properties Limited (“Dazhongli”), whose wholly owned subsidiaries
are engaged in the operation of investment properties and hotel
properties in the Jing’an District of Shanghai in mainland China, for
investment purpose. In considering the recoverability of the Group’s
loans to Dazhongli amounted to HK$4,687.7 million (2019:
HK$4,701.6 million) (Note 19), the management takes into
consideration the recoverable amount of the underlying assets of
Dazhongli which is determined by reference to the future rental
income to be generated therefrom, where the actual future cash
flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
The management considered that no impairment is necessary in
respect of the loans to Dazhongli.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5, EXBEROHER

The Group is organised into five operating divisions: property &£ E S AL EZLEL : MEXE WEKR
development, property investment, services provided (clubs & BERG (LXK EHLEXYES
operation, transportation and professional property management IBARFE) HB/IEEB L BERE(REHEEL
services), hotel operations and healthcare (provision of medical and FRI{R R BHEEUMEKFEEE LERH
dental care services, comprising chronic disease management and [, - REFZ FRIZ - BEZEH D LR E
integrated medical centres, Chinese medicine centres, dental BEAREKRE) FLEIFIHRE —ELER
clinics, medical diagnostic centres and medical network service). 7] £ 39 &l ©

Each of the operating divisions represents an operating and

reportable segment.

()  DISAGGREGATION OF TURNOVER () ZHEFEHE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BZ2020F3ANALFE

Property  Property  Services Hotel
development investment provided operations Healthcare Total
NERE NERE BRERE BEEXE BRRAR Ast
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M  HK$'M
BE#EnT HBHEERT AEET BEERT RHEERT HEAER

Types of goods or services: ERHRHERE
Sales of properties HEME
Hotel revenue BE A
Provision of healthcare services 12 it B2 & R {2 IR 7%
Other services rendered R HE A AR
Revenue from contracts with RERFAHIZ
customers WA
Rental income AE WA (BIE
(under HKFRS 16) BAUBRS
ERIE165)
Consolidated turnover, REEESR
as reported I
Geographical markets &S
Hong Kong and Macau B RRM
Mainland China A A i
Japan 2PN
South East Asia BB
Total T
Timing of revenue recognition Y A\ B 3 K &
A point in time PA JE 1By 5 B
Over time e I
Total Bt
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HZE2019F3A3NBILEFE

Property Property Services Hotel
development  investment provided operations  Healthcare Total
MERE WERE BEERYE BEEXE BERE et
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAETL BEAET BEAT BEBT BEET BEATL

Types of goods or services: & FHRHERE

Sales of properties HEWE 2,286.9 - - - - 22869
Hotel revenue PR ON - - - 329.2 - 329.2
Provision of healthcare services 42 it 28 & (R & R % - - - - 281.5 2815
Other services rendered R E A RS 6.4 271 476.0 - - 509.5
Revenue from contracts with KERFEDZ

customers WA 2,293.3 271 476.0 329.2 2815  3,407.1
Rental income HEWA BB

(under HKAS 17) BER g EA

F175%) 338 433.1 - - - 436.9

Consolidated turnover, REEER

as reported mE R 2,297 1 460.2 476.0 329.2 2815  3,844.0
Geographical markets it & 35
Hong Kong and Macau BB RBRM 1,220.2 404.2 476.0 202.5 1426 24455
Mainland China m B A3 1,0038.7 1.6 - - - 1,005.3
Japan =N 46.7 54.4 - - - 101.1
South East Asia R 26.5 - - 126.7 138.9 292.1
Total @at 2,297 .1 460.2 476.0 329.2 2815  3,844.0
Timing of revenue recognition Uz A B8 32 i
A point in time PRS2 2,286.9 - 346.4 147.7 2815  3,062.5
Over time B B [ 10.2 460.2 129.6 181.5 - 781.5
Total 4=t 2,297.1 460.2 476.0 329.2 281.5 3,844.0

Property development YRER

Revenue from sales of residential properties is recognised atapoint KRB HEETEMENBARE EXK M EEH
in time when the completed property is transferred to customers, TREPHEHEHER R ZEEM TP &
being at the point that the customer obtains the control of the 15 B ¥& 5K ¥ 5 #Y 2= Il #& B & B & 13 3R 5 5K
completed property and the Group has present right to payment #3071 AT gE L B X (E o

and collection of the consideration is probable.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement.
However, depending on market conditions, the Group may offer
customers a discount compared to the listed sales price, provided
that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing. Such advance payment
schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period for the full amount of the contract
price.

The Group considers the advance payment schemes contain
significant financing component and accordingly the amount of
consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration the credit characteristics of the Group. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability during the
period of construction, it increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred
to the customer.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.

Property management

Revenue from property management represents charge-out
collections, which consist of payments in respect of the operation
of the properties which are payable by the tenants, are recognised
over time using output method when the services and facilities are
provided. The Group applied the practical expedient in HKFRS by
recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice, since the Group is entitled to bill a fixed amount in advance
for each month according to the terms of the relevant agreements.
As permitted under HKFRS 15, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Transportations

Revenue from provision of various transportation services in
Discovery Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel operation,
is recognised when the related services are provided.

Clubs operations

Revenue from using the club facilities in Discovery Bay by
customers is recognised over time during the period in which the
customers are entitled to use the facilities.
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Revenue from sales of food and beverage and various services
provided in the clubs in Discovery Bay is generally recognised at
point in time when the good and service are provided.

Hotel operations

Hotel revenue from the room rental is recognised over time during
the period of stay for the hotel guests using output method.
Revenue from sales of food and beverage and other ancillary
services provided is generally recognised at point in time when the
goods and services are provided.

Healthcare

Revenue from healthcare services is recognised when the related
services are provided.

Other than property development, all the services income are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2019 and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

KERMREZEREERREMREHRZE
%%ZWA AR B B an K AR 75 B 0 K (&
By ) % R 22

ISR
PR GO PR PN k- NINEE
I A 8 R BE RS P FE AR - SR B B ARSH O R IR

HEMEERS WA —RREHRE B RR
75 By B R {08 By ] A R R0

BRERE
BB AR PR A5 AR R BUAR R AR AS B RE R -

BROMEZRIN IERBUARH —FHE
- RIBBFBVBEHREERF15RAHLE
DEERERANZIRHERILABKE -

MR2020F3 A31H &201943 8318 »
BRTEBOBEECRER KB REK) IR
B RIERERRAFRIESHENOT

Mi

Sales of properties

HEWE
2020 2019
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEEBT BEAT
Within one year —F R 2,613.8
Over one year —F -
2,613.8

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied but
not yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Segment information

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segments for the year:

For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE2020F3A3NBLEE

TURNOVER EES:

Segment revenue - sales to external DEMPN - SE B2
customers derived by the Group, DERAEDRHMND
an associate and joint ventures BPZHE %E

Excluding turnover of an associate and BBRBERARAEDT
joint ventures LEE %E

Consolidated turnover, as reported BEEE WER

RESULTS ES |

Segment results - total realised results NHEE-&E HE
of the Group, associates and REARAE ﬁs& ’A Az
joint ventures (note a) BER % FErE(fda)

Excluding realised results of associates and ~ #A Bk FEEE D1 S A A)
joint ventures not shared by the Group kes ’& Gipdst-3:)

S

Results attributable to the Group SEEGEE

Unallocated other income R EEMEA

Unallocated corporate expenses AHELAER

Finance costs and corporate level HEERRRAFRERL
exchange difference EHESR

Gain on revaluation of certain properties ETHEARFELE
upon transfer from properties held for MERELEFER/
sale and properties held for/under EEPNEERERE
development for sale to investment MEBZEHKE

properties

Net unrealised gains on fair value change of

investment properties (note b)

Net unrealised gains on fair value change of
investment properties attributable to the
Group’s interest in a joint venture, net of

deferred tax

Profit for the year
Non-controlling shareholders’ share
of profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

FANELATERD?
RETREFE (D)

REESEA R TREE
nEis2 AFELY
IRERUHFE
NRIEE BB

REEEH

FRRBRESWRFE
)

ROTREABERTE
wH
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B2 WA RFRE

Property ~ Property  Services
development investment  provided
NERRE WERE BRERY
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BE®ERT HEERT HBEAR

2,164.7

(1,636.5)
528.2

1131 @17 =
762.1 543.8 395

RTRRIELERATZHRD BOTAF

i
i

Healthcare Total
BRERE @t
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEnT BEAR

7,411.2

@714.7)
4,696.5

(324.8)
1,462.8

62.0
(174.3)

(212.0)




Property Property Services Hotel
development  investment provided  operations  Healthcare Total
MEER WERE BERE BEEEE BERRE FoE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BERT BEAT BEAT BEAT HEST HEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE2019F3A31BIEEE
TURNOVER ExE
Segment revenue - sales to external DHWA —EE  HE

customers derived by the Group, DERAEDRHIMND

an associate and joint ventures REZHE %E 39745 1,978.3 476.0 329.2 281.5 7,039.5
Excluding turnover of an associate and BBRBENARAEDA

joint ventures Z%%%ﬁ (1,677.4)  (1,518.1) - - - (31955
Consolidated turnover, as reported RAEEE WER 2,297.1 460.2 476.0 329.2 2815 3,844.0
RESULTS £
Segment results - total realised results NHEE KB HE

of the Group, associates and AEREEREL

joint ventures (note a) BEREELE(HFa) 758.6 761.6 44.9 15.7 75 1,588.3
Excluding realised results of associates and 45 =B D154 1 7

joint ventures not shared by the Group RAERAIZBER

E3 (184.9) (254.4) - - - (439.3)

Results attributable o the Group SEEGEE 573.7 507.2 449 15.7 75 1,149.0
Unallocated other income ADEHEMUA 3.0
Unallocated corporate expenses APEREER (148.9)
Finance costs and corporate level HHBERRRAIEA L

exchange difference EHES (189.5)
Net unrealised gains on fair value change of $x B £ A TEE B 2

investment properties (note b) FER WS FHE (M) 1,111.4

Net unrealised gains on fair value change of & B fE {5 & % RARKE
investment properties attributable to the MERG ATEE
Group’s interest in a joint venture, net of ZARER Hﬁl wmFE

deferred tax MBEEHE 480.2
Profit for the year RER R 2,405.2
Non-controlling shareholders’ share FRRBEIEAEE

of profit for the year i 7 (198.3)
Profit for the year attributable to owners ARREBEAEEREE

of the Company i # 2,206.9
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Notes:

(@) The segment results of the Group include the entire results of associates and
joint ventures, excluding the net unrealised gains on fair value change of
investment properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties for the
year ended 31 March 2020 of HK$133.3 million (2019: HK$1,111.4 million)
represented the unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties of
HK$144.1 million (2019: HK$1,117.4 million) net of deferred tax charge arising
from change in fair value of HK$10.8 million (2019: HK$6.0 million).

Other than including the entire revenue and entire result of
associates and joint ventures as segment revenue and segment
results respectively, the accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit
earned by (loss from) each segment without allocation of
unallocated other income, unallocated corporate expenses, finance
costs and corporate level exchange difference, gain on revaluation
of certain properties upon transfer from properties held for sale and
properties held for/under development for sale to investment
properties, net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment
properties and net unrealised gains on fair value change of
investment properties attributable to the Group’s interests in a joint
venture, net of deferred tax. This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Al of the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to
the chief operating decision maker for review.
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Other segment information Hin &R

Property  Property  Services Hotel Unallocated
development investment provided operations Healthcare amounts Total
NERRE NERE RERE EEXE BERE XoEEE st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET BEER HEERT HEER HEERT BEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020  #Z2020%3A31 A
LEE

Amounts included in the measure of (& D EIEE AR

segment profit or loss: ZEe®:
Revenue from inter-segment sales* ABEZHERAN ] (11.1) (0.1)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEIREZ

equipment e ! ! 44.7 65.5
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBEZE 5 g 1.6 -
Impairment loss on loans to joint EXTFRERAIZ

ventures AEEE
Impairment loss on investments REERATEL

in debt instruments measured BRTAKREZ

at amortised cost REEE
Impairment loss on other receivables  E {1 fE Yt 3 IE 2 &

BE

Impairment loss on property, NE - BERSEZ

plant and equipment EBE
Net gains on financial assets at FVIPL R AFEFABHEZ

SREENRTE = (48.3)

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE M B DR 2 Wa (182.5) =
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HENE BER

plant and equipment EYpa 210 &) 0.5 b 0.1
Interest income FE WA (21.1) (12.0) I (24.3)
Finance costs HBER 27.6 34 . : 236.1
Income tax charge st 655.3 139.7 J ! I 16.1
Share of results of associates ﬁ‘fﬁi - UNSIE S 0.2 (1) -
Share of results of joint ventures BREDRER (131.2) (211.4) (164.0)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Property Property  Services Hotel Unallocated
development investment  provided operations  Healthcare amounts Total
WMERE DERE EERE BEEEE BERR RAOESE B
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT HBHEAT BEAT AEBAT BEAT HBEAT BEAR
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZE2019%3A31H
HEE
Amounts included in the measure of St 85 BEHM B
segment profit or loss: LB
Revenue from inter-segment sales” AEEZHERA - 1.0 (10.9) 0.1) - - (11.4)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREREZ
equipment e 19.9 191 46.5 61.3 7.9 10.5 165.2
Reversal of impairment loss on loans o & EE X T4 £ AT
joint ventures ZREEE (0.4) (0.3 - - - - (0.7)
Impairment loss on investments REEKATEL
in debt instruments measured EBIAKELZ
at amortised cost EERE - - - - - 05 05
Impairment loss on other assets HwEEZREER - - - - - 1.4 14
Impairment loss on trade receivables ~ EWE 5B 2 RE
Bi - - - - 2.1 - 2.1
Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL A FE ABEZ
SREEBREE - - - - - 1.8 11.8
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMBARZKE (22.4) - - - - - (22.4)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEME  BERZ
plant and equipment Bz BB (ks 78 - 0.1 0.2 - - 75
Interest income FIEWA (33.4) (8.6) - (1.5) - (31.1) (74.6)
Finance costs ,ﬁzf “ER 15.4 9.1 - - 1.1 220.1 245.7
Income tax charge NEH S 100.4 196.6 8.6 7.4 3.0 9.8 325.8
Share of results of associates » 5 [ UNGIE S 0.2 - - - - - 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures DIERBARES (212.0) (254.5) - - - (480.2) (946.7)
* Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant * S EEZHENRBREEZEXSH 2 H@HE (W
agreements, if any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was B)# 17T X ZERBISBRITH B B E 4 KA
determined with reference to prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as (BT ERABRME)ETE -
appropriate.
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Turnover from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s turnover from its major
products and services:

TEEMERRBZERTE
ATREBIZER KRB EEBHN

2020
HK$'M
RV 5

2019
HK$'M
BEET

Sales of properties HEW

Rental income HE WA

Hotel revenue B IE WA

Provision of healthcare services RHEERERY
Other services rendered IR E Ath AR 75

2,286.9
436.9
329.2
281.5
509.5

3,844.0

Geographical information

For each of the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019,
the Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and Macau,
mainland China, Japan and South East Asia.

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the
location of properties and goods delivered or services rendered,
and location of properties in the case of rental income, and
information about its non-current assets by geographical location of
the assets are detailed below:

Revenue from
external customers

[ & #t

H E2020F3 831 H K2019F3 A31 B F&F
B EEZEBUNRES R - RE A -
HARERED -

SEXBNFEFPABE KINERIEHR
REZmELSEE RHSBMATE - K
MEMEMREE) ZWARBBAEIZEEW
BUESDZIRBEEEN ZFHBET

Non-current
assets (note a)

REMBEEZWA kFRBEE (KzFa)
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’M HK$'M HK$’M HK$'M
BEBTT BEET BEBTT BEET
Hong Kong and Macau &8 KR 1,206.0 2,445.5 12,912.7
Mainland China eRElvNp:i] 3,210.8 1,005.3 2,759.1
Japan SN 55.9 101.1 1,106.6
South East Asia (note b) s (FYsEb) 223.8 292.1 794.8
4,696.5 3,844.0 17,573.2

Notes:

(@ Non-current assets excluded those related to financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

(b) Revenue from countries in this categories are individually less than 10% of
the Group’s revenue.

B &E

@ FRBEETEEEHMTARREHEELE -

O REZBENER ZWABERME DR ERBEAZ
10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

Information about major customers

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% of
the total turnover of the Group for both years.

6. OTHER INCOME

BREEEFPZEM

IS
SEBERE210% -
6

H W A

2020
HK$'M
BHEAET

Other income includes the following:

Bank and other interest income
Other income

HAWABE TS

RIT R E AR A B A
H AU A

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

7. HitW=E=REE
2020
HK$'M
BRBERT

Other gains (losses) include the following:

Net gain on deregistration of subsidiaries

Net foreign exchange loss

Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment loss on other assets

Impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment

Net gain (loss) on financial assets at
FVTPL

Hi ez (BE) BETHRE:
TH R M R A 2 e
SN T 0% 85 18
HEME WERREBZER
HtEEZRERE

ME - BEMREZREER

BAFEFABREZEREEL
U (B 1R)

Impairment losses under ECL model, net
of reversal, include the following:

Impairment loss (recognised) reversed on
loans to joint ventures

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Impairment loss on investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost

Impairment loss on other receivables

BEHEEEREAT ZRERR
(FBR B E) BHE THI KA -

(ER)EODERTFALAFZRE
518
ERE S ERZBERRE

BEERAHEZBBTAREZ
B EE
H A & WK IR 2 R 1B B 1R
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%A
LRMEFE - REEERSZKADR
LE

2019
HK$'M
BEAT

74.6
122.8

197.4

2019
HK$'M
BEAT



8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BMKEH

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBAER BEAT

Interests on T3 &8 2 F S
Bank and other loans RITREMER 190.9
Advances from non-controlling FEVE IR AR R
shareholders 22.5
Lease liabilities HEBE -
Finance costs from a significant financing K EANEBEBEEAFER D 2
component of contract liabilities % E A 73.7
287.1
Less: Amounts included in the qualifying %l : st AR BB E 2 &% (M)
assets (note) (80.6)
206.5
Bank and other loans arrangement fees  $RITRHEME XL HE R 39.2
245.7

Note: Borrowing costs capitalised arose on specific borrowings to finance the  Hii : ERLIEERAE R R EEEHR S EREERN

expenditures of qualifying assets for both years. YTRINEEEBEEMESE -
9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BR¥ AL F
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M

BEEER BEAETT

Profit before taxation has been arrived at B FE RIS M2 % (5FA) 5] & 18 :
after charging (crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration 1% SR B & 9.3
Cost of developed properties recognised B % BYW ¥ K RNER AR X

as an expense 1,630.5
Operating lease rentals in respect of land ~ +# RIEF 7 KL HEMR S

and buildings 39.9
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits T& - %4 - 824 R E MR 659.3
Retirement benefits schemes contribution & K 1& F| 51 21 4 3% 16.1
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ B ESEIK A (BIEEEMD)

remuneration) 675.4
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BMERREBZINE

equipment 165.2
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAREEZTE -
Gross rental income under operating KERE T cHS W ABEE:

leases on:

Investment properties WA (493.0) (426.5)

Other properties Hi % (11.6) (10.4)
Less: Outgoings VAR 46.4 53.5

(458.2) (383.4)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 £, £2020F3H31H L FE

10. TAXATION

10. BiIE

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBER BEAET

The taxation charge comprises: HMEXHBE:
Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at REE A ERBOR PR =
16.5% of the estimated assessable 16.5% 1 B 2 B AFEH
profit for the year 40.4
Overseas tax calculated at rates prevaiing IR GBI EERBER 2 M ERTE 2
in respective jurisdictions G INETE 88.7
Land appreciation tax (“‘LAT”) + b 3% (E R 143.2
272.3
Deferred taxation for current year (note) AREZIRLEFEE (M E) 53.5
325.8
Note: An analysis of deferred taxation for the year is as follows: Wi  ANFEEERBZOMMOT :
2020 2019
HKS$’'M HK$'M
BEATX BEBT
Deferred tax charge arising during the year in AEEHRABEHEDERBHEFEHRE/
respect of transfer from properties held for sale ERPVEEBEREMEELE R
and properties held for/under development for HEXH
sale to investment properties -
Deferred tax charge arising during the year in AEEREMEATEEHELERAER
respect of unrealised gain on fair value change of Ut 25 7 ¥ 1E %1 T8 %
investment properties 6.0
Deferred tax credit on disposal of investment HEREMEZETCHBRE
properties -
Others H 47.5
53.5

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
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The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8
January 2011, and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all
gains arising from the sale or transfer of real estate in the PRC with
effect from 1 January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use
rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for
construction of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the
assessed value for old buildings and structures, tax payable relating
to transfer of the real estate and other deductible items prescribed
by the Ministry of Finance.

ARBEER BB E MRS S EEE
PR ESEHEAMBRRLETEKR &
78 R 15 Bt 79 4 P M 4F 52 1 AT 8 AR 0 IR Bt
E16.5% & °

BREBEREARKNME(HE]D) EERETE
REBERARG  TEMEBRRANZMESFE
Z TR ER25% °

RzmMEFEEEMAEERELE 2 REAR
BRRZERZBETHEFE -

RIEB1994F1 A1 H £ £ B R2011F1 B
SHIEE] 2 B L IS E A E 1T 6 & &
1005 F 1 A27HRERZ P BH L2 EHE
TR ERMABBETE - N19945F1 H1H R
FrERRHEME HENEERSARMME
H(E % £ 3 E B R i TR R 30% = 60% 85 49
THbIEER - M EEERYEE SRS NIE
B2 AT HUR 2 (B 38 sk Ak B 4t R RE T A
RIE - T AR EEFREESREER
RARER REEEMEEBZHE - A
BEEREMECEATERYEBRE 2 E
AT HIRIEE ) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before AR FE Fi1E 5 H B4R 45 18 %5 7= AR 55 A0 A

taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ZHERWMT
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBIT
Profit before taxation & B3 A 2,522.0 2,731.0
Less: Share of results of associates o oL E RN R EE 0.1 0.2
Share of results of joint ventures SEE AR EE (506.6) (946.7)
Profit before taxation attributable & B FE (R BR B BT & A
to the Group 2,015.5 1,784.5
Tax charge at the domestic income tax AT SR E16.5%T & 2
rate of 16.5% fR B H 332.6 294.4
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERRBRAZHETE
tax purpose (53.2) (194.6)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A FE S 2 MG £
tax purpose 68.5 56.3
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMABEE G E 21.0 16.2
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FARATRERHIERIE
recognised ((0X3)) (7.5)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries A H fth 51 )A# = & 2 Mt B A 7
operating in other jurisdictions METRZFE 117.1 56.6
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER R EEEE RS E
differences not recognised 0.1 0.2
Effect of LAT in the PRC BB ER S E 301.3 107.3
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings 38 SNt B 2 B8] Rk 7k B 7 2 FE 018
of foreign subsidiaries 50.1 2.4
Others Hib 1.0 (5.5)
Taxation attributable to the Group for AREEEEERTIE
the year 325.8
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLETO0 11. XA RIEE ABEAREE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY =
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 7N &% G AFE(ENEE %8 HF
comprises:
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M

BHEER BEETT

(@) Net unrealised gains on change in fair value (a) FRNIREWE N FEESH 2

of investment properties during the year KBRS
— The Group —&£F 11174
Deferred tax charge EEFREST M (6.0)
Attributable to non-controlling interests FEVE AR M 2 B AL (160.4)
951.0
— Joint venture, net of deferred tax A% Na 0 HBIE
(Note 19) Wﬁwﬁmg) 480.2
— Gain on revaluation of certain properties —ETYWEHRBELE
upon transfer from properties held MENMMBLHESRRE
for sale and properties held for/under /ERPYEERES
development for sale to investment REMERZEM
properties, net of deferred tax and Was - MBRIEETIE
non-controlling interest e -
1,431.2
(b) Profits excluding net unrealised gains on () BAR IR E WM ¥ N FEREI
fair value of investment properties W 25 F 88 2 m 775.7
Net accumulated gains on change in fair FREHEMERBEFE
value of investment properties, net of E BanER2EEYE
deferred tax recognised in profit or loss in NEEEH 2 RETETF
prior years for properties disposed of B HIBRIEER A
during the year -
775.7
Sub-total N 2,206.9
Less: Net accumulated gains on change in fair & : F N HEYWERBREEE
value of investment properties, net of EERZERAZEEDE
deferred tax recognised in profit or NEEEY 2 Rt
loss in prior years for properties FRR HIBREER IR
disposed of during the year -
Profit for the year attributable to owners of KARHEE AEERFEREF
the Company 2,206.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 12. E=EeREEEEFREE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION 2

(@) DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ARE AS @ ZE=EM2FBOT :
FOLLOWS:
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven (2019: Bk EF11Z (2019F : 11B)EEZ A Z
eleven) directors were as follows: ML :
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BZ2020F3A31BILEE
Executive Directors (note a) Non-executive Directors (note b) - Independent Non-executive Directors (note c)
BTES(HiEa) FHTES (HEb) BUEHTEES (Hekc)
Cha Cha Chung  Tang  Ronald Cha Wong Cha Cheung Fan Tang Ho

MouSing MouZing SamTin  Moon  Joseph MouDaid MayLung Wing Lam Hung Ling Kwai Pak Ching
Payson  Victor Abraham Wah  Arculli Johnson  Madeline Linus Henry  Chang  Loretta Total
ERE TRR BB YRE EEE SRE ITEE RAR  BMR ¥BY WM A
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM
BEEn AEER BEER AERRT AERT AEER REER BEER BEERT BEERN BEER AEER

Fees e
Other emoluments Eiie
Salaries and other benefits HeREMET
Performance related incentive AR
payment (note d)
For the year ended HZ2020E
31 March 2020 SASIALEE
Total emoluments Hegs
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE2019F3ABIBIEFE
Executive Directors (note ) Non-executive Directors (note b) - Independent non-executive Directors (note c)
H17E S (Wita) Fa1EZ (kD) BukaiEs(Mitc)
Cha Cha  Chung Tang  Ronald Cha WongCha  Cheung Fan Tang Ho
MouSing MouZng SamTin ~ Moon  Joseph MouDaid MayLung WingLam Hung Ling Kwai Pak Ching
Payson Victor ~ Abraham Wah Arculi Johnson ~ Madeline Linus Henry ~ Chang  Loretta Total
g EAR  ELH HRE OER EHE IEXE KR TR BEY @RA b
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKEM  HKSM HKSM  HK$M  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM  HKSM
BEET BEAT BEAT BEEAT BEAT BEAT AEAT BEAT ABAT BEET BEAT AEAT
Fees ne - - - - 0.1 0.1 02 04 0.2 04 04 18
Other emoluments Hitn e
Salaries and other benefits HeREMETN 52 9.2 28 5.1 - - - - - - - 23
Performance related incentive ERE(sEd)
payment (note d)
For the year ended HZ2019F
31 March 2019 3ASIBLER 14.0 28.0 2.0 45 - - - - - - - 485
For the year ended HZE2018%
31 March 2018 (note €) 3AIALERE
(iste) 185 250 30 50 - - - - - - - 485
Ex-gratia payment (note 1 BEHE (F ) - - 1.0 - - - - - - - - 1.0
Retirement benefits schemes BIRBRIE B
contribution - - - 0.1 - - - - - - - 0.1
Total emoluments Hegs .7 62.2 18.8 147 0.1 0.1 0.2 04 0.2 04 04 130.2
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Notes:

(@) For Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

(b) The Non-executive Directors’” emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as Directors of the Company.

(c) The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors of the Company.

(d) The performance related incentive payment is determined with reference to
the operating results of the Group and comparable market statistics of the
Group, and individual performance of the directors.

(e) The amount represented performance related incentive payment for the year
ended 31 March 2018 which had been accrued during the year ended 31 March
2018 with finalised amount for each respective Executive Director ascertained
during year ended 31 March 2019.

(f) The ex-gratia payment was given to the Executive Director to recognise his
long service and contribution to the Group.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any
emoluments during both years.

(o) EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the five highest paid individuals
of the Group included four (2019: four) executive directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining
one (2019: one) employee are as follows:

GEE

@ FRFRHRTEEHS L EARSRALTRE
EEREGEBORY -

o) ERAITHFFATESHE I ERBREREEART
EEMRS -

© ERARBIUIFATEEHEIEZRBRFEMER
REEEORE -

O BREDI2EEEZREXERALBRTZHE
AR EREHRAEE -

(6) ZHBEAEE2018F3AZTALLFE ZEREL R
BZE2018F3ANBIEFEAGFA MEATEEH
RRESENHE2019FE3A31 B ILEERTE °

() FERRERTEFRINREUARATREEE 2
REIRS R AR

RAFER SEYEAEEINIERSERER
EMAKEzZME NWER BEESEK
REMAME -

b) 1= E

B Z2020F3H3BILFEE  SEEEES
FMALHEPMOME(2019F : MB) RATTE
EOREZMEN EXWE - 2T — % (2019
Fr-R)IRERBEZMEMT :

AN
iva

e MEEF
RARTE IR

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefits schemes contribution

The emoluments of the aforesaid employee were within the
following bands:

HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000

4,000,001 7 7T — 4,500,000 % 7T
4,500,001 7T - 5,000,000/ 7T

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBAET BEBTT
4.2
0.1
4.3
LitES 2B BN TSR
2020 2019
1
]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 £, £2020F3H31H L FE

13. DIVIDENDS

13- Hﬁz%\

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBER BEBTT

Final dividend paid for the financial year &~ & £ 201943 31 B 1F 8 BR ¢
ended 31 March 2019 of HKB cents (2019: & 7 K EAR% B &R 674 1L (2019
final dividend paid for the financial year F o RNEZE2018F3 831 8 1B

ended 31 March 2018 of HK7 cents) BEEZRBBRBSR7EMN)
per share 94.5
Interim dividend paid for the financial year J& {5 & 2 202043 A 31 B 1t Bf X &

ended 31 March 2020 of HK5 cents (2019: € Z A HIAR 2 & & 578 1L (2019

interim dividend paid for the financial F RN EZE2019F3A31 B IE8F

year ended 31 March 2019 of HK4 BREE 2 HREGRAEN)

cents) per share 59.4
158.9

The directors of the Company proposed a final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2020 of HK7 cents (2019: for the
financial year ended 31 March 2019 of HK6 cents) per share
totalling not less than HK$104.0 million (2019: HK$89.1 million).

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

KRB EEZRIKE E2020F3 8318 It
FEZ2ABBRESR7EN(0I9F: =
20195 3A31H L B FEFKREEWN) - &
HAR L R104.08 8B % o (2019F : 8918 &
EIT) °

14 8RER

ARBFEEANEEERERNREERN TR
BETBURAE

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBER BEBTT

Earnings EF

Earnings for the purpose of calculating FTESREAREERF AT
basic and diluted earnings per share (RARIBEEANEEAREREZR)

(Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company)

2,206.9
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2020 2019

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share:
Adjustment in relation to share options
issued by the Company

% B
AEEBRERRNZ AFEDET
Epatbe gE!

1,485,301,803

1,485,301,803

HBEBBENEBRZTE
RARRETZ R BHEELZ

BEk 1,090,672

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of calculating
diluted earnings per share

AAEESREERN 2 NEFS
EiEkE A

(e elnbelel 1 1,486,392,475

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
share options because the exercise price of those share options
was higher than the average market price of the Company’s

shares.

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HE2020F3A31ALEFE HESRES
BRTEBREARA 2RO HAEETE R
ARZERMBRZITEESREARARKRSG
ZFHHE -

15. REW

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEET
FAIR VALUE ANEE
At beginning of the year F 4 11,255.2
Currency realignment B (64.0)
Additions NE 165.2
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) W BE B B8~ B (M9 5E34) -
Change in fair value recognised in REZBRRZAFEED
profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals -HERZEER K K] -
— Unrealised gains - ARER KR 144.1 1,117.4
Disposals & (24.6) -
Transferred from properties held for sale & # B 15 1F 1 & ¥ % (Mf:Ea)
(note a) 1,181.0 -
Transferred from properties held for/under #EE E HEFER/HREDYE
development for sale (note a) (Mtsxa) 98.0 -
Transferred from property, plant and EREWE - BB M&EFED)
equipment (note b) 29.2 65.0
Transferred to property, plant and EREME - WE LEE KiEe)
equipment (note c) (102.1) -
Adjustment of cost for renovation and HETREMEZMIERELR
conversion work of certain investment ZRABETHEE (M ED)
properties (note d) (104.2)
At end of the year FR 12,434.6
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 March 2020, properties with total carrying value of
HK$981.4 million at date of transfer were transferred from properties held for
sale and properties held for/under development for sale to investment properties
at the date of transfer, which is evidenced by the observable actions taken to
support the change in use. The difference between the fair values of the
properties and the carrying values at date of transfer was recognised in profit or
loss amounting to HK$297.6 million.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2020, properties with total carrying value of
HK$13.5 million (2019: HK$40.4 million) at date of transfer were transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties at the date of end of
owner occupation. The difference between the fair values of the properties and
the carrying values at date of transfer was recognised in asset revaluation reserve
and non-controlling interests amounting to HK$7.8 milion (2019: HK$20.9
million) and HK$7.9 million (2019: HK$3.7 million) respectively.

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the uses of certain properties of the
Group have been changed from capital appreciation and leasing out for rental
income to owner-occupation. The investment properties amounting to HK$102.1
million (2019: nil) at date of transfer were transferred from investment properties
to property, plant and equipment at the date of commencement of owner
occupation.

(d) During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group had reached an agreement
with the contractor over the total cost incurred for the renovation and conversion
work.

The Group did not dispose of any investment properties during the
year ended 31 March 2019. For the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Group disposed of certain investment properties and the details
of which are as follows:

B 5E

(@ RBZE2020F3A3ALLFE BREAZEEA
BEARBIAEBB T ZMECRNERZARFELEY
¥RBLHERER/BRETVEEBREREME (UG
THRHNEREAMERZABERTHAR) MELFE
HEREHCRAECEZRERNEBEETER 284
2976 B BB T °

(o) REE2020463A31ALFE EREAZEEA
EA135E BB (2019F 1 404E BB L) ZWHEE
REXRIFERAEHAYE BERIEERERE
ME--MELAFEREREACEEEZZEERE
EEHREERIEERERTRER 2R ATSEEET
(20194 : 20.9F & Jr) &7.98 &5 7L (20194 : 3.7
BE&BT) -

() REE2020F3A3IHIEFE SBETWEZH
BPHEABEREBAUUIKRES)BAXEFAA-R
HEAHSEA1021 BB BT (2019F : E) Z/REY
¥RETFABBEAZABEREVEEENE BER
A e

d REZE2019F3A3TALLFE  SBERBH KK
FE TR A 2 48 AR AN B Y R B AR 1 o o

REE2019F3ASIBILFE EBITETR
EXMREME- H 22020438318 I+ 5F
B SEHEETREVEZFHBLOT :

2020
HK$'M
BEBT
Sales proceeds received BN E P15 I8
Original cost of acquisitions I g 2 R X AN B
Accumulated gains on change in fair value BAEFEERRZATEEZE E2HE

recognised in prior years

Realised gains on disposal recognised during
the year ended 31 March 2020

BRZE

REE2020F3A31HILFERNHER
IR IS

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.
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The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management reports the findings to the board of
directors of the Company every half-year to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use
of the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2020, 31 March 2019, the date of transfer from properties held for
sale and properties held for/under development for sale and the
date of transfer from/to property, plant and equipment have been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on the respective
dates by the following Valuers with appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the
relevant locations.

SEZRE=-SAERGHEMETHE -E
BEEAERIIBHEMBEEZAFE  UEY
BENGEESTEARELNBARE EEE
BY¥FRAARAEETTERER UREY
ERTERSZRA -

REFTMEZAFER MESEREDHE
RARE -

& B R2020F3 A31H 201938318 + &
RERFELEVERBLEFRER/ZREDRY
X5 AURERE/EME BEREKEE B
ZEEMERFE DNIRUTEGRREE 1K
ML E R c EHUMEMELR 2
HEMASBHETZHEERE -

Location of investment REMERE
Name of valuer properties LEmER 2 E
Cushman & Wakefield Limited Hong Kong and mainland China BEZITERA A EBNRTPEAM

JLL Morii Valuation & Advisory K.K. Japan
N&A Appraisal Company Limited ~ Thailand

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined either by using income capitalisation approach or direct
comparison approach. The income capitalisation approach is
calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the
existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income
potential. The direct comparison approach assumes sale of
property interest in its existing state by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant market.

The valuation of investment property under construction is
determined by residual method based on capitalising the rental
income that would be generated from the investment property in its
completed form, and has taken into account the developers’ profit
and construction costs already incurred as well as the estimated
costs to be incurred to complete the project.

JLL Morii Valuation & Advisory K.K. B 7&
N&A Appraisal Company Limited 2=

NRBBNREVENRAFENDERARAZ
FOELERLBEMEE - WA B R(LE
BRENECRREHEP WA EE A ER
HEMEBEARLOWARNBEREMNE -
BEERLEEAER2EHAMESAFLA LR
ZHERGBEAMERERELEMEE
=M EE °

ERREVMENGHEENIRESBEERIRE
MEEEZHERABRTENERRKEEM
S YEFAEBREAEMNREELEZESE
PRASERIR B 5 T2 A4 2 fl st ARAS
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

The fair value of investment properties located in mainland China
and Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach
assuming sale of the property interest in its existing state by making
reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market.

The fair value of investment properties located in Japan is
determined by using income capitalisation approach. The income
capitalisation approach is calculated by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provision for
any reversionary income potential.

As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, all investment properties
of the Group are valued by reference to a Level 3 fair value
measurement.
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RPEALNEENEEYENRFET
EREERLEEZ2ZRAM S A FLA LR
ZHERXRGBERADEREGRELEMER

2T o

NRBARNRENEONRAFETIEREAE
KAEMERE - WAB KRB BE RN
BAMPKENES WA ZER S ER/EER
BREWANEE REMTE -

MN20209F3 831 H M2019F3 A31H - £EE 2 B
BERENEHNBREE=ERAFEFTEHE-



Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

s — =

H =B

AfEET A

TREJNERTAEEHARE :

Unobservable inputs (note a)

FABRGAYE (Mia)
Market rent (note b) Adjusted market price (note c)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square foot per month) (per square foot)
ik kA ED) AETHBEE (HiEc)
ATE BA{LE (BASEAR) (BFER)
Investment properties (note d)
REME Hitd)
Hong Kong
Bt
Industrial (note ) HK$1,040.8 million 3.250% to 3.875% HK$23 to HK$39 N/A
(2019; HK$942.8 million) (2019: 3.875% 10 4.000%) (2019: HK$19 to HK$39)
T (fiske) 100085 BE T 3.250% % 3.875% 2B ILEETT THEA
(2019%F : 9428E BB L) (20194 : 3.875%Z4.000%) (2019F 1 19 L E39ETT)
Commercial HK$9,230.0 million 3.375% t0 7.250% HK$18 to HK$83 N/A
(2019; HK$8,565.7 milion) (2019: 3.375% to 7.250%) (2019: HK$18 to HK$75)
[5E 92300EEH T 3.375% £ 7.250% 18 L E83HE T TEH
(2019% : 8565.7HE B T) (2019% : 3.375%Z7.250%) (2019% 18 LETSETT)
Residential HK$2,862.0 million N/A N/A HK$7,300 to HK$31,700
(2019; HK$952.4 million) (2019: HK$7,300 to HK$27,000)
fFE 28620EBHA T @R @ 7,3007%5 7L £31,7005 7T
(2019%F : 9524 BB L) (20194 : 7,300/ L 227,000 L)
Mainland China
HE A
Residential HK$60.4 million N/A N/A RMB10,200 to RMB11,300
(2019: HK$185.3 milion) (2019: RMB9,000 to RVMB12,100)
F=E BOAEBBTL TiEH THEA AR¥10200L E AR 11,3007C
(2019 : 185.3E BB TT) (2019F : AR¥EQ000LEARE
12,1007)
Thailand
#B
Residential HK$331.2 million N/A N/A THB2,300 to THB7,600
(2019: HK$345.2 milion) (2019: THB2,300 to THB7,600)
F=E BI2EBAT TiEH TiEH 2,300% $k £ 7,600% £k
(2019 : 3452 B TT) (2019% : 2,300% £ 27,6005 £)
Japan
=N
Commercial HK$315.4 million 3.7% JPY730 N/A
(2019; HK$298.2 million) (2019: 3.7%) (2019; JPY700)
[EE 35ABEBAT 37% 730H @A
(2019% : 2982 B EATT) (2019% : 3.7%) (2019% : 700E )
Residential HK$823.7 million 3.3% 10 3.9% JPY410t0 JPY510 N/A
(2019; HK$793.0 million) (2019: 3.4% t0 4.0%) (2019: JPY410 10 JPY510)
i 8B7TEERT 3.3%%3.9% HOAEZE5108E TEH
(2019% : 793.0BEETT) (2019% : 3.4%Z4.0%) (2019% : 410B B 2510
HE)
Investment properties under
construction
ERRENE
Hong Kong
B
Commercial Nil N/A N/A N/A
(2019: HK$352.0 milion) (2019: 5.875%) (2019: HK$61)
[ i TERA TEA TiEH
(2019 : 352.0E B A TT) (2019% : 5.875%) (2019% : 61357L)
Residential HK$103.0 million N/A N/A HK$35,300
(2019: nil) (2019: N/A)
=z 1030E BB TERA TiEH 35,300% 7
(2019 : &) (2019F : T F)

ERAXEREEERARF
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Notes:

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are () the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; (i) the higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value; and (i) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher the
fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(c) Adjusted market price takes into account the recent transaction prices for
similar properties adjusted timing of reference transactions and property-specific
adjustments including nature, location and condition of the property.

(d) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to
the market rent and adjusted market price, but inversely correlated to the
capitalisation rate.

(e) The Group has obtained approval to convert an investment property from
industrial to commercial use and the refurbishment works are underway. Such
property is valued at HK$980.0 million (2019: HK$882.0 million) as at 31 March
2020.

There were no transfers among different levels of the fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior years.
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B 5E

@ T HERGAMBEEANFERZBERNE X
e ATEBE: (\THEHEsEs AFERS: &
(iNEAEMSEEES  AFELS -

(o) AR KAt w2 B & & E 5 F =
(BlomERERNZEZR -

0 KHEMSEREHREAELERFRHE RS
MEAMAZERSENEAE(BEDE ML it
B ABESL) o

0 REMENRFEFEEATZHS REHEMIZE
WMETEMER BERENMCEAE R -

e SEENBKB - EREMEHIEESAPNERLED
HofE WIEGEETEIHN T2 - xWERK 202063 A31H
H1EA980.0 8 B T (20194 : 882.0@ BB T) °
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The movements during the year in the balance of investment FHXNE=ERATEFE T ZIREYE &4

properties under Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: ZEEWNT
Investment
property
Investment under
properties  construction Total
RENE TEEREWE st
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEAETT BEAETT
At 1 April 2018 M2018F 4 H1H 11,136.2 119.0 11,255.2
Currency realignment BT (64.0) - (64.0)
Additions NE 11.8 153.4 165.2

Change in fair value recognised in RIBRERAZ AFEED
profit or loss

- Unrealised gains _REIB NS 1,037.8 79.6 1,117.4
Transferred from property, plant and 8 # & ¥ % - & K& 6

equipment 65.0 - 65.0
Adjustment of cost for renovation and = TR E M E 2 BIF &

conversion work of certain TN ARE

investment properties (104.2) - (104.2)
At 31 March 2019 MR2019F 3 A31H 12,082.6 352.0 12,434.6
Currency realignment B (9.3) - 9.3)
Additions INE 21.5 230.8 252.3
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui B BT BB A &) 760.0 - 760.0
Transferred to investment properties 2% RSk £ s8R T & W %

upon completion of development 577.0 (577.0) -

Change in fair value recognised in RIBRERZ A FEEDH
profit or loss

- Realised gains on disposals -HERZEEH K E 3.3 - 3.3

— Unrealised gains - RER W= 144.9 0.8 1441
Disposal k= (24.6) - (24.9)
Transferred from properties held EREAFELEME

for sale 1,181.0 - 1,181.0
Transferred from properties held for/ & 5t H & F %R/

under development for sale BEBYE - 98.0 98.0
Transferred from property, plantand ##E B W  WE L&

equipment 29.2 - 29.2
Transferred to property, plant and BEBEEYE  BE MK

equipment (102.1) - (102.1)
At 31 March 2020 R2020F 3 A31H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BERKZE

Fumiture, Plant, Ferries,
Leasehold Commercial fixtures machinery  launches
Hotel Freehold landand andleisure  Leasehold and and andmotor Construction
properties land  buildings facilities improvements equipment equipment  vehicles in progress Total
AAERE HEL® BAR BR%E BE HE E& Ak
BEENE i REBF BERE AENEEE  RRE  RRE  RRE  EBIER &5
HKSM  HKSM  HKSM HKSM HKSM HKS'M HKSM HKSM HKSM  HKSM
BE¥n BEER AEER BEER BE¥n EBEER BEER BEER  HEER BBER
CosT RE
At1 April 2018 2018418 14631 2706 7120 666.9 369.6 3523 67.7 5672 636 45330
Currency realignment ERRE (112) 5.7) 08 - 08 13 - (04) 09 @11
Addttions = 186 - 11 - 46 330 - 438 1329 2740
Disposals/write-off &/ (8.1 - - (27) (19.4) (25.1) - (209 03 @74
Transfer to investment properties ERERANFE - - (49.4) - - - - - - (494)
Reclassification ENDE 719 - - - - - - - 1.9 -
At 31 March 2019 H201953A31H 15383 2649 6629 639.3 3940 3589 67.7 589.7 1234 46391
Currency realignment EBEE (254) 09 04 - (1.1) (1.1) - 03 01) @75
Addttions NE 30 - 1.0 - 584 240 - 1121 2720 4705
Disposals/write-off &M (26.1) - - - 6.8) (116) - (26) 03 (@74
Disposal of subsiciaries (Note 35) ! Fif B /2 2 (i 3%:35) - - - - 73) (39.1) - (05) - 69
Transfer to investment properties BREERENE - - (232) - - - - - - B2
Transferred from investment properties E#& B 1X &M E - - 102.1 - - - - - - 1021
Reclassfication Eip ] 47 - - - - - - - (@) -
At 31 March 2020 #202063R31R 3903  5,056.7
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT #7 & & % &
At 1 April 2018 201854 A18 6492 - 1724 4361 223 2344 67.6 4218 - 22198
Currency realignment ERRE 00 - - - 02 (1.0 - 03 - (10
Provided for the year TEERE 57.7 - 16.5 148 345 232 - 185 - 1652
Eliminated on disposals/write-off HE/MERE S (@1 - - (199) (194) (247) - (204) - By
Transfer to investment properties BRRRENE - - 00 - - - - - - 00
At 31 March 2019 H201953A31 8 693.8 - 1799 4310 2472 2319 67.6 4256 - 22110
Currency realignment EHAE (208) - 01) - (06) 08 - 03 - (28
Provided for the year TEERE 618 - 16.4 136 354 232 - 185 - 1689
Eliminated on disposals/write-off HE/M NS (259) - - - 63 (114) - @8 - 462
Eliminated on disposal of HENBARRYH
subsidlaries (Note 35) (Hizk3s) - - - - “9) (333 - 05) - B8
Impaiment loss recognised ERAREER
Transfer to investment properties BRTRENE
At 31 March 2020 12020635318
CARRYING VALUES RAE
At 31 March 2020 202053831 A
At 31 March 2019 201953A31H 8445 2649 4830 208.3 1468 127.0 0.1 164.1 1234 23621
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[tems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Hotel properties 3-40 years

Freehold land No depreciation

Leasehold land and buildings, 5-50 years, or over
commercial and leisure facilities the lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5 years, or over the lease

term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3—7 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 5-15 years

Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 3-20 years

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

EETRMINZYE BERKREBEEBRIA
TEFAERFRHABRENE

B TE ) % 3-404F

KA FERE L1 WEFE

HELHRET 5-504F =k fis 8 %2 - Bl

B8 AEEHR

HEWEEE S5ERWEE Al B
FAE R

R BB RRE 3-7%F
R - 23 M AR A 5-154F
- AR RE 3-204F

17. ERAEEE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and
buildings equipment Total
HE i H M -
kRiEF HERXHE et
HK$’M HK$’M HK$’M

BEEET BEEBET BEAER

As at 1 April 2019 MR2019F481H
Carrying amount BRMEE 52.4 1.0 53.4
As at 31 March 2020 20203 A31H
Carrying amount REE 70.9 0.7 71.6
For the year ended 31 March 2020 #H Z202053H31 HI-FE
Depreciation charge WEXH 21.9 0.3 222
Expense relating to short-term leases £ %8 HATH & K £ {th 78 Hf
and other leases with lease terms RERERT BB
end within 12 months of the date of ~ ¥R&E*RIF 1658 E B
initial application of HKFRS 16 HET12ME A A& R
ﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁi 16.4
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R A 38.2
Additions to right-of-use assets N E ﬁ R#EEE 37.3
For both years, the Group leases various offices, ferry pier, R EHREEE EEBEAZEARAE - E
leasehold land, warehouses and equipment for its operations. #fiE5E - FHE Lt - AERBREIELERS -
Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 50 &4 i1 5N F61E 5 E50E M E E E Hﬁ
years, but may have termination options. Lease terms are  AJ 8% M %5 4% | #E o 70 BR 4% B L EHE R

negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

FESZERIRGER LGS  RETHH R
FETARENRNERES  SEEAAD
MERLEEAXNNARBNITHR -
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The Group has termination option in the lease for the ferry pier. The
termination option held is exercisable only by the respective lessor
and not by the Group. The Group assesses at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 whether it is reasonably certain not to
exercise the termination options by the respective lessor and the
Group considers that the termination option will not be exercised
after considering the significant initial cost incurred on the leased
properties and the removal cost that may arise.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain
that a termination option will not be exercised, upon the occurrence
of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. During the year ended 31
March 2020, there is no such triggering event.

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/AMOUNTS DUE
FROM ASSOCIATES

SERNERBBCHETERRILE IR
Bz I-#EERNHHEREBEATTER M3k
HEETE - RERXERBEUHEREER
F1RER EEFHERESAEEEAH
HEATSTERLE KEZBHEEMEMN
EEZERNEMAN R GEEEZ FRBRA
% SERREILESTETE-

AN HEEREBAZENBEANAZERXN
EHLAERBRLEY SHEEHNFEES
DREMERLERTETE RNEE2020
FIANBLFEAMBELELZSHESM -

18. Bt & 1\ ) 2 & 15 / B W

= N 8 T IE

Cost of unlisted shares FE ETMRR G 2 AR

Share of reserve DG

Share of post-acquisition losses, DG YR 18 518
net of dividends received BB WA B

& Ui Bt & R R SRR

(Bt 5 25(b))

Amounts due from associates
(Note 25(b))

Share of post-acquisition losses of
associates covered by binding obligation
(note)

ZBEREZ
Yk 1 18 (P A1)

DHEBHOREE TR

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEAT BEATT
592.7

(584.7) (584.6)
4.1 8.1

Note: The Group is obliged to make good the net deficits of Tung Chung Station
Development Company Limited (“TCSDCL”) and Polyoung Limited (“Polyoung”)
in proportion to its interests in TCSDCL and Polyoung. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group’s obligation in this connection amounted to HK$584.7 million
(2019: HK$584.6 million) and accordingly, the same amount has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and presented as a
deduction from the Group’s advances to TCSDCL and Polyoung.
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The summarised financial information of the Group’s associates as
at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 is set out below:

&= EEE N AR 2020F3 A31 H X 201943 A
SIBZHMBEERBEHTMOT :

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEBTT

Total assets BEBE 15.8 28.5
Total liabilities BEBE (1,901.6) (1,914.1)
Net liabilities BEEH (1,885.8) (1,885.6)
Group’s share of net assets SENHEEFE - -
Group’s share of net liabilities SESEBESFSE (584.7) (584.6)

(584.7) (584.6)
Turnover BER 0.1 0.2
Loss for the year KFEEIE (0.2) 0.6)
Group’s share of results for the year SESMAFEEE (0.1) (0.2)

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March
2020 and 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 45(c).

The financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
associates is not material and no separate summarised financial

information of each associate is presented.

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

The interests in joint ventures include the Group’s 50% equity

interest in Dazhongli. An analysis is as follows:

& B B202043 31 H k2019963 A31H &
FERE DT ZFBER M E45(0)

EMEESHE AT KA LA
ERRE S RS PN TR L e et
B -

19. B QT 2R

EERA D BREBRNKF E 250%K
B EomT

Interests in:
Dazhongli
Other joint ventures

K5
R 2

HAE QA

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEAET BEAT
7,264.9

1,498.8

8,763.7
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DAZHONGLI

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) are engaged in
the operation of investment properties and hotel properties in the
Jing’an District of Shanghai in mainland China.

K &8
ARFBEREMBARTAPEERRDREL
BRURTFEALEETHREZRENDER
BIEWE -

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBTT BEET
Cost of unlisted shares IEEMRG Z AR 0.1
Cumulative exchange differences (note @) Z =& X, = %8 (i :Ta) 321.6
Share of post-acquisition profits 15 W HE 18 2,241.6
2,563.3

Loans to Dazhongli BERTRHE
— Non-interest bearing (note b) -5 B (HiEb) 4,420.9
— Interest bearing (note c) -5 B (KtsEe) 280.7
7,264.9

Notes:

(@) These represent the exchange realignment and exchange differences relating
to translation of the loans advanced by the Group to Dazhongli, which are
denominated in US dollars and HK dollars, that form part of net investment in
foreign operations.

(b) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayment. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand
repayment of these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. The directors of the Company believe the settlement of these
loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future as they, in substance, form
part of net investment in Dazhongli group as the proceeds of the loans have
been substantially used by Dazhongli to inject as registered capital into its PRC
subsidiary. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-current asset and
included in the Group’s interests in joint ventures for the purpose of presentation
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(c) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per annum
and repayable in December 2022. Pursuant to the undertaking of bank loans,
Dazhongli group is refraining from settling the loans from shareholders until the
settlement of all bank loans. The directors of the Company believe the settlement
of these loans is not likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
amount is classified as non-current asset and included in the Group’s interests in
joint ventures for the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Dazhongli group as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 is set
out below.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

R B & B R2020463HA31H R201943 A
STAZEEMBEMBEEHIWT -

BERAEEDREARE

HFERAMBRE -

1,911.6
125.6

24,249.9

790.1
446.8

1,236.9

678.6
8,873.8
1,295.7

10,848.1

9,611.2)

14,638.7

7,155.6
501.5
1,668.8
148.5

9,474.4

5,164.3

Non-current assets IEREBEE
Investment properties WEME
Property, plant and equipment WE - HER&E
Other non-current assets HithIERBEE

Current assets mEEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEB AR S
Other current assets HEmmehEE

Current liabilities mENBE
Bank loans — secured RITER-FEIE
Loans from shareholders BRER
Other current liabilities HiisaE

Net current liabilities MBI AGEFE

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBDER

Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Bank loans — secured RITER-FEE
Loans from shareholders BRE R
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIBAG
Other non-current liabilities HEMIERBEE

Net assets BEFE

Group’s share of net assets SENHEEFE

2,5682.2

2019
HK$'M
BEBTT

22,779.7
2,131.5
211.9

25,1231

983.7
567.4

1,661.1

699.5
9,403.1
1,614.9

11,717.5
(10,166.4)
14,956.7

9,830.0
5126.7
2,563.3

ERAXEAREBERAR 20102020 £ 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

For the year ended 31 March
BZESHA3NHLEFE

2020 2019

HK$'M HK$'M

BEER BEET

Revenue PN 1,636.5 1,518.1
Direct operating expenses BEEEES DY (5615.7) (504.1)
1,120.8 1,014.0

Other income H b g A 55.5 21.4

Change in fair value of investment KEWMERNFLEEDH

properties 437.3 1,280.5
Other expenses H bz 1 (226.4) (296.2)
Finance costs B E R (385.5) (405.2)
Taxation BIE (250.8) (145.2)
Net profit after taxation for the year IR E BB BB F 5% T 750.9 1,469.3
Group’s share of results for the year EENEAFEEE 375.4 734.7

Note: The investment properties were measured at 31 March 2020 at fair value
of HK$22,212.7 million (equivalent to RMB20,295.7 million) (2019: HK$22,779.7
million (equivalent to RMB19,540.2 million)) which was based on the valuation
conducted by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, who has appropriate qualification
and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant
locations. The valuation of investment properties was determined by using
income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach was
calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies
with due provision for any reversionary income potential. The fair value
measurement of investment properties was valued under Level 3 fair value
measurement, which was measured based on the significant unobservable
inputs including the estimated market rent and capitalisation rate. The increase in
the balance of investment properties for the year ended 31 March 2020 as
stated above was mainly due to the fair value gain of HK$437.3 million (2019:
HK$1,280.5 million) and additions to investment properties. The attributable
deferred taxation charge in respect of the gain was HK$109.3 million (2019:
HK$320.1 million). Thus the net fair value gain after tax amounted to HK$328.0
million (2019: HK$960.4 million) of which the Group’s 50% share of gain was
HK$164.0 million (2019: HK$480.2 million). The investment properties are held
within a business model of the joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale.
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Level 3 valuation methodology EFE-ERHERE

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs: T~ &k £ %1 8 A~ 7] £§ 22 85 A &% -

Unobservable inputs (note a)

AABEGEAYE (Za)
Estimated market rent (note b)
Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square metre per month)
fhEtmEE L (fEb)
DN¥E ERfE (BAGEHXK)
Investment properties (note c)
wEME (Mo
Mainland China
B A
Commercial HK$22,212.7 million 3.5% 10 6.25% RMB247 to RMB1,015
[ (2019: HK$22,779.7 million) (2019: 3.5% t0 5.5%) (2019: RMB243 to RMB862)
22127TEEBTT 3.5% £ 6.25% AR®E247 L E ARM1,0157T
(2019%F : (2019%F : (2019%F : ARM243 L%
2779.7TEEET) 3.5%%5.5%) AR#8627T)
Notes: BeaE -

(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are () the higher the  (a) FATER R @ A BIEE QA FEM 2R A()E AL =R
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; and (i) the higher the estimated #i& AFEBE: LifEFstmiEEetds AFE
market rent, the higher the fair value. BE o

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual b) BB LA MEEYEZHME MEREZE
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property. (FlanEmRAN ZZER -

(c) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to ) BREMEN AT EAELEGTHSEES 2 EHEE -
the estimated market rent, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate. BEERRE2KARE-

The capital commitments of Dazhongli group at 31 March 2020 kK & B £ EH A 2020F3 A31 H K 201943 A
and 31 March 2019 are as follows: S1THBZEARAEWNT

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
HEABT BEBT

Contracted but not provided for EEOBRIEREG 44.6

The capital commitments of Dazhongli group attributable to the &EE@BR AR BEER 7 ERNAEE L& 5E 2
Group represents 50% of the amounts stated above, will be 50% @ BHZKLHRESREEE BREERF K
financed by net cash flow from operation, shareholders’ loan or FHRBEEH 7 HEEERNES

direct borrowings of Dazhongli group.
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OTHER JOINT VENTURES THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY
MATERIAL

HM@EREERZ G SR A

2020 2019
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEBT BEET
Cost of unlisted shares JE TR Z A 6.3
Share of reserve DG (3.1)
Share of post-acquisition gains, DG Y B 1B U Es
net of dividends received R B AR 2 199.0
202.2
Loans to other joint ventures (note) ERTFHMEERF (T 1,604.0
1,806.2
Less: Amount included under B FTARBEEZ
current assets (807.4)
1,498.8

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and have no fixed terms
of repayment. As at 31 March 2020, the loans to other joint ventures included an
amount of HK$300.2 million (2019: HK$620.3 million) bearing interest at fixed
rates at 3.0% (2019: 3.0% to 3.5%) per annum and an amount of HK$402.7
million (2019: HK$255.7 million) bearing interest at 2% per annum over 1-month
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”). The remaining balance is non-
interest bearing. As at 31 March 2019, except for a loan to a joint venture of
HK$307.4 milion, of which the development project was completed and
launched for sale, and the Group expected the settlement to be within 12
months, the Group had no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of
other loans within the following twelve months. Accordingly, HK$307.4 million
was classified as current assets and the remaining amounts were classified as
non-current assets and included in the Group’s interests in joint ventures for the
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019. The amounts of the loans to joint ventures are classified as non-
current assets as at 31 March 2020.
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The summarised financial information in respect of other joint
ventures as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 is set out below:

Hih& & A RIM202043 A31 H R 201943 A
BIAZMBERBERIIAT

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAET BEAT

6,155.4
(5,542.4)

613.0

346.8

1,078.1

227.4

Total assets BE®RHE

Total liabilities BfERwE

Net assets BEFHE

Group’s share of net assets SENEEEFE
Turnover = -0

Net profit after taxation for the year KEERBEF R T
Group’s share of results for the year EESMMAFEELE

131.2

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March
2020 and 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 45(d).

20. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY
SECURITIES

Investments in debt instruments RBEKAGE L
measured at amortised cost BEEIARE
Debt securities (note a) B EH (Mita)

Current e
Non-current FERE

Equity instruments measured at BATEFAEMEEKE

FVTOCI AEZRATIA
Listed equity securities (note b) ERRAE S (iito)
Unlisted equity securities (note ¢) FEMBRAES (Hitc)
Analysed for reporting purposes as: ~ AZ2WEH Z AWM :
Non-current FERE
Market value of listed equity securities 7 R AN 55 3% 7 i /8
Listed in Hong Kong REE LD
Listed overseas RN LT
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABZZEHMEE
Unlisted equity securities (note d) FEmBRAES (Fiiitd)
Listed debt securities (note €) FHEBES ([Hite)
Unlisted debt securities (note f) I EERE S ()
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  AEHmEM ZoMOT ¢
Non-current EmE

£ EP2020F3 A31H k20193 A31B &+
BELENA 2 FBFHRME450)

20 EHERREARZZRE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2020 using
R2020F3 31 HAFEFHE

Level 1 Level 3

2020 E-—ER E=BH
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BHEABT BHEBT
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Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2019 using

R201943 A31 B A FEE

Level 1 Level 3
2019 F-ER F-ER
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT BEBT
Investments in debt instruments BEERANGTEY
measured at amortised cost BEHIERE
Debt securities (note a) BB EH (HiEa)
Current Vi) 27.9
Non-current ERE 60.7
88.6
Equity instruments measured at BEATEFAEMEAKRS
FVTOCI FEZRATA
Listed equity securities (note b) ETRAE S (K b) 337 33.7 -
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  A2W{EHZAMOT
Non-current FERE 33.7
Market value of listed equity securites R A& % 2 T {E
Listed in Hong Kong REE LT 226 226 -
Listed overseas RgsEm 1.1 111 -
33.7 33.7 -
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFESABGZEHEE
Unlisted equity securities (note d) FLEmBRAES (iHitd) 3359 - 335.9
Listed debt securities (note ) EmEBES (Mite) 60.5 60.5 -
396.4 60.5 335.9
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  AZ2HEHM 2 DM ¢
Non-current FERE 396.4

Notes:

(@) The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash
flows and these cash flows consist solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

(b) The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the fair
value changes of certain equity investments. These investments are not held for
trading and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

The fair value of listed equity securities amounting to HK$18.5 million (2019:

HK$33.7 million) are determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices
available on the relevant exchanges in active markets as at 31 March 2020.
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(©) The unlisted equity securiies of HK$37.4 milion (2019: nil) represent  (c) 37.4E & 7T (20194 : ) 2 3k F MR AN B 5 1%
investment in unquoted equity investment in a private operating company which BRI I EE TR A2 AL AR 2 ERERAIEE -

is not held for trading purpose.

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment is determined using valuation BB ERANIGEZATENNERHERL(BEREF
techniques including earnings multiples (based on the historical earnings S8 (ERNAILLE LT AT ZEE B AEH) R EAXEL
multiples of comparable listed companies) and a fundamental discount factor IR ZEH(ERFLA AT EHAI LW FH A A 2 EZ 82 E
(based on the historical correlation between multiples of the private company KB L ABB L)) METE - EA T EB R A S5
and comparable listed companies). The significant unobservable inputs include A LEE AR Z A REE (GF R LB A Al 2 258
price-to-earnings multiples of comparables, taking into account of the scale of 1) e M A REFHE M F A B EH A FEEMIE N &
the business of the comparables. A slight increase in the price-to-earnings IR ERBEE ZHEMBERATERY k2
multiples would result in a slight increase in fair value and vice versa. An increase TRAA o

in the fundamental discount factor would result in a decrease in fair value and

vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant AR EEERAEBHMAERBSEEmMS I TAE K 7
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is EFHEE TN BRBEEH s ZERBEHXRE DN -

insignificant to the Group.

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

FLETRABSZEBOT -

2020
HK$'M
HEBT
Balance at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 #2018%F 4 518 K20194F3 431 A 2 &
Acquisition during the year F AU
Net fair value loss to other comprehensive income REMEmKET 2 AFEFBIE
Balance at end of the year FREH

(d) As at 31 March 2020, the unlisted equity securities represent investments in -~ (d) 7420203 A31H » 3k F TR A E 5 AL EREE
private equity funds of HK$188.4 million (2019: HK$103.1 million) and unquoted 4 2~ & & 188.4 1 & 6 7t (20194F : 1031 B & /& T) &
equity investment of HK$213.8 million (2019: HK$232.8 million) which are IR ER ARG E213.8B EB T (20194F : 2328H &8
measured using valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed in o) EARAGERGEE ZERITHh 2B AR A
the market in addition to unobservable inputs such as company specific financial BB ERMSEHE LT ERG ASE (WA RE

information.

EMEER) MEE -

ERAXEREEARAA FH



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investments in private equity
funds, management has determined that the reported net asset value of the
private equity funds provided by the general partners represent the fair value of
the private equity funds. The general partners used different valuation
methodologies to measure different underlying investments of the funds. The
general partners measured the unrestricted actively traded public equity and
debt investments at the closing price or bid price of the identical assets as of
measurement date. The general partners also used methodology based on
relevant comparable data whether possible to quantify the adjustment from cost,
transaction prices or latest financing price when adjustment if necessary, or to
justify that cost, transaction prices or latest financing price is still a proper
approximation of fair value of the underlying investments held by the investment
funds in determining the net asset value. The factors to be considered in
assessment may require the judgement. For those investments that have
achieved positive and sustainable operating performance, the general partners
adopted Earning Multiples Methodology. The valuation using this methodology is
calculated by applying the most appropriate and reasonable multiple derived
from reference to market based conditions of quoted companies or recent
private transactions. If the multiples are derived from public company
comparable, it is discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and differences
between the comparable companies and portfolio companies, based on
company specific facts and circumstances according to the general partner’s
judgment. The general partners also adopted discounted cash flow methodology.
The cash flows are projected based on the budgeted cash flows of the portfolio
companies, which are adjusted for current market environment. The significant
unobservable inputs include discount rates ranging from 6.25% to 11.5%. The
discount rates are derived from observable return of comparable companies,
which are adjusted for considerations such as different capital structure, sizes
and other specific risk of the portfolio companies. The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value and vice versa.

For unquoted equity investment, the Group uses the net assets value of the
investee adjusting with the fair value of the underlying properties to determine the
fair value. The valuation of the underlying properties is determined by income
capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated by
capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due
provision for any reversionary income potential. The fair value measurement of
the underlying properties is measured based on the significant unobservable
inputs including the estimated market rent ranging from RMB143 to RMB469 (2019:
RMB142 to RMB449) per square meter and capitalisation rate of 4.5% (2019:
4.5%). The higher the market rent, the higher the fair value. The higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant

unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is
insignificant to the Group.
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The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

FLEMERABH ZEEHMT

2020
HKS$’'M
BEBRT
Balance at 1 April 2018 MN2018F4 A1 8 2 &8k
Acquisition during the year F R ULRE
Net fair value loss in profit or loss RIEEFZRAFEEFER
Proceeds from disposal & AR FE
Exchange realignment I 5 3 B
Balance at 31 March 2019 201943 A31H 2 & #k
Acquisition during the year F AUk B
Net fair value gain in profit or loss REEF 2 A FEFHE
Proceeds from disposal HERTE FE
Exchange realignment T H 3%
Balance at end of the year FRERR

(e) Even though the Group’s business model is to hold debt securities assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, the cash flows of these investments do
not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

The fair value of the debt securities as at 31 March 2020 is HK$52.2 million (2019:
HK$60.5 million) which is valued by reference to the Level 1 fair value
measurement deriving from quoted prices in active market for identical assets.
The weighted average effective interest rate is 6.0% (2019: 5.8%) per annum.

() The unlisted debt securities of HK$34.4 milion (2019: nil) represent
investment in an unquoted convertible loan to a private operating company.

The fair value of the unquoted convertible loan is determined based on Black-
Scholes pricing model with key inputs of the model including expected volatility,
share price, risk free rate and bond yield. An increase in the expected volatility
used in isolation would result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the
unquoted convertible loan.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant
unobservable data as the management considers that the exposure is

insignificant to the Group.

The movement in the unlisted debt securities is as follows:

@ BEKRBZEXBEASREABESFEEALRE
MRERE BHBEREZASRERNEFLIEZER
HMAEERSBEMNEZNARMAFEBESBRE £
AR ZRE o

MR2020F3A31H BB EFH 2 A FEAR2AE
JTL(2019F : 605 A EHBIT) R AFEDLEER™
S EHREEZREMEZE —BRAFETFEMME
B o IEFHERFHEE6.0% (20194 : 5.8%) ©

() 34.4EEHBIT(2019F : ) 2 EMEBHEFIEIR
BRm—EALE QARG ZEREATRBRER

EREVRBRERZATAEDRER 7 - TR E
BERAMEE ZEAZIZGARBREERR
W8 BRME R AR R E R R o B IL(E A
FRREENEEBERETARERZ ATFEFE
e

HREEERSFHAREEEMS Y TNEAN  HI
BB T BRRREDH R ERBEHREEIN -

FETEBELZZEHMT

2020
HK$'M
BEBET

Balance at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
Acquisition during the year
Net fair value loss in profit or loss

FRUHE

R2018F4 518 K2019463 531 B 2 &4

RiEzmF 2 A FEFER

FREH

Balance at end of the year

There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior year.

RAFERBEFE RFEERZTRARE
AT RIE: I
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. The valuation is performed at the end of
each reporting period. Where there is material change in the fair
value of the assets, the cause of the fluctuations will be reported to
the management of the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

21. OTHER ASSETS

NFEFERGERRE
EEAE-BERDTEAEETAENHBE
RIS R ABLE -

RiGHADFES RERTTERTRER
ATSTBRREE  HEREREARE
T-WAEZATENREAZY D
ZERBAEEERERS -

FRETEERATYEMERAZHERT RS
ABBZEHN EXHE-

21, Hth & E

2020 2019
HK$’'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
Mortgage instalment receivables (note a) & Y1248 9 BA ¢t 3% (ft 3T a) 49.6
Loan to an investee (note b) MR EHRER (K sEb) 106.2
Other assets Ht&EE 17.1
Deposits paid for acquisition of a piece g Rl =i bz
of land (note ¢) e (Miskc) 561.3
734.2
Less: Amounts included in deposits, B ARBEEZEZS -
prepayments and other TE A4 FRIE R H At FE R
receivables under current assets REMBEZEE (561.3)
172.9
Notes: B &E

(@) The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to
buyers of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at
prime rate minus 2.5% to prime rate and are receivable by instalments over a
period of not more than 25 years (2019: 25 years) from the sale of relevant flats.
The receivables are secured by a first mortgage or a second mortgage over the
respective properties. The portion of mortgage instalment receivables due within
one year of HK$3.9 million (2019: HK$1.5 million) is included as trade receivables
in current assets.

(b) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in
Singapore which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office
towers and a residential rental apartment in Tianjin, the PRC. The loan to the
investee is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has
no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of these loans within the
next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the
amount is classified as non-current asset for the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

() As at 31 March 2019, included in deposits, prepayments and other
receivables was an amount of HK$561.3 million which was related to deposits

paid for acquisition of a piece of land for property development project.
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22. INVENTORIES

2. 58
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEATT ER- v

Consumables 5

44.2

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

23 HHEGRR/BEDYRE

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
RV BEBTT

Properties held for/under development BEEBERAHLE

for sale in Hong Kong (Discovery Bay RER/BZEYME
development project) (=2 RELR)

Properties held for/under development EBEINMEEE

for sale outside Hong Kong BERR/BEEPME

3,024.9

1,651.6

4,576.5

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs capitalised
in the properties held for/under development for sale were HK$22.3
milion (2019: HK$20.6 million). The properties held for/under
development for sale amounting to HK$3,297.6 milion (2019:
HK$3,013.3 million) are expected to be recovered after twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

Effective from 1 April 2019, the carrying amount of leasehold lands
is measured under HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The residual values are
determined as the estimated disposal value of the leasehold land
component. No depreciation charge is made on the leasehold
lands taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31
March 2020.

K& ER 2235 &% 7L (20194 : 206 B
EBTICBEERADBEHEEFER/
BRAPYEZKA3207.6H &8 T (2019
F 30133 BEA L) ZHEEFLRRE/ER
R ETER R RS R 12E A& E o

BH2019F 481 - HET W Z2EEAAENLR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

24. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit periods allowed by the Group to its customers are
dependent on the general practices in the industries concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project and
are determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions.
Property rentals are receivable in advance. Payments for
healthcare, clubs and hotel services are receivable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the payment due
date at the end of the reporting period:

24. EWE 5 IR

SEGATEEFPZEEHMRTREA—RED
BEE-ROXHEHEMS HEGRRREME
HEME Y2RERTABE -WEES
AIREHN BERE @MEBERE 2
ERARERRENM -

UTRERESER(IREEBEREB RV
BEMRZIBANRBRE2NN ZRE D

2020 2019

HK$’'M HK$' M

BEEBT BEBT

Not yet due 5 A | B2 10.4
Overdue: W HY -

0-60 days 0-60X 22.5

61-90 days 61-90K 2.9

Over 90 days @0k 7.3

43.1

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balances are debtor with aggregate carrying amount of HK$28.9
million (2019: HK$32.7 million) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$3.3 million (2019:
HK$7.3 million) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default because based on the Group’s historical
information, the counterparty is of a good credit quality and usually
settles after due date. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue beyond
120 days because historical experience is such that receivables
that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable.
Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables
and considers the trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired to be of a good credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 43.
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25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables is an
amount of HK$191.5 million (2019: HK$12.0 million) which is sale
proceeds arising from property sales held by stakeholders.

Included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables is also an
amount of HK$560.0 million (2019: nil) which represents the cash
held by a financial institution on behalf of the Group at 31 March
2020 for the settlement of the HK$560.0 million 7-year unlisted
notes with maturity date of 2 April 2020. The amount is settled
subsequently upon redemption of the HK$560.0 million 7-year
unlisted notes (see Note 28).

Bank balances and cash represent cash held by the Group and

short-term bank deposits at market interest rate ranging from 0.01%
10 2.32% (2019: 0.01% to 3.08%) per annum as at 31 March 2020.

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-trade
nature, non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 43.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are
trade payables of HK$137.4 million (2019: HK$160.3 million), an
aged analysis presented based on the payment due date at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

2. ENEZIRMN
HE-¥i:

ENESER BEREFERTEEEN
Z SR M187.48 &5 L (20194 : 160.3E B
B U TARBREHAREINHFRBHE
F 2 BRER DT

BEkE

2020
HK$'M
BHEBET

2019
HK$'M
BEAT

Not yet due &) A 5| 82
Overdue: B -
0-60 days 0-60K
61-90 days 61-90K
Over 90 days #8890 K

107.3

20.1
19.9
13.0

160.3

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment for
subcontractor works is 90 days.

The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include (i)
construction cost accruals of HK$603.6 million (2019: HK$401.2
million); and (ii) provisions for certain construction obligations of
HK$328.5 million (2019: HK$328.5 million). In the course of the
property development activities, the Group is obliged to construct
certain common or public facilities within the development projects
in accordance with the development plans approved by the relevant
authorities. Provision for such construction costs has been made
when a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made and the
amount of this obligation is HK$328.5 million as at 1 April 2018, 31
March 2019 and 31 March 2020.
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

27. BB

Property sale deposits MEHERS
Advance payments from customers BFEEMNR

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAET BEAT
1,673.7

25.6

1,599.3

At 1 April 2018, contract liabilities amounted to HK$2,110.8 million.

The following table show how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

R2018F4H1H " &4 &8 & £211088 B

o

o 3
I

TREINAFEEZ IO ERRARLES
BHNRERR-

Revenue recognised that was included FFAFYIEHNAEE
in contract liabilities balances at the EERE BRI A
beginning of the year
Property sales deposits MEBEELS
Advance payment from customers EPEEMR

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
HEBET BEBTT
1,680.4

34.2

1,614.6

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

SALES OF PROPERTIES

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement.
However, depending on market conditions, the Group may offer
customers a discount compared to the listed sales price, provided
that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing. The advance payment
schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period until the customer obtains control
of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment schemes
contain significant financing component and accordingly the
amount of consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time value
of money taking into consideration the credit characteristics of the
relevant group entities. As this accrual increases the amount of the
contract liability during the period of construction, it increases the
amount of revenue recognised when control of the completed
property is transferred to the customer.

YEERRANAMSEN — BRI RER
mF :

HE W%

SEEXPREEEBARAEIWRENE
BEZB%ETONIEREE - R RFHR -
SEARAEFREHREEMEESEMRLLON
N #EFARERYMEREZBRREAMN XN
RELEH BEANRFHERRNMEREE
AHRRERANVAE BEEXPEBSYHER
T 56 RO 428 ) 4

i EERREANKAZSBEERARE
MRS EBEEARERSEHEETERAE
RESF EFFMEAEEEERNEER
HoBRZEAERENNEZEDRRANG LD
BESRE HENRNERMEENEERT
EFREINBATE -
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28. BANK AND OTHER LOANS

28. RITREMER

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEEAT BEATT
Bank loans (note a) RITEH (M Ta) 5,619.7
Bonds and notes (note b) BEH R EE (FtEb) 1,066.9
6,686.6
Less: Amount included under current BT ARBAEREZ
liabilities (including bank loans cHE(BEAEA
with a repayable on demand BERFEREERKERZ
clause) RITEH) (4,108.8) (906.2)
Amount included under non-current SAERDERB
liabilities k| 3,212.4 5,780.4
Bank and other loans are repayable: RITREMERK
AR T HREE -
On demand or within one year BERS—FA 906.2
Between one and two years —EWMENR 5,216.0
Between two and five years —E=2hHFR 564.4
6,686.6
Secured o i 142.0
Unsecured 4 1K 6,544.6
6,686.6
Bank loans that contain a repayable on BEREAREREN
demand clause (shown under current BBIESHZHRITED
liabilities) and the scheduled payment is (RNmahaEyr)
(note c): BEFH A (MiEe) :
Within one year —F R 106.2
Notes: B -

(@) As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s bank loans carried interest at an average
margin of 1.06% (2019: 1.26%) plus HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered
rates or other benchmark interest rates per annum.

(o) On 2 April 2013, the Company issued principal amount of HK$560.0 million 7-year
unlisted notes at a coupon rate of 4.5% per annum. Subsequently on 10 April
2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note Programme
(“MTN Programme”). In May 2013, a total principal amount of HK$238.0 million
7-year unlisted notes at a coupon rate of 4.3% per annum was issued under the
MTN Programme. Furthermore, as at 31 March 2020, there was outstanding
bond with principal amount of HK$273.6 million (2019: HK$269.8 million) which
carried interest at an average margin of 0.47% (2019: 0.47%) plus the relevant
interbank offered rates per annum.

In April 2020 and May 2020, the HK$560.0 million 7-year unlisted notes and the

HK$238.0 million 7-year unlisted notes were fully settled respectively.

(c) The amounts due are based on scheduled payment dates set out in the
respective loan agreements.
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29. LEASE LIABILITIES 2. HESE

2020
HK$'M
BEBTT
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEAE:
Within one year —F R
Within a period of more than one year but not —FUEEAEAMT 2 BER

more than two years
Within a period of more than two years but not  EA FETBBRE 2 IR
more than five years

Within a period of more than five years AFNEZ AR
Less: Amount due for settlement with A RB AR ES R12ME A K
12 months shown under BIEgE R 2 3B

current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12 months RIERB A &Y R~12{@A %
shown under non-current liabilities BHREE 2 A

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other thanthe AMBBEE T & 2 e S U N S 5HE
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out & &AVES T :
below:

Japanese yen Renminbi Thai baht
= AR 7S
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEERER BEEAER BEEAERT

As at 31 March 2020 20203 A 31 H 1.8 7.3 2.7

ERAEEAREBERAR 20192020 £ 199



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

30. OTHER LIABILITIES

30 Hh& &\

2020 2019
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEET BEBT
Advances from non-controlling JEIERBER 2

shareholders (note a) 2 (Msta) 695.6 561.2
Advance from a joint venture (note b) BERR 2B (M ED) 175.6 -
Club debentures EMES 809.9 809.9
1,681.1 1,371.1

Less: Amount due within one year B EFARBEBEZ —FR
included under current liabilities Z|Hf R IE (350.6) -
Amount due after one year — F % B H R IE 1,330.5 1,371.1

Notes:

(@) The amount represents advances from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries to finance operation of those subsidiaries. As at 31 March 2020,
included in advances from non-controlling shareholders is an amount of
HK$636.2 million (2019: HK$537.5 million) which bears interest at 3-month
HIBOR plus 3.5% (2019: 3-month HIBOR plus 3.5%). The amount is unsecured.
Except for the advance from a non-controlling shareholder amounting to
HK$175.0 million, which is expected to be settled in the coming twelve months
that is presented as current liabilities, the remaining amount is not repayable
within one year.

(b) The advance from a joint venture is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

Club debentures are redeemable on their maturity dates, which are
as follows:

GEE

@ ZABAWBARIJFIERBRAR  AUNBENZSE
B AR ZEMND - N2020E3 A31H @ FEHEA AR R =4
KB IE A #636.28 &8 T (20194 : 53755 BB 7T)
%R3ME A BB R EIFE R M35 % (20194 : #£31E A
HEBRZEF S X M3.5%) 518 o %7 E I &L - BR
ABE175.08 BB TAFEHRNRFKA2MEA NEEZ IS

BERRBR (2N RRDEE) N BT REBREN —
FREE-
b FAEERAZERSEERN RERARER

ERRFARSAZHAME  ZF2HA
LN
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBER BEBTT

In 2047 A 2047

809.9 809.9

These debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured and are
issued to members of the following clubs operated by the Group:

WEEHFHASRE BERRETT NIH
SEMREZEMNER

Discovery Bay Golf Club MmEESmAEe
Discovery Bay Recreation Club MREFELS

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBER BEBTT
661.2

148.7

809.9
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting years:

31. IRIER 1B

MR E R BRI B A (& 8) 4 &
RERBARBEREFHE B

Fair value Distributable

Accelerated  change of profits of

tax investment Tax foreign
depreciation  properties losses  subsidiaries  Others Total

mEHRE RENE SN S A )
nE AFESZD BHEEFR THIIREF Hith Bt
HK$'M HK$SM  HK$M HK$M  HKSM  HK$M
BEE#ET BE#ET BE#ER BE#RT HERERT BEAER

(note)
GES
At 1 April 2018 ®20185F4A1H (228.1) (121.2) 17.7 (51.8) 58.9 (324.5)
Currency realignment EHREE 0.4 79 - 3.2 0.2) 1.3
(Charge) creditto profitorloss ~ (1%) & A 8% (20.6) 6.0) 7.3 2.4) (31.8) (53.5)
Credit to investment FTAKE
revaluation reserve Ena s - - - - 0.2 0.2
At 31 March 2019 201943 A31H (248.3) (119.3) 25.0 (51.0) 271 (366.5)
Currency realignment EHHE - 8.4 - 30 2.9 8.5
(Charge) credit to profit or loss ~ (F0Fx) 5T A B2 (19.5) 0.6 15.8 (47.9) 25.9) (76.3)
Credit to investment FAKRE

revaluation reserve EihREE - - - - 1.0 1.0
At 31 March 2020 20203 A 31H (267.8) (110.3) 40.8 (95.3) (0.7) (4333

Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised in
relation to unrealised profit of certain property development projects and gain on
fair value change upon transfer of properties held for sale and properties held for/
under development for sale to investment properties.

For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for
financial reporting purposes:

HEE B ERRRE T OEREEA KRR AN
R 2 B SE B A 2 (2 1) R 48 A T e 5 1 5
ERUHESER/EETDENBE LAY R A
TEE B -

REBRFEEVBAREME  ETELEHRE
BERABEREEZEHERREHE - AT
SRARMH 2R B K2R TR IE SR (K
&) D

2020 2019
HK$’M HK$'M

BEAT BEATT

Deferred tax liabilities EEIEA G (472.7) (382.0)
Deferred tax assets FEIER B E B 39.4 15.5
(433.3) (366.5)

BRAXEREEERAR 20192020 £8 201



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$1,569.9 million (2019: HK$1,351.7 million) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of approximately HK$247.3 million (2019: HK$151.5
million) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining HK$1,322.6 million (2019: HK$1,200.2
million) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$210.6 million (2019: HK$202.6 million)
mainly arising from impairment losses recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment, inventory and certain financial
assets at amortised cost. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

32. SHARE CAPITAL

REEER - SEAREABIARIE A1,569.9
A EBT(019F 1,351 7E B L) A
FAREERR G - HEP 2473 E B T
(2019 - 15156 &) BHEEBRELER
BEE - ARNEXRBARIEFRA - Bk
I #E BE 8258 1,322.6 B 8 /48 7T (20194 : 1,200.2
BEERBL)BRECHEEE -

REHR SEFTBERDE  BERKE -
FERAETERHBHEKNIFTEZCESREEZD
BRBREEBEEBEMASIBZANBEREZREA
210.6 & B8 L (20194 : 202.6 B & B L) ° M
PN K AT RE 7B FE 2R B s A1) AT A A 4K 8 AT 300
TREE AN TERZETHNREFE5E
MREERIBEE -

32. B2

Number
of shares HK$’'M
g BEEABT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each TSR EE.25B T2 LB
Authorised: JETE
At 1 April 2018 R2018F 4 A1 H 2,000,000,000 500.0
Increase on 22 August 2018 (note a) R2018F8 228 m(Miska)  2,000,000,000 500.0
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 R2019F3 31 H &
20203 A31H 4,000,000,000 1,000.0
Issued and fully paid: BEITERERE
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4 81H 1,350,274,367 337.5
Bonus issue (note b) BEATH IR (B 5Eb) 135,027,436 33.8
At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 R2019F3 A31H X
2020%3 A31H 1,485,301,803 371.3

Notes:

(@) Pursuant to a resolution passed at the annual general meeting held on 22
August 2018, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
HK$500.0 million divided into 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each
to HK$1,000.0 million divided into 4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25
each by the creation of an additional 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25
each.

(b) On 22 August 2018, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
shareholders of the Company to approve the bonus issue on the basis of one
bonus share for every ten existing ordinary shares held by the shareholders as of
31 August 2018. On 17 September 2018, the Group issued a total of
135,027,436 bonus shares.
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B 5E

(@) RIEMN2018F8A2H BRI ZRRBFAG LBB
ZRFBR AR EHETE R A S B 15 % 2,000,000,000
iR & AR025% T 2 L @ R A5000B BAE (9D A
2,000,000,000 % & I ™ E0.25/8 jt 2 L @AX) =
1,000.0 5 & 7 7t (% /4 4,000,000,000 f% & A% M {E0.25 7
T2 EmAR)

(o) M2018F8 A22H AR R REEN BB B LR
REBE HERREH E2018FE8A31 B EHF A 10/
MAEL BRI EEARAR 2 EREHITAMR - 2018
F9AITH  EE A % 17135,027,436 RAL AR -



33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 8
September 2011 which permits the directors of the Company to
grant options to all directors (including any Executive Directors,
Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors),
full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a contract
basis) of the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its associated
companies to subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the number of shares in
respect of which share options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the Scheme was 45,100,000, representing 3.0%
of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

33. R 10 H T &

RRFPR2011FIOABH IR T A fp HA#E 5t &
([%&T&)) ZABARHFARAEFTALR
Al-EMBRRAR/REBMERRZMEES
(BREMATES FRTESRBIIFHR
TER) 2BEEREMANGHFEAERZ
BRI A RBARE D 2 B HIE -

R 2020F3 A31 H %2019463 A31H * B #EZ
EEREEMRITEZRODBER SR Z
%5 8k B A& 45,100,0000% © #H&E R #% H AR 7]
BTN 23.0% °

Details of the movements of the share options granted are as B H RO EE Z EHEHBOT ¢
follows:
Number of share option
B HEH A
Lapsed Outstanding
Adjusted during asat
Exercise Outstanding  during the theyear 31 March
price per asat yearended ended  2019and
Category of share 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March
participant  Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2018 2019 2019 2020
R2019%
REZE REZ 3A3AR
20185 20195 20195 20205
BRITEE 4818 3A31AL 3F31AL 3A3A
SEERRN REAH T Br  HARTE FECHAER FECAN HAOE
Director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 14,500,000 1,450,000 - 15,950,000
% 2017524280 20175228 AZE 2027462 A27 A
Director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 23,200,000 2,320,000 - 25,520,000
S 2018F3A120 20183 A12B 202843411 H
Ex-director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 1,100,000 110,000 - 1,210,000
AES 2017562 R280 201762 A28 B £2027F2 A27H
Ex-director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 800,000 80,000 - 880,000
AEE 2018F3A 128  2018F3A12AE2028F3 A 11H
Employee 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 1,800,000 180,000 (440,000) 1,540,000
EE 2018%3A 128 20183 A12H£20285F3 A11H
41,400,000 4,140,000 (440,000) 45,100,000
Exercisable at the end of the year
FRATE

45,100,000

The exercise price and the number of the outstanding share
options were adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of shares of
the Company on 17 September 2018, detail of which were
disclosed in the Company announcement dated 17 September
2018.

WMARITERODBAEZTEERSHEAERAA
Bl R2018F9 A 17 B 3 77 4L i% M & H 38 &
HBEHER AR B AE2018F9H817H 2

A -

ERAXEREEERARF

FH



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

34. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@ On 18 June 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
independent third parties to acquire the entire issued capital of
Dorro Properties Limited, at a cash consideration of HK$758.9
million. The acquisition was completed on 5 August 2019. The
major asset of Dorro Properties Limited is an investment property
representing a block of residential building situated in Hong Kong.

The directors of the Company were of the opinion that this
transaction did not constitute business combinations as defined in
HKFRS 3, therefore, the acquisition had been accounted for as an
acquisition of assets. Details of the transaction are summarised as
follows:

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the date of
acquisition:

34. WEEFTE 2 A

@ M2019F6H18H AR Al —RMEESE
EMBAREBYE=FIEEHZE N
WIEERMEXER AR Z2HEIBITRA
ReRERTS8IBH BT - ZWEN20194F
BASHZK - BHMNEXARRAIZCEZEE
REERENE  HR—RURBENERE
KE °

ARTEERA AR H U TBRE BN
s LA ESHA AT OERAG Bk &
TEEE3 438 IN RS T FAIT £
m -

RBBERZMKBEERMIAERRE

HK$'M
BEAT
Investment properties wEWE 760.0
Trade receivables FEWE 5 IR K 0.1
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Be - BN HE R H E R EE 0.2
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ERNESER BERETER 0.1)
Deposits received and other financial liabilities EEeREMEHEE (1.2)
Taxation payable JE 5T 18 (0.1)
Net assets acquired WU - BEFE 758.9
Satisfied by: XA
Cash consideration paid BENBREERE 758.9
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: Wi 2 IR m I FER
Cash consideration paid BENBREeRE 758.9
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(b)  On 31 January 2019, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
independent third parties to acquire 94.25% issued capital of
Humphrey & Partners Medical Services Limited (“‘HPMS”), at a cash
consideration of HK$8.1 million. The acquisition has been
accounted for using the purchase method. The acquisition was
completed on 28 February 2019. Details of the transaction are
summarised as follows:

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the date of
acquisition:

() M2019%F1 8318 ARF—REESE
EWNBRRIEBYE AT VEEHZE U
ReRESIBEETHRBEGEEEEEEER
Nal([4REE])94.25% B BT A - Z UK
BORAEBAEZAR ZWER2019F2 A
28R - ZRX G ZFHBEMINMT ¢

REBERZMKBEENRMAERE

HK$'M
BEBT
Intangible assets mELEE 6.1
Trade receivables FEUE 5 IR 4.5
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - TENFRIE K OCH M fE W 5RIA 0.4
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 1.0
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ERNESER BEREFTER (3.8)
8.2
Less: Non-controlling interests W IEERER (0.1)
Net assets acquired WU v B EFE 8.1
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: Weg 7R &mt F8
Purchase consideration HERE 8.1
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B EESRTEHREES (1.0
Consideration payable FERRAE (5.1)
2.0

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$0.4 million have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 March 2019,
within the administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Included in the profit for the prior year was HK$0.1 million
attributable to the additional business generated by HPMS.
Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 included HK$1.9
million generated from HPMS.

WHERBEKA4EE S TE B EENRER
B WHRE Z22019F3A31HIEFEBER A
MY JIRGEBRRNITHREXA -

F—FEZHEABEREGEEEHEBINER
EEXEMO1IAE BT B E22019F3H318 &
FEZWABRERBEGEEFHKRAIIES

BT e

ERAXEREEARAA FH



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018, total revenue
and profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 would
have been HK$3,865.9 million and HK$2,405.7 million respectively.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 April 2018, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group had
HPMS been acquired at the beginning of the year ended 31 March
2019, the directors of the Company had calculated depreciation of
plant and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising
in the initial accounting for the business combination rather than the
carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial
statements; and determined borrowing costs based on the funding
levels, credit ratings and debt/equity position of the Group after the
business combination.

35. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@ On 6 December 2019, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Healthway Asia Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
Healthway Asia Limited disposed of its entire interest in Healthway
Philippines, Inc. and its shareholders’ loans to Healthway
Philippines, Inc. granted by the Group. Healthway Philippines, Inc.
and its subsidiaries are engaged in operation of medical clinics in
the Philippines. The aggregate cash consideration for the disposal
is approximately HK$225.0 million and the net consideration after
the transaction costs is HK$210.6 million.

The disposal was completed on 17 January 2020.
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sz W B 7201844 A1 H 52 Ak » Bl & =2019
FIAGNBIEFE S BB A K EF KD
Al /3,865.98 & B L &2,405.7TBE BT B
EEREHFAPBRAE AR TMZEER
2018F 4 H1HEMK ' AISBEER LG
WAREERELE M TRERRELETBA -

REEERE E2019F3 A31 8 It & Z 7 5
WIBGEEENBATEENIHEES I WMAR
mAE - ARREZERBER ST S
SRR EA 2 AT EmIER UK AT B IS R
BRZEAEFEERERE KL BETE -
WERBEEREBLEHENESKTE &
B RES/ e NEEEERAE -

3. HEWEB QA

@ M2019%F 12868 ARFZ22EHB
ARRETETMNERAREBYE=FFIVE
B Bt BETSTNERAAEEER
Healthway Philippines, Inc. Z & &0 # == & & E
#% ¥ Healthway Philippines, Inc. 2 % B & X o
Healthway Philippines, Inc. & £ /& A Al 7 3E 2
ENRBELEERFDZEB - HEZHRER
BAENHAE2508E BT MR HKA
%2 REFELRE2106B8E T -

& EER2020%1 B17H K ©



Assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries on the date of disposal are
as follows:

MEARREHEERZEEREBEBNT

HK$'M
BEET
Net assets disposed of: HMECEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment W WER&E 8.2
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14.3
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 8.8
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Ze -~ TR RIE R E M REWGRIE 23.7
Bank balances and cash RITHEB RIS 17.8
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges ENE SRR BEREFTER (25.3)
Lease liabilities HEBE (14.8)
Other liabilities HtBE (2.6)
30.1
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEM B AR 2 W
Net consideration received R EFRE 210.6
Net assets disposed of HECEEFE (30.1)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of A KA B D BT S m A
the net assets of the subsidiaries reclassified MEBAREEFERER
from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of EMoBEBERZ
the subsidiaries REtEN E5 2.0
182.5
Less: Taxation W BiIE (19.0)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A A« W F58 163.5
Net cash inflows arising on disposal HEZEESRAFE
Net consideration received R EFRE 210.6
Bank balance and cash disposed of HEZRTEHRERS (17.8)
192.8

(b) On 21 March 2018, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Hanbright Assets Limited (“Hanbright Assets”) and an
indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Discovery Bay
(Nominee) Company Limited, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which,
Hanbright Assets disposed of its entire interest in Smaragdine
Limited (“Smaragdine”), which was a wholly owned subsidiary of
Hanbright Assets, and the shareholders’ loans to Smaragdine.
Smaragdine is engaged in property development business in Hong
Kong. The aggregate cash consideration for the disposal is
approximately HK$213.0 million and the net consideration after the
transaction costs is HK$206.2 million.

The disposal was completed on 14 September 2018.

b) M2018F3A21A KRR ZE2EW B
A &) Hanbright Assets Limited ([ Hanbright Assets |)
E A QA EE 2 E K B A 7 Discovery Bay
(Nomineg) Company Limited B2 58 37 55 = 5 5] 32 B
& 1 &% © & Ik Hanbright Assets it & Smaragdine
Limited ([ Smaragdine]) (Hanbright Assets < 2
E KB AR 2 & B #E 25 & % F Smaragdine 2
X B o Smaragdine R EE R EMERE
(B -HEZREREEHLN F213.08EE
T MR ZEAE 2K EFER20628
BATT o

HEEER2018F9 814 H K ©

ERAXEREEARAA FH



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Assets and liabilities of Smaragdine on the date of disposal are as
follows:

Smaragdine R HEERB 2 EERBENT :

HKS$'M
BEATT
Net assets disposed of: HECEEFE:

Property held for sale BIEHE 2 ME 183.8
Amount due to ultimate holding company TEN S &R AT 218 (166.5)
17.3
Assignment of shareholder’s loan EERREEN 166.5
Gain on disposal HEZIE 22.4
206.2

Net cash inflows arising on disposal HEZRESRAFE
Consideration received Bk E 206.2

36. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

6. RERBELESEHEHER
Al

2020 2019

HK$'M HK$'M

BEATT ER=Y

Bank balances and cash RITEHR AR 2,610.9

The market interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March 2020
was in the range of 0.01% to 2.32% (2019: 0.01% to 3.08%) per
annum. The directors of the Company consider the carrying
amount of the Group’s bank balances and cash at the end of the
reporting period approximates their corresponding fair values.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the
Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty bank
is insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided.

37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2020, certain bank loans of the Group were
secured by investment properties at the carrying value of HK$315.4
million. As at 31 March 2019, certain bank loans of the Group were
secured by investment properties and properties held for sale at
the carrying value of HK$298.2 milion and HK$255.7 million,
respectively.
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RITHEERN2020F3 A3 B 2 MiFFI R EF
A Z0.01% £ 2.32% (20194 : 0.01% £ 3.08%)
ZEHEHERN AR EETRASEEMNRITEL
FReMNBEBRZEMEREENFE
BE -

#H £2020F3H31H Kk2019F3HA31H It F
B r-SEEHBTEHEBETRENG IR
BRGIRITELHOAEMED K B0 E 5
SEEBBELEE-

3. EEHRA

R2020F3 A31H ' f(REE A31548 &8 T
CEREMECIERAEB ZETRITERZK
o R2019F3H31H » BREE D Bl £298.2
BEBTN25TEE BT ZIREME RIFE
HEMEEBEAEB B THRITERZIEWT -



In addition, the loans to a joint venture by the Group amounting to
approximately HK$771.9 milion (2019: HK$771.9 million) were
subordinated to banks to secure a banking facility granted to the
joint venture for financing the properties development project.

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

o RE-—REERARERTRITEE
BHOERMERREBZES SECIA

ZAEENRIRENTIIOE BB T (20194F ¢
7T7T19B 8B ) ZERMIBITIEERERE -

38. WAEE

2020 2019
HK$'M HKS$'M
BEAT BEATT
Guarantee given, to the extent of the INEEREL O AR - HWRE
Group’s proportionate share, in respect R R EFRHIRITEEEEL
of a banking facility granted to an Z R (MsEa)
investee company (note a) 125.9
Guarantee given, to the extent of the NEBREL AR e
Group’s proportionate share, in respect AR EERIB B ERONRT
of a banking facility granted to a joint EEBELDZER(Mixa)
venture for the development of a project
(note a) 682.1
Guarantees given by subsidiaries in MBARREEYEE RER
respect of mortgage facilities granted to 7 IRIBERFE/EH 2 R
purchasers of the Group’s properties (Pt 5 )
(note b) 406.5
Notes: B & -

(@) No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee on initial recognition and the
amount of provision to be recognised subsequently was insignificant.

(b) The guarantees are given to banks in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon the
earlier of issue of the relevant real estate ownership certificate to the purchasers
or the banks have satisfied themselves to release the guarantees in certain
circumstances. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote and the fair values of these financial
guarantee contracts are insignificant on initial recognition and therefore no
provision for financial guarantee contracts has been made at the end of the
reporting period.

@ AAREERA ARVBERNTBERIAF
BERERBTERINBESBALTER WL ENE
BHMBRERANERHBERAOZBE -

b) ZEERDRE TROREVZBEFTENAZE
RITRE MZERBEFESRAKEEETYEER
RMEZHZBBER - ROBEREREHEBF it
EMBREARTHERBARE THERBRBRER(AR
EERE)ERBRER ARAAEERA HELTED
ZRREERN  AZEUBERANDVNERRZAT
BEYFEARN ARBERRLERTBREREOE
HEE -

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR M

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

39. COMMITMENTS 39. KIE

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBER BEBTT

Contracted but not provided for in the EENERNGEMBRES

consolidated financial statements: ER 1 -
Expenditure in respect of properties held #t B EF R/ KR YE

for/under development for sale pdi 3 1,109.2
Capital expenditure in respect of REMEUERDE  BE R

investment properties and property, RE2EARRAX

plant and equipment 339.8
Others H ity 7.9

1,456.9

The capital commitments in respect of the Group’s interest i EER AP EEE R 2B NEAERKE19

Dazhongli group are disclosed in Note 19. IR o
40. LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 40. HEZHE
THE GROUP AS LESSEE EE AEMEA

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had commitments for future 201943 H31H EEIBE T+ RIEF
minimum lease payment under non-cancellable operating leases in+~ T A KL HE M BN A TEHB X 2 &

respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows: R EBEEMNBTAENT :
2019
HK$'M
BEATT
Within one year —FN 22.9
In the second to fifth year inclusive EFE_EZERLF(RDEEEMFE) 14.3
37.2

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group KA ENZ I EEGREBEZH BAE
for its medical clinics, office premises and staff quarters. Leasesare WXL E T HFE<ENMNZH L HE EHEHE]
negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are fixed AHEMSF @ FH—ZEMFANEE TE -

for an average term of one to two years.

21 HKRInternational Limited Annual Report 2019/2020



Property rental income earned from investment properties and
other properties during the year was HK$504.6 milion (2019:
HK$436.9 million) in aggregate, of which HK$493.0 million (2019:
HK$426.5 million) was generated from investment properties of the
Group. Investment properties and other properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$14,927.9 million (2019:
HK$12,708.2 million) were held for rental purposes at the end of
the reporting period. Depreciation charge for the year in respect of
other properties was HK$1.3 million (2019: HK$1.4 million). The
properties held have committed tenants for a period from one to
thirteen years. At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum leases
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

REMEREMMERNFANRR 2YWERS
W A& £ AB504.6F & B T (20194 : 436.9
BEHBIT) HEB4930F B # T (20195 -
A265EBATL) RESEREYHE - R|E
HIRK BREEA $£14,927.98 & /8 7t (2019
FA12,7082E BB L) REMERE MY
X¥DNEEHERE - AFENEBEMME
ZIESEAI3EEETL(2019F 1 14858
BIT) c I AYEEAEMNESEE 21+ =
FErZE - RBEMR SE2HBELETAN M
BETIRECEHEN T HBEEHZ X
REEBEERFROT :

2020
HK$'M
BEBRT

2019
HK$'M
BEBT

Within one year —F A
In the second to fifth year inclusive
Over five years

TFNRE

F_EFLF(BERERMF)

411.6
599.7
39.2

1,050.5

41. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
with employer’s voluntary contributions has been established on 1
December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June 2014 for
the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the employee.
The Group also makes voluntary contribution in addition to the
mandatory contribution.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid
or payable of HK$21.5 million (2019: HK$21.0 million) to the MPF
Scheme by the Group, less forfeitures on voluntary contribution of
HK$4.2 milion (2019: HK$4.9 milion) arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of the qualifying service
period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited
contributions, which arose upon employees leaving the retirement
benefits schemes and which are available to reduce the
contributions payable in future years (2019: nil).

The employees of the Group in mainland China and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated
by the respective local governments in relevant jurisdictions. The
Group is required to contribute and recognise a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligations of the Group with respect to these schemes
are to make the specified contributions and recognise the
respective retirement pay in accordance with terms set out in the
schemes and relevant jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-
mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$8.2 million (2019: HK$8.0 million).

42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long-term bank and other loans, short-term bank loans
and other liabilities as disclosed in Notes 28 and 30, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debt.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

43. €T A2

2020 2019
HK$’'M HKS$'M
BEEAT BEBT

Financial assets THREE
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFAEGSZCREE 396.4
Financial assets at amortised cost REMENATTELSREE 10,167.9

Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI %2 A F1{E 5+ A H fth 2 E W 25

AECRATA 33.7

Financial liabilities TRIBE
Amortised cost B S5 K AR 8,432.1

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity instruments
measured at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in
debt instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables,
amounts due from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due
from joint ventures, bank balances and cash, other financial assets,
trade payables, deposits received and other financial liabilities, bank
and other loans and other liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as majority of the Group’s sales and purchases are
denominated in currency which is the functional currency of the
respective group entities except for certain bank balances, loans to
joint ventures, financial assets at FVTPL and investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost which are denominated in
foreign currency, other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities.
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The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as
follows:

SEERRKREAMIINEIECEERAR
ZEREEWT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R

Currency 8% 2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M HK$’M HK$'M

BHEET BEBT BEAET BEBT

Renminbi AR -
US dollar ETT -
Thai baht K _
Euro dollar & T _
Singapore dollar g T -
Others Hih _

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar and
Thai baht. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US dollars for an entity with Hong Kong dollars as
its functional currency since Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US
dollar.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% decrease
in the functional currency of the respective group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnels and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. The analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of the
functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency and a positive number below indicates an
increase in profits for the year and in exchange reserve. For a 5%
strengthening of the functional currency of the respective group
entities against the relevant foreign currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profits for the year and exchange
reserve.
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Increase in exchange

Increase in profits reserve
s I 38 hn BE 3 % 5 45 An

Currency g% 2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$’'M HK$'M HK$’M HK$'M

BHERT ABEETT BHEABT BEETT

Renminbi AREE -
US dollar 7T 212.6
Thai baht K 15.6
Euro dollar & 7T _
Singapore dollar Frohns T -

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of
the reporting period does not reflect that during the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and
debt securities at FVTPL (see Note 20), fixed-rate loans to joint
ventures and fixed-rate bank deposits, borrowings (see Note 28)
and lease liabilities (see Note 29). The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank deposits
and borrowings (see Notes 25(a) and 28), loans to joint ventures,
advances from non-controlling shareholders (see Note 30) and
mortgage instalment receivables (see Note 21). It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, other relevant
interbank offered rates or other benchmark interest rates arising
from the Group’s borrowings.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. The variable-rate bank deposits have been
excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management of the Group
considered that the interest rate fluctuation is not significant. For
variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at
the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnels and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s:

° profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 would decrease/
increase by HK$31.6 million (2019: HK$28.6 million). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-
rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling shareholder
and mortgage instalment receivables.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its
investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a diversified portfolio. The
level and volatility of the prices of securities may be affected by
general economic and market conditions, such as interest rates,
availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes
in laws (including taxation law), trade barriers, currency exchange
controls, and national and international political circumstances, if
applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting date.
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If the prices of the respective securities investments had been 5%
higher/lower:

° profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 and investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 March 2020 would increase/decrease
by HK$22.0 million (2019: HK$19.8 million) and HK$2.7 million (2019:
HK$1.6 million) for the Group respectively as a result of changes in
fair value of equity and debt securities instrument measured at
FVTPL and FVTOCI respectively.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

° the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position;
and

° the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 38.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets and financial guarantee contracts, except that the credit
risks associated with mortgage instalment receivables is mitigated
because they are secured over properties.

Except for debt securities at FVTPL, the Group performed
impairment assessment for financial assets and other items under
ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related impairment
assessment, if applicable, are summarised as below:

Loans to joint ventures and an investee/Amounts due from joint ventures
and associates

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group
regularly monitors the business performance of the joint ventures,
associates and an investee. The Group’s credit risks in these
balances are mitigated through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate or jointly control the
relevant activities of the associates and joint ventures. The
management considers that the counterparty has a low risk of
default, after taking into the consideration of the value of the assets
held by these entities and the operating result of these entities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix.
The trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment
histories for recurring customers. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristic that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms.

Based on the internal assessment, the management considers that
the balances are of low risk and not credit impaired for ECL
assessment if the counterparty has a low risk of default or
counterparty has past due debts but usually settles after due date
while the balances are of doubtful and credit impaired for ECL
assessment if there have been significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition through information developed internally.
For the balances that are classified as doubtful, the Group has
made full provision at 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020.

The management considers that the amount of loss allowance at
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020 were considered as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements of the Group,
having assessed the nature of the business.

Investments in debt instruments and bank balances

The Group only invests in debt instruments issued by issuers that
have strong credit ratings to mitigate counterparty risk. Credit
exposures to debt instruments are monitored and reported regularly
to the management.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.
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Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the
Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
HK$1,239.0 million (2019: HK$1,214.5 million) as at 31 March
2020. At the end of the reporting period, the management of the
Group has performed impairment assessment, and concluded that
there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the
loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts issued by the
Group is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread
across diverse industries and geographical areas. Other than
concentration of credit risk on loans to joint ventures and amounts
due from joint ventures, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
major financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

HEEREHN
TS ERAEHME  R2020F3 8318 &

7B JC(20194F 121458 &8 L) ° NIk & H
R EEEEERETRETGH TRAEH
NTERMBEREHOUREERR L &K
BN Bt SEBRTZHBEREHOZ
EEBENZESNI2EABHEEREEZ
SRR ©
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S EEYEEMEMEAET 2 EERR -

TRFAVNEERFHEREEBRTGZE
RORMEEMABZEERR

Gross
External Internal carrying
As at 31 March 2020 Notes credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
HBEE RBEE 1REASERAFARZ
202053 A 31H Pt BE BE EHEEER IREAE
HK$'M
BEBT
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHRAGEZSRERE
Loans to joint ventures included in interests in 19, 25(c) Low risk 12-month ECL
joint ventures and amounts due from & BB 128 AEHEEER
joint ventures
FARELAER ERTEERAR
B E = REIRIE
Loan to an investee included in other assets 21 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL
FAHMEE MEBRREURER FER KRR 128 ARBEEEE
Mortgage instalment receivables included in 21 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL
other assets TiERA & BB EREHAZEREEFS
AR EE 2 KRB A B K
Investments in debt instruments measured at 20 A3-B1 N/A 12-month ECL
amortised cost A3ZB1 TiERA 128 AR EEEE
BBEKAEZBEBRIARE
Bank balances 25(a), 36 | AcnElEEERE 12-month ECL
RITHE B4 Aa1ZBaa2 FEA 128 A EHEEFE
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired
Y E 5K TER el ERAFHAZEREERSR

N/A

RER AR

Doubtful

- BEERE
Lifetime ECL - credit impaired
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Gross
External Internal carrying
As at 31 March 2019 Notes  credit rating  creditrating ~ 12-month or lifetime ECL amount
ShEBEE NEEE 1218 Ak A F BN
201963 A31H AP EE HHEEER REAE
HK$'M
BEAT
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHRAGEZSRERE
Loans to joint ventures included in interests in 19,25(c) N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 6,509.9
joint ventures, loan to a joint venture and T iE A 15 R B 1L2EAAEBEEES
amounts due from joint ventures
HAABARERZERTARAD
ERTELERAINERAE L AAFE
Loan to an investee included in other assets 21 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 106.6
FAEMEEZMEBREHRER TEA 18 L 2 EAEHEEER
Mortgage instalment receivables included in 21 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 49.6
other assets . AP,
N . - . A~ K & B Hz BE1E 2|
AR E 2 BB S B ARBRR RETEIEEERER
Investments in debt instruments measured at 20 A3-B1 N/A 12-month ECL 88.6
amortised cost A3ZEB1 T iE A 12EAEHREEER
BREHERAGN B BB IARE
Bank balances 25(a), 36 Aal-Baa2 N/A 12-month ECL 2,610.9
RIT4 AaiEBaa2 @& 12EAEHREEER
Trade receivables 24 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit impaired 43.1
EHE S ER TiE R 1 @ B2 ERFHRNZBHEEER
-EEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 10.9
i@ KR FERFHANzBREERR
-EERE
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The table below shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have
been recognised for loans to joint ventures included in interests in
joint ventures, loan to a joint venture and loan to an investee
included in other assets.

TEMIIRHAA S ARSI ERTAS
AR BRTAEATRFALMEEZ A
ARRAY R ERRR Y FEREYE -

12-month ECL

122 A RHEEEE
Loans to joint Loan to an
ventures investee
EXT ODHEBERE
EE AT HREX
HK$’'M HK$'M
BE#ET BEET
As at 1 April 2018 M2018%4 A1H 21.1 0.4
Reversal of impairment under ECL model R &8 Hi{= B B 1848 = 2 Rl (B & [T (0.7) -
As at 31 March 2019 R2019F 3 A31H 20.4 0.4
Impairment under ECL model BREEREEEEENX 2RE 0.7 -

As at 31 March 2020 M202063H31H

Loss allowances recognised for loans to joint ventures and loan to
an investee are measured at 12-month ECL, there is no transfer
from 12-month ECL to Lifetime ECL during the year as there is no
significant increase in credit risk for these financial assets.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2020, the Group has available unutilised
overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately HK$5,495.6
million (2019: HK$7,396.3 million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the
board of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of the
Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual [NXRFIEBERBERTEXAF S 4 HR
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment 2 &8 E(ABAIERERKEERIFER ZETT
terms except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand EZB4IN) - MIETESRBERS @ 5 E
clause. For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been TNIZREERHERNZ s HZFEH 258
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial &2 KBBIRES K2 - £HPBIEFEMNBERAK
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be 4“2 B e FH - MF BRI IHF R E - *
required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash ~ BYIR @ ZEAIK B R E AR 2 FI =K -

flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the

undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the

reporting period.

Liquidity risk table REE SRR
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
1 year years years 5years  cash flows 31 March
RER AER M3ANHZ
—FREE —EZWME —ZIE HRENLE HEREE REE
HK$'M  HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEET AEET BHEERT BEEET HEER BEERL

2020 2020F
Non-derivative financial liabilities ETESRERE
Trade payables and accrued charges EHESRARETER 168.6 168.6
Deposits received and other financial liabiities B4tz 4 R E & B & & 1934 193.4
Bank and other loans BIREMER
- fixed-rate - 799.4 798.0
- variable-rate -%E 6,835.6 6,523.2
Other liabilities Hi B 1,719.8 1,681.1
Financial guarantee contracts BBERAYD 1,239.0 -
10,955.8 9,364.3
Lease liabilities HEBE 175 83.0
Repayable
on demand Total Carrying
or within 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted amount at
1 year years years 5 years cash flows 31 March
RERH AREH R3ANIBEZ
—FREE —EMFE —ERF RFNLE BLREE REE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEEATL BEST BEAT BEAR BEAT BEATL
2019 20194F
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTECRER
Trade payables and accrued charges ERESRAKENER 2236 - - - 2236 2236
Deposits received and other financial liabilties 241k 4 R E 2 F & & 150.8 - - - 150.8 150.8
Bank and other loans ROREMER
- fixed-rate -EE 35.4 798.6 - - 834.0 7971
- variable-rate -%8 10512 44775 568.7 - 6,097.4 5,889.5
Other liabiltties H ek - - 642.7 809.9 1,452.6 1,371.1
Financial guarantee contracts HBERERED 1,214.5 - - - 1,214.5 -
26755 52761 12114 809.9 9,972.9 8,432.1
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The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, all bank loans are
classified in respective time band based on the agreed repayment
terms except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand
clause.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$526.1 million (2019: HK$106.2 million). Taking into account the
Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that such bank loans as at 31 March 2020
will be repaid within one year (2019: within one year) of the
reporting date in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the
table below:

ERAAFFELRABILIAZGE
BRFBAE Y BB EAREBREE
HRERBAEREELED -

MN2020%E3 A31H K2019E3A31H " T &
BITER R EERY  UHEEEES R
D BEERBEREREEKARZETER
B oh o

BB BEREREERRZBITERT AN
LR BS MBS —FRNEE] R
DA e R202063A31 8 ZERITERZ
KRELIE K& 4258 552618 & 8 T (20194 ¢
1062B BB - KEBEEZ AR RE
AAREERBRTBEITISTEERNERE
KA B R o AR Al EFM{E - R2020F3 A
IHZZERTERBRBE R HBRATEET
FERBEH RIS B HE T —F (20194 ¢
—F)NEE FBHINRTER:

Total
Within 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
1 year years years cash flows amount

RERIR
—FR —ZEZEWMFE —ZHEFE HERAEE BRE B
HK$'M HK$'M HK$’M HK$’M HK$'M
HEEBT BEERT BEBAER BEEET BHEER

At 31 March 2020 202093 A31H

At 31 March 2019 M20199F 3 A31 H 106.9 - - 106.9 106.2

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the Group
considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed
suffer credit losses.

PR BEREQOAFANSEIIRE )T #
REREEREERBELHBENZ8ER
THENRRTBE RENBEHRNEL
SERARAULBEARBELHEINEIME
e AM - LWAMGHREFHITREERRES
RS A A] BEME M AE - ot AJ BE M AR T HE R
RETAHANBURERRZEEBHENA

BEIE o

ERAXEREEARAA FH



For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

° the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices; and

° the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted
equity securities which are measured at fair value using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in
addition to unobservable inputs such as company specific financial
information (Note 20).

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
costs on the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

HKR International Limited Annual Report
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44. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for

¥ AR

M4 BETEfELEEREZ

TRHVNEERBETHMELABZEH (B

BEREEREAECHKARKBESRESNEE

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified inthe 48R EMEXRP L EAMELTHRE L=
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from 7 &1& -
financing activities.
Advances
from non-
Bank controlling
and shareholders
Dividend Interest other and a joint Club Lease
payables payables loans venture debentures liabilities Total
FERRR
BTk REEAT
ERARE EMAE HtEX ZB% BFfEF HEAR @t
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBn HE®BT BEER BEBn HBHEET AEET AEER
At 1 April 2018 20184 718 - - 7,585.7 316.2 852.0 - 87539
Financing cash flows BEBELRE (171.4) (303.8) (816.7) 222.5 (42.1) - (1,115
Currency realignment B - - (83.2) - - - (83.2)
Interest expenses FERAY - 2425 - 32 - - 245.7
Interests included in the qualifying assets st AA AR BE 2 HI & - 61.3 - 19.3 - - 80.6
Dividends declared EERKRE 1714 - - - - - 1714
Others Hit - - 0.8 - - - 0.8
At 31 March 2019 #2019 3A31H - - 6,686.6 561.2 809.9 - 80577
Adjustment upon application of RERERMBRE
HKFRS 16 LAE16R R 2 AE - - - - - 64.6 64.6
At 1 April 2019 (restated) R2019F4 A1 8 (£5) - - 66866 561.2 809.9 646 81223
Financing cash flows BERERE (169.4) (276.0) 617.7 275.2 - (17.6) 429.9
Currency realignment EBAR - - 16.0 - - 0.7) 15.3
Interest expenses FERX - 276.0 - - - @42 2718
Interests included in the qualifying assets st AR BREEZFIE
- Properties held for/under -HEEFEE/
development for sale BRPME - - - 26.8 - - 26.8
- Investment properties -REME - - - 49 - - 49
- Property, plant and equipment -ME BENLEE - - - 3.1 - - 3.1
Dividends declared BEEIKKE 169.4 - - - - - 169.4
New leases entered BIUHEE - - - - - 56.4 56.4
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35) HENB AR (HF3s) - - - - - (14.8) (14.8)
Termination of lease KIEHRE
Others Hity

At 31 March 2020

R202063 318

83.0

EREAXEBREEMARRAF 20192020 FR 205



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

45. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES 45.

AND JOINT VENTURES EE& AT
(@) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their (@) HEFBEMRLEETEEEMBMURE
principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows: BZIFTERBATFBUOT -
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
2020%F3A31H 2019463 A31H
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NAEB ERTRE SEEGRE BETRE SEHEARE IEEH
HK$ % HK$ %
BT Rl BT Anth
Ace Spring Limited 1 100  Property investment
TRARAF NERE
Active Future Limited 1 100  Property investment
BABRAR NERE
Allmedco Group Limited 1,500,000 1,600,000 456" Trading of medical and dental
equipment and supplies
BEREATHRERMBER
AmMed Cancer Center (Central) Limited 2 100  Provision of cancer treatment services
and diagnostic imaging services
RE|EBROABERB REY RS
AmMed Hong Kong Limited 10,000 100 Investment holding
REBBREERDA REER
Beaufort Hotels Limited 1 100  Provision of hotel management
services
RE{BEEERS
Cardiomed Limited 1 100 Investment holding
TEREERAT REER
Co-Success Investment Limited 2 100  Property investment
EiEREBRAR MERE
Discovery Bay Commercial Services Limited 2 50 Commercial leasing agent
R EEEREERAR HMERERE
Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited 400,000 400,000 50*  Operation of a shipyard
2EMS
Discovery Bay Financial Services Limited 2 50°  Provision of financial services to first

WS ENBEREERAT
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31 March 2020
20203 A 31H

Issued

Name of company share capital
ARER BRITRA
HK$

BT

Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited
BRESRRIRGERAF

Discovery Bay Hotel Limited

Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited
BREEREERAT

Discovery Bay Property Limited
BRENEERAF

Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited
HELEEEERAT

Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company Limited
BSERERRAF

Discovery Bay Services Management Limited

WS ERBERERAA

Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited
RRERBREERLA

Discovery Bay Transportation Services Limited
RRENEREERLA

Dorro Properties Limited

BNEXERAF

500,000

Emerald Property Limited
BYMEERAF

Fame Wood Limited
EIRRARAR

Gains Century Limited
EMERAR

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

Equity

interest
attributable

to the Group
S B RRE
%

AOt

Principal activities

FREH

Equity
interest
attributable Issued
to the Group share capital
SEEGRE BETRA
% HKS
Vil BT
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2
2

50" Provision of club facilities
RESMR

50" Hotel operator
BESE

50" Provision of club facilities
RESMR

50" Provision of property agency services

RENERERYE

50" Provision of club facilities
RESMR

50" Road tunnel operator
BREZE

50*  Estate manager and principal lessee
of communication network in
Discovery Bay

EREBRBRERABE
FEABA

50" Provision of bus and garage services
RUEEBTREERS

50" Provision of ferry services

REOER RS

- Property investment

NERE

50" Property investment

NERE

100  Property investment

NERE

100 Investment holding

REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

Name of company

DREH

Garnet Property Limited
ERMEERAR

GenRx Healthcare Services Limited

BHEERRREERAR

Grace Investment Limited

HEREAERARF

Greenyield Limited
KABBRA

Hagent Investment Limited

EHREBRAR

Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited
BRINEEMERAR

Health & Care Group Limited
ERZBREEERRA

Healthway Medical Centres Limited
ReEERLERAE

HKR (PRC) Limited
BARX(FE)ARAA

HKR Limited
BARENRARAA

31 March 2020
20203 A 31H

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
ERTRE KEEERE BETRE SEEAGRE FEEH
HK$ % HK$ %
B EEL BT ERL
1 50*  Property investment
MERE
2 100  Provision of corporate consultancy
services to healthcare operating
units
mERREEEEMIRHR
EZARS
2 100  Property investment
NERE
2 100  Property investment
NERE
2 100  Property investment
NERE
10,100,000 10,100,000 57.05  Provision of dental health and care
services and operation of dental
clinics
REBTRREERRE R
EETRDHM
20,510,000 20,510,000 57.05  Investment holding and its
subsidiaries are engaged in
development and operation of
dental clinic chain
REER MAMBRFE
REBRRREEEETHDM
1 100 Operation of medical centres
mERERL
2 100 Investment holding
REER
2 100 Property management
NEER
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Name of company

AREH

HKR Properties Limited
EAREMPERLF

Hong Kong Health Resort Limited

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
EEEEERAA

Humphrey & Partners Medical Services
Management Limited

Jasper Garden Limited
EXRBRAR

Kinter Limited
BEARAR

LLam Island Development Company Limited

MERESERAR

Lee Wo Company, Limited
MAMBRAR

Macro Future Limited
BERERAT

Moonstone Hill Limited
ALER AT

Noble Glamour Limited
REBBLNFE

Opal Property Limited
BURMEBR AR

Parocka Investments Limited

31 March 2020
20203 A 31H

Equity

interest

Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
ERTRE KEEERE
HK$ %

B Vil

389,243,374.35*

2,000,000

300,000

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
BETRE SEEAGKRE ITEH
HK$ %
BT AOt
2 100 Property investment
MERE
4 100  Property investment and investment
holding
NMERERREERR
389,243,374.35" 50 Investment holding and property
development
BREBREMEER
1 94.25  Administration of clinic network
BB RS
1 50" Property investment
MERE
1 100  Property investment
NERE
2,000,000 99.99  Property development
MmEER
300,000 100  Property investment
MERE
1 100 Investment holding
BREER
1 50°  Property investment
MERE
1 100 Investment holding
BREER
1 50°  Property investment
MERE
20 100  Property investment

NERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

31 March 2020
20203 A 31H

31 March 2019
2019%3A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
ARER ERTRE KEEERE BEARA SEHEEKE IEXB
HK$ % HK$ %
B EEL BT ERL
Partner Ally Limited 1,000 75 Investment holding
FXBRAA REEK
Pearl Development Limited 2 100  Property investment
BEERERAF NERE
Qualigenics Medical Limited 3,000,000 3,000,000 100  Operation of diabetes and endocrine
HEREERAR disorders clinics
BE|RERNDDEAED
Quebostage Limited 2 100  Property investment
BEERAT NERE
Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited 1 75 Property development
TREERBRAT NEER
Royston Investment Limited 2 100 Investment holding
BREEREERAF REER
Scoot Development Limited 1 100 Investment holding
BEER
TGS Project Management Limited 2 100 Provision of project management
services
YRR ERRH
The Sukhothai Hotels & Resorts Limited 1 100 Provision of hotel management
services
REEEEERS
Victor Century Investment Limited 1 100 Provision of financial services to first
BAREBRAR hand purchasers of 2GETHER
and properties in Discovery Bay
AEBNARENEL
—FERRUEMBRYE
Wells Estate Services Limited 100,000 100,000 100  Property management, estate

ReMERBERAT
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31 March 2020
202053A31H

31 March 2019

20193 A31H

Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
ARER ERTRE KEEERE BEOTRE SEREMGKRE IEXHB
HK$ % HK$ %
B Bak BT B
Wells Property Management Limited 1,000 100  Property management and estate
BIAMEERERAR manager
NERERER
Yintaly Construction Company Limited 2 100  Property investment

ENRETRERAF

*

According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited (“HKRC”), the Group is able to control more than half of the voting
powers of the board of directors (which determines the relevant activities) of
HKRC and its subsidiaries.

** In addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85
deferred shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the
Group are shares whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices,
attend, vote at any general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of operating
profit and have very limited rights on return of assets of the company.

*** Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the
company also includes JPY270,875,000 divided into 270,875 redeemable
preference shares.

#  Allmedco Group Limited (“Almedco”) is classified as a subsidiary of the
Company as it is a 80%-owned subsidiary of Health & Care Group Limited (“H&C”)
which in turn is a 57.05%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Company has
control over the board of directors of H&C and Allmedco.

NERE

C RBEBEREXBRABD(EERR]) ZBRWZ
SEA AR EBREREWMBARZETSORE
HAARE®) BRF B 2R EE -

* BREFAIRLTBERKRSI £ B I B100%E &
389,243,373.85B L ZIBRIER D - FEFBELERMD 2
BRRBEREFERAEN HEEARREASERRE L
BE TERFNEDRELEERINFPIIRZEMERE -
MEEBEZAREEERZEERRESR -

> RAREEAI0B T ERRIN ARE 2B %
17 B 2N 75 6 4% {8 {B270,875,000 H [E 9 &270,875/% 2
] & 5 48 5T A% -

# /B M Allmedco Group Limited ([Allmedco ) % 18 & &
BEEEABRAAI(ER])EE%ER CHBEAR -
MEREAKNDFHEAEST.05%ER KB RF " K
AlmedcolE D AARARARIZHEB AR - AR RIHER
K Almedcoz # F& A G & # -
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(b)  Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: b) EMEZRBARFBHOT :
31 March 2020 31 March 2019
20203 31H 201943 A 31H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued Equity of issued Equity
Place of Principal share capital/ interest share capital/ interest
incorporation/ place of registered attributable registered  attributable
Name of company registration operation capital to the Group capital tothe Group  Principal activities
AL/ TEEE BRITRA/ 58 BETRA/ £E
ARER Eas it B AMEACEE EERE SMEAZEE EEKE ZEXB
% %
Eil Aol
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong \[] Nil 100  Securities investment
Mt 25 B E:3 i3 ErRE
Abraham Investment Holdings  British Virgin Islands  Note* USs$1 US$1 100  Securities investment
Limited REARRHEE Wi 127 1ET EFRE
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$10,197,932 HK$10,197,932 100  Investment holding
HeHs B 10,197,932 T 10,197,93275 1T REZR
Beaufort International Hotels  Singapore Singapore $$1,000,000 $$1,000,000 100  Investment holding
(Singapore) Pte Ltd b s 1,000,0003% 7 1,000,000 7T BEER
JPY420,240,000 JPY420,240,000
420,240,000 H 420,240,000 H
CDW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 HK$5,100,002 100  Property investment
HeHE B 5,100,0027% & 5,100,002% Tt MERE
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Note™ Us$1 US$1 100  Investment holding
EHhERERAR EERERRHEE M 127 1ET REZR
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong Us$1 US$1 100  Investment holding
KEABRHEE FA E 0 1ET REER
Health & Care (Macau) Dental  Macau Macau MOP25,000 MOP25,000 57.05  Operation of dental
Group Limited i B 25,0002 9 7T 25,0002 9 7T clinic in Macau
BR(RM) I HERERAT EEMEETRD M
HK Resort International Limited  Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$2 HK$2 100  Investment holding
HeHs 2 2T 28T REER
HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore $$5,000,000 $$5,000,000 100 Investment holding
Eipib:d g 5,000,000 7t 5,000,0004 7T REAZR
JPY2,693,360,000 JPY3,387,360,000
2,693,360,0008 3,387,360,000H
THB24,700,000 THB24,700,000
24,700,000%= 8 24,700,000% #
HKR China Limited British Virgin Islands  Note™ USs$1 US$1 100  Investment holding
BABEETREERAA EEGRRES M- Y 1% REZR
HKR Company Limited British Virgin Islands  Note™ US$2 Us$2 100  Investment holding
ERERRHEE e 2%7 E REER

232 HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020



31 March 2020
202063 H31H

Nominal value

of issued

Place of Principal share capital/

incorporation/ place of registered

Name of company registration operation capital
AL RL L/ TEEE BRITRA/

AEER B it AMERZEE
HKR Japan KK Japan Japan JPY10,000
AR AR 10,0008

HKR Shanghai Limited British Virgin Islands  Note*™ US$1
BREE LEERARF HEEHBHARE M- 1%
HKRJ Akasaka TMK Japan Japan JPY2,700,100,000
= BA 2,700,100,000 H

HKRJ Development Co., Ltd.*  Japan Japan JPY10,000
AR AR 10,000 A

HKRJ Graphio GK** Japan Japan JPY2,000,000
AR AR 2,000,000 B

HKRJ Haluwa TMK Japan Japan JPY2,075,100,000
BAE =N 2,075,100,000 H

HKRJ Souei GK* Japan Japan JPY1,000,000
AAX AR 1,000,000 H

HKRJ Veneo GK* Japan Japan JPY1,000,000
AR AR 1,000,000 A

Pine Isle Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands - Hong Kong USS$1
EEABRRHEE B 1%

Prinia Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore S$2
BN N 2

Qualipeak Healthcare Limited  British Virgin Islands  Note*™ US$1
HRERERAR EREBRHE  WE- 157
Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore S$2
g Eiib;d 257

JPY1,362,730,000

1,362,730,000 A

Sathorn Park Co., Ltd. Thailand Thailand THB933,600,000
FE S 933,600,000 % #

Sky Phoenix Enterprises British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong Us$1
Limited HEHRREE FF 17

31 March 2019
20193 A31H

Nominal value
Equity of issued Equity
interest share capital/ interest
attributable registered  attributable
to the Group capital tothe Group  Principal activities
58 ERGRA/ %8
EaRE HMEACEE ERERE FEEH
% %
Bak At
JPY10,000 100  Property investment
10,000F NERE
USS$1 100  Investment holding
EV REER
JPY2,700,100,000 100  Property investment
2,700,100,000 A mERE
JPY10,000 100  Property development
10,0002 NEBR
JPY2,000,000 100  Property investment
2,000,000 F NERE
JPY2,075,100,000 100  Property investment
2,075,100,000 NERE
JPY1,000,000 100  Property investment
1,000,000 H MERE
JPY1,000,000 100  Property investment
1,000,000 E NERE
USS$1 100  Investment holding
1ET REER
S$2 100  Investment holding
25T REER
US$1 100  Investment holding
E REZRR
S$2 100  Property investment
25T MERE
JPY1,362,730,000
1,362,730,000 H
THB933,600,000 100  Hotel operator and
933,600,000 % 8 owner
BERERERE
US$1 100 Investment holding
1£T REZR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
2020F3H31H 2019 3A31H
Nominal value Nominal value
of issued Equity of issued Equity
Place of Principal share capital/ interest share capital/ interest
incorporation/ place of registered attributable registered  attributable
Name of company registration operation capital to the Group capital tothe Group  Principal activities

AR RL L/ TERE BRTRA/ £ BEITRA/ £E

DAEEE BRBH 2 AMEFZHE

MBEZMMBR AT PRC PRC HK$760,000,000
H H 760,000,000 7T
EEH(ESEEZAERAR PRC PRC US$1,500,000
i i 1,500,000 7T
EHEEREEERAR PRC PRC HK$915,000,000
H = 915,000,000 T

FERBEXERAA PRC PRC RMB8,000,000
# H A [ % 8,000,000 7T
FERABEXAERAA PRC PRC RMB8,000,000
i H A R % 8,000,000 7T
RRRBEXARLT PRC PRC RMBS,000,000
e h A B %8,000,000 T

EE(L8ERERAF PRC PRC US$14,000,000
# # 14,000,000 % 7

*

These companies are engaged in securities investment business of the Group
and have no specific principal place of operation.

** These companies act as investment holding companies and have no specific
principal place of operation.

*  These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

# The Group can enjoy all economic beneficial interest, instead of equity
interest, of the companies by contractual terms.
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EERE AEMEAzEE EBERE IEXR

% %
E At
HK$760,000,000 100  Property development
760,000,0007% 1T NEBR
US$1,500,000 100  Property management
1,500,000 T MEER
HK$915,000,000 100  Property development
915,000,000 7t and investment
holding
MEFRRRERR
RMB8,000,000 100  Property development
AR 8,000,000 NEER
RMB8,000,000 100  Property development
AR %8,000,0007C NEER
- - Property development
MEER
US$14,000,000 100  Property investment
14,000,000% 1T MERE

CMEARRERECESREXY AMRBAEE
ZEEEEME -

*MERARAREZERAR EMEAEREIETESE
B o

fHERRARINEDLE-

" EERANBRTIARSATN 2 BEAERIE
% TIMAMES -



(c) Details of principal associates are as follows:

Name of company Place of incorporation
ARER 1M AR L it B
Polyoung Limited Hong Kong
BRBR R 20
Tung Chung Station Development Hong Kong

Company Limited e

(d) Details of principal joint ventures are as follows:

Name of company

DREH

Place of incorporation

aE R FR 3 3t B

Advantage Investor Limited

City Grace Co., Ltd.

Dazhongli Properties Limited
R EMERRAF

Everbeam Investments Limited
EAREARAR

Everbeam Mortgage Limited

ZRRBERAR

Gainwick Limited

MEBRAR

Strongbod Limited

Ultimate Champion Investments
Limited

BE(LEFHERR
BRRF

British Virgin Islands
HEERREE

Thailand
%H

British Virgin Islands
HEERRES

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands
EEERRES

British Virgin Islands
REERRES

PRC
P E

*  The company is wholly foreign owned enterprise.

© IEBMEQFAFBMOT :

31 March 2019
201963 A31H

31 March 2020
20204 3A31H

Attributable Attributable
interest held interest held
by the Group by the Group Principal activities
el £ 8545
0 ¢ EibEs TEEH
% %
BOW Ao
31 31 Provision of financial services to first

hand purchasers of Coastal Skyline
AEXBE—FEX
REFBRS

31 Property investment

NERE

(d) ITERERAHBHOT

31 March 2019
201963 A31H

31 March 2020
2020 3A31H

Attributable Attributable
interest held interest held
by the Group by the Group  Principal activities
SEfE SEME
i Ay ElhiEsz TEER
% %
P BOl

50  Investment holding

REER

49  Property development
WEBE

50  Investment holding

BEER

50 Property development
MERE
50 Provision of financial services to first
hand purchasers of La Cresta

A3 —F R R RY BH RS

40 Property development
NEER

40 Investment holding

BALR

50  Investment holding

REER

50  Property development
WEBE

Y RARBENEDLE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 £, £2020F3H31H L FE

(e) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Company that have material non-controlling interests:

Proportion of

© AAEAFZRERZEZENBAA
2

TREJBEEERFZERBRAZARAIER
EMBRRZFHIS

ownership interests and

voting rights held by Profits (losses) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FEREZAIGHEEE AWMTFFERES 2
Lol PNCEE kB 3Lt B BERREEZLH A (B1R) R FERESR
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT HBEET HEERT  BEER
Hong Kong Resort Company Limited Hong Kong 2,620.7
and its subsidiaries (note) B
EEREERATRAME R
(B32)
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with (2.5) . (1.4) 1.3
non-controlling interests
BEFERER ZERFERMBAF
- 59.7 198.3 2,678.8 2,622.0
Note: Hong Kong Resort Company Limited and its subsidiaries are engaged in M - BHEEEAERATIRENBARIIERERE
the development, management and provision of essential and recreational REBIFEMRAB LGS E s EEEFRIKBIER

services for residential housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each
of the Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated financial
information below represents amounts before intergroup
elimination.

HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Y RERELFRELERT -

EHBERERFEEEGZARASHER
FZBEAMBEMBERINWT - TXHAR
RAVBENBEZSB I EERNYIHEAZ
TE -

EREEARATRENEA A

2020 2019

HK$'M HK$'M

BEAET BEAT

Current assets mENE B 3,083.5 3,386.9

Non-current assets IERBEE 6,439.3 4,709.6

Current liabilities mEBAG (2,145.4) (1,894.1)

Non-current liabilities EMBAE (1,986.2) (930.2)
Equity attributable to owners of KRB AEE#EZS

the Company 2,711.0 2,651.5

Non-controlling interests JEfEAR RS 2,680.2 2,620.7
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For the year ended 31 March
BZESHA3NHLEFE

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEATT
Revenue A 766.8 867.7
Expenses X (642.3) (522.6)
Profit attributable to owners of KRARER AFEALEF
the Company 62.3 172.6
Profit attributable to non-controlling FE 78 IR B 5 FE 1R
interests 62.2 172.5
Profit for the year N i 124.5 3451
Other comprehensive income attributable XA Bl A A JE1H E 2w W =5
to owners of the Company 7.8 3.6
Other comprehensive income attributable  3F 12 A% 4 25 FE (5 B i 2 E W 25
to non-controlling interests 7.9 3.7
Other comprehensive income for the year 7N F & H th 2 T W &5 7.3
Total comprehensive income attributable A F#EB AJE(E 2 E W =5 4258
to owners of the Company 176.2
Total comprehensive income attributable 25 IR #E 25 FEAS 2 B W 25 42 58
to non-controlling interests 176.2
Total comprehensive income for the year AF[E 2 WK 4258 352.4
Dividend paid to a non-controlling SIRE R T E I s
shareholder 6.0 17.5
Net cash inflows (outflows) from (used in) ZE XS (FTA) R SR
operating activities () F88 470.8 312.8)
Net cash outflows used in investing REEYMARS ML T
activities (590.0) (329.2)
Net cash inflows from financing activities &l &EEFT15I8 &% A B 184.7 522.9
Net cash inflows (outflows) BWemACEL) S8 65.5 (119.1)

All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort International Limited, HKR
Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd, HKR Company Limited, HKR China Limited,
Macro Future Limited and Noble Glamour Limited, are held
indirectly by the Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 30, no other loan
capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

B Abraham Holdings Limited * Beaufort Holdings
Limited » Hanbright Assets Limited + HK Resort
International Limited * HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd *
HKR Company Limited + &8 B £ F B 5 R A
A -BRAERABALERSZEEGRAFSIN £t
FEZENMBLRAGR BMERARREERFN
MARAIRERS -

ERFIARDEETR AU REXEAREE
BEAREZEENBRR BMEQRALRE
ERA - ARBEETRR FHNEMHBEL
A BMEARIRAERRAESEHNBRIIR -

B MY SES0 AT 51 2 & P & 55 51 B £ A (A P /88
REIBTHEMERERAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, other than balances with related parties as shown
in the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had
significant transactions with related parties as follows:

(@ Transactions with entities controlled (or jointly controlled as
joint venture) by CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”) and
certain discretionary trusts. Four (2019: Four) directors of the
Company are among the discretionary beneficiaries of the above
trusts at the end of the reporting period. The trusts have controlling
beneficial interests in these entities and the Company:

6. BB B RS

BRER B MBI R ATR AR T 2 BRI
SEFNEBBTETIERRZMT

(@ £ CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([ CCM
Trust]) &/ TEIEEEMZEG 2 B8 (£ H
EHCEERRDET LIRS  c RIMEHRAE
ANAIMAZ(019F - ME)EE R Lt 72
HEX=A ZEEARNZEEERARA
BEEERITERER

Transactions with the entities: HZEBERE IR :
Rental income received EUE e A
Management service fee received BEWE ERRSE
Other services provided Rtz iR

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BRBERT BEETT
5.4

0.8

0.3

(b)  Transaction with Hanison Construction Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries, in which CCM Trust and certain discretionary trusts
have beneficiary interests:

ZRB

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBET BEBTT

Other service fees

H b PR 75 %

/
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() Transactions with associates and joint ventures of the Group: () HEEBEME AT RAL AT IR G

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEAT

Management fee and other operating MeEERAMRzEEEBREM
service fees received from joint ventures 48 & PR I& & 41.5
Interest income received from an associate [a] B 4 /A &) U B > K 2 U A 0.1
Interest income received from a joint m& & QA WE 2 F S A
venture 1.7
Rental income received from a joint venture 64 4 A &) U B 2 78 & UL A 0.1
Rental expense paid to a joint venture MEERAZNcHEER 4.2
(d)  Compensation of key management personnel: 9 FE2EEBEASME:
The remuneration of Executive Directors during the year is as #fTESERFRNZMESOT :
follows:
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M

BEEAERT BEATT

Short-term employee benefits HEEERT
Salaries and other benefits FeREMET 22.3
Performance related incentive payments 45 252 (ff 55 12)
(Note 12) 95.0
Ex-gratia payment HE IR 11.0
128.3
Post-employment benefit BERE 12 18
Retirement benefits schemes RIKAE R EHE) K
contribution 0.1
128.4

The remuneration of Executive Directors is determined by the H17Z2E=MemFMETEeL2E@FERE T
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of KIENMIEBEELET
individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 & & 20203 A31H It FE

47. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 47. BB A& A T 2 B i 4k R &

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY ZER
Information about the statement of financial position of the RIFEHK EEAAF 2P HMH AT E
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: ®aFE
2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M

BEEERT BEET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment LER N 284
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE -
Interests in subsidiaries (Note 48) B B~ B 2 (B 52 48) 14,215.4
Other assets HEmEE 115.5
Amounts due from joint ventures IR & & R R RUE 581.1
14,940.4
Current assets MENVEE
Deposits, prepayments and other Re -~ RN IE & e Y RIE
receivables 122.5
Bank balances and cash RITHEB AR 809.9
932.4
Current liabilities mBEE
Trade payables, provision and ENEZER BELETER
accrued charges 35.6 45.3
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEHEB AT HIE 2,945.8 5,956.9
Lease liabilities HEBE 9.1 -
Bank and other loans due withinoneyear —FRE|IHZRT R EME R 4,108.8 906.2
7,099.3 6,908.4
Net current liabilities mEBEFHE (6,328.9) (6,976.0)
Total assets less current liabilities BEAERRSAR 10,847.8 8,964.4
Non-current liabilities B AR
Lease liabilities HEaE 23.7 -
Bank and other loans due after one year —E#BHHZRITRAMER 2,794.8 5,368.6
2,818.5 5,368.6
Net assets BEFE 8,029.3 3,595.8
Capital and reserves BEARRFEE
Share capital % 2 371.3 371.3
Reserves (Note 49) fi% #5 (Pt 3£ 49) 7,658.0 3,224.5
Equity attributable to owners of KRB A AEE#EZS
the Company 8,029.3 3,695.8

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved 7K &
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2020 & =
and is signed on its behalf by: H=

Al Z B IS AR R R B R2020F 6 A17 H &
SHEMEERE  THTIESEAEK

CHA Mou Zing Victor CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham
Deputy Chairman & Managing Director Executive Director
=390 2 /0
B FEFREFRRICE HITEE
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48. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 48. XN T B A F =S

COMPANY

2020 2019
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBIT
Unlisted shares, at cost EEMRG @ EBRAE 2,238.4

Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UL B B A Rl FRIE
Interest bearing portion (note) By (M) 3,440.9
Non-interest bearing portion % BE D 8,536.1
14,215.4

Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market
borrowing rates and have no fixed terms of repayment.

49. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

M ZEFRRLEER BRATHHEENXFE
Ko S B TE B 5K o

49. AP T f#E

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES i &
Share Capital
Share  options redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ROGEHE BEXREER
B 13 % E i f#1E 2R #at
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEE®RBT BEBRT BEAR BEE®RBT BEAR
At 1 April 2018 K2018F4H1H 1,5637.9 42.5 3.1 1,936.1 3,519.6
Loss and total comprehensive  ARNEEFHELEE
expense for the year F > 458 - - - (107.4) (107.4)
Issue of bonus shares BITHLR - - - (33.8) (33.8)
Share options lapsed % 17 B 4 2K 3k - (0.5 - 0.5 -
Dividends paid Bk A% 8 - - - (1583.9) (163.9)
At 31 March 2019 H2019F3A31H 1,5637.9 42.0 3.1 1,641.5 3,224.5
Opening adjustment on new MEAMBHRELER
HKFRS ZEFE - - - 0.9 ©.9)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) M2019F 4 A18
(&%) 1,5637.9 42.0 3.1 1,640.6 3,223.6
Profit and total comprehensive &A% & F R 2 H
income for the year W 5 48 58 - - - 4,597.8 4,597.8
Dividends paid BRI E - - - (163.4) (163.4)

At 31 March 2020

M2020E3A31H

7,658.0
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 &, 2202063 A31H It FE

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders, subject to the
provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends,
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business. In accordance with the Company’s articles of
association, dividends can only be distributed out of the
accumulated profits of the Company, which amounted to
HK$6,075.0 million (2019: HK$1,641.5 million) as at 31 March
2020.

50. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The outbreak of COVID-19 since the beginning of 2020 is a fluid
and challenging situation facing all the industries of the society
including the real estate and hospitality sectors. The Group has
conducted assessment on the overall impact of the situation on the
financial position of the Group and taken all possible effective
measures to limit and keep the impact in control. The Group will
keep continuous attention on the change of situation and make
timely response and adjustments in the future.

HKR International Limited Annual Report

BERSHEERAREE2NE(KER) AR
A Z B 19 5% (B /] 9 & F A% 3R =k 1A i% R R
B BEAGRTHAEZEEAARAEZRZH
BljfEmeE MEBEBRERE®E  ARAZASR
HEERBEERINHZEE - BREEXRQR]
ZHBERMA AR EREERR2020F3 A
318 2 & 5% #16,075.0 & & 8 Jr (20194 :
1,641.5B BB L) PRFRERS -

50. HEHERER

B2020F M2 R BERRERBER B L
SERTERFX(BREEHERBEEX)BAY
BTRZAZE SECHEERBEAHEE
MBRREKR ZBRBEE YRR —JA
RRAEMZERRLZEHERTE - SES
BRI RETLEE( W REEYE RED
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

I EB R E

RESULTS E4
For the year ended 31 March
BZEZ3ANBLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS$'M HK$'M
BEEBrT A28t BEBT BEBT BEBT
Turnover w2 4,696.5 3,844.0 2,222.3 2,234.1 4,238.5
Profit from operations & & i A 2,287.3 2,030.2 2,797.5 1,015.6 1,311.8
Finance costs B E B (271.8) (245.7) (208.3) (191.7) (172.0)
Share of results of associates 7 {544 A 7
ES (0.1) 0.2) 0.2) 0.2) 2.3)
Share of results of joint ventures 515 & & A &
B 506.6 946.7 48.4 260.6 155.2
Profit before taxation B 5 B 55 F 2,522.0 2,731.0 2,637.4 1,084.3 1,292.7
Taxation Fi1E (837.7) (325.8) (200.5) (95.8) (150.0)
Profit for the year AN EE FE 3% A 1,684.3 2,405.2 2,436.9 988.5 1,142.7
Attributable to: T AL
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE? F =N 1,624.6 2,206.9 2,305.1 823.9 783.9
Non-controlling interests FE1E R e = 59.7 198.3 131.8 164.6 358.8
Profit for the year N F Z a 1,684.3 2,405.2 2,436.9 988.5 1,142.7
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
At 31 March
MW3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS$'M HK$'M
BEERAT BBET BEET BAEST BEBL
Total assets BEHE <rizipel 354574 34,6367 29,6306  27,766.9
Total liabilities BEEBE (el (11,535.0) (12,479.3)  (10,877.0)  (9,507.4)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R = el (2,622.00 (2,439.6) (2,367.8)  (2,203.2)
Equity attributable to KRARIHEAA
owners of the Company JEAL HE % celalpis 21,8004 19,717.8 16,385.8  16,056.3
Notes: B2

(@ On 1 April 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15.
Accordingly, certain information for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017 and
2018 which was prepared under HKAS 39 and HKAS 18 may not be comparable
to the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020.

() On 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 16. Accordingly, certain
information for the years ended 31 March 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 which
was prepared under HKAS 17 may not be comparable to the year ended 31
March 2020.

(@) M2018F4A1H  SEER T AEMB®ME ERZE
SRR BB R E LB FE155 - HREH H =2016
F2017F R2018F3AZIBLEFE 2 ERIBRESR
BEIERFERRRBERGHENFISRABEE - E
I AT BE I N A B2 &f 20194 202043 A31 B IEFE
ZEREE -

(o) M2019F4A1H - SEERT BB B REEASE
165% - @17 26 9 B £ 20164 - 20174 20184 22019
FIAMBLEEZENIIRERES G ERFE17H
Frém e - A LAl gE I 7] B A, £2020F3 A 31 H IEF
EZERLE-
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TRV RS

At 31 March 2020 7202053 H31H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

A SREB/IBRD2WE

DEVELOPMENT
Expected Attributable
Gross floor area Stage of completion Nature of interest to
Descriptions (sq. ft.) completion date property the Group
BEEEE ) 58
R (FER) THMER FHTKA MEHE FE{k Rl &
1. The remaining phases, KU L 1 2 2
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island % T & 5
(a) Residential FE 46,515 Construction 20202022 Residential 50%
under progress =
TiRETH
(b) Others Hih 367,289 Not yet No definite  Retained for future 50%
commenced plan  development
WMAET mETHE BEARERE
2. Mansion One, Jiaxing City, REMTAEET 194,635 Construction 2021 Residential 100%
Zhejiang Province, the PRC EABERR (site area) under progress F=E
(WHBEEE) IREIH
3. Creckside One, Jiaxing City, ~ HENIZ REM 133,807 Construction 2021 Residential 100%
Zhejiang Province, the PRC EEHEMPE (site area) under progress F=x
(WBEE) ITRETH
4. Nanhu New District, REST I A EEmT 436,718 Construction 2022 Residential 100%
Jiaxing City, BREE (site area) under progress FE
Zhejiang Province, the PRC (WBEE) ITRETH
5. Rama 3 Road Project, Z=E £ AYannawa® 416,180 Planning in 2024-2026 Residential 100%
Yannawa District, Rama 3 Road 8 B (site area) progress F=x
Bangkok, Thailand (CnBEE) REETH

244

HKR International Limited Annual Report 2019/2020



B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

B. BRERENMFEREEWA
J2:Fe

RENTAL PURPOSES
Attributable
Gross floor area  Nature of interestto Category
Descriptions (sg. ft.) property the Group of lease
BREER 5

R (FER) NEME EiERE HEER

6. 3houses located at Bijou Hamlet, ABELBREEMS 7,193 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island SETEEER F=  H

7. 4houses located at Headland Village, AU LB S 2R 10,251 Residential 100% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island LETREER FE H H

8. 10 units comprising lowrise RIE| 5= EEE 16,759 Residential 100% Medium
and duplex apartments located at 10EEM (HEEFER = ]
Peninsula Village, Discovery Bay, g BAIAK)
Lantau Island

9. 1 highrise apartment located at AE L5 BREE 1,068 Residential 100% Medium
Greenvale Village, Discovery Bay, 1S EEN £ H
Lantau Island

10. 23 highrise apartments located at AELBRERRE 15,118 Residential 100%  Medium
Parkridge Vilage, Discovery Bay, 28 {8 = R B AL FE i
Lantau Island

11, 6 midrise apartments and 1 combined unt KIS BB EES 6,373 Residential 100% Medium
located at DB Plaza, Discovery Bay, B EE R ] i o Hf
Lantau lsland 1EREE N

12. 2 lowrise apartments located at AE LSS 2,483 Residential 100% Medium
Siena One, Discovery Bay, R £ ]
Lantau Island 2ME{E BE &AL

13. 1 lowrise apartment located at KU o 52 1,315 Residential 100% Medium
Siena Two, Discovery Bay, BB R s i
Lantau lsland 1EEEE R

14. 1 lowrise apartment located at KRB WRESER 976 Residential 100% Medium
La Vista, Discovery Bay, 11 16 2 B {1 = 5
Lantau Island

15. 2 highrise apartments located at AEL R EEE 1,438 Residential 50% Medium
Peninsula Vilage, Discovery Bay, 2ff s BEENL FE ]
Lantau Island

BEREEEREESRAR FH



At 31 March 2020 7202053 H31H

Attributable
Gross floor area  Nature of interestto Category
Descriptions (sg. ft.) property the Group of lease
BEEER 5

R (FER) MEME EERz HEER

16. 5 houses located at Phase 17, RE L REE17H 39,596 Residential 50% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island SIEEEFE FE g

17, 14/F of Century Tower ll and ENAIE 3,663 Residential 100% Long
Car Parking Space No. 12 on Level 1, WABERIHR15A FE =
Century Tower, 1 and 1A e REN14E R
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong HEREEIEFES

125 &L

18.  Flat 2 on 1st Floor and Car Parking EREEBICHEEAE 3,500 Residential 100% Long
Space No. 19 and One Roof Space 1B EIQREN = =
Marked “5”, Bowen Mansion, [5lHKRAE
7C Bowen Road, Hong Kong

19. 5 highrise apartments located at RELFBREXER 5,477 Residential 100% Medium
Coastal Skyline, Tung Chung, 58 = EENL FE A
Lantau Island

20. 2 highrise apartments located at NGIES Sy 1,838 Residential 100% Medium
Tung Chung Crescent, 2fE = BB AL F= PR
Tung Chung, Lantau Island

21. 6 highrise apartments located at RUE L BB GR2m 4,624 Residential 100% Medium
Seaview Crescent, Tung Chung, 618 = B B AL FE 5
Lantau Island

22, Wellgan Villa, NEmAEE 1485 39,022 Residential 100% Medium
148 Nga Tsin Wai Road, CEIE T ]
Kowloon

23. 3 residential units and 3 car parking PR EETRER 5,036 Residential 100% Long
spaces of Chelsea Residence, 211115 1038 5 1695 i=x K
No. 169 of Lane 1038, REFE_E
Huashan Road, Changning District, STEFEEN RIEE
Shanghai, the PRC

24, Horizon Place Akasaka, BAER 81,624 Residential 100% Freehold
Tokyo, Japan Horizon Place Akasaka F=E KA ERE

25, Souei Park Harajuku, ARRR 14,040 Residential 100% Freehold
Tokyo, Japan Souei Park Harajuku % KA
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Attributable

Gross floor area  Nature of interestto Category
Descriptions (sg. ft.) property the Group of lease
BEEER 5
R (FER) MEME EERE HEER
26 Veneo Minami Azabu, HARR 18,299 Residential 100% Freehold
Tokyo, Japan Veneo Minami Azabu % KAERE
27. Haluwa Shiba Koen, ARRR 35,246 Residential 100% Freshold
Tokyo, Japan Haluwa Shiba Koen E= KAERE
28. Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku, AARER 27,314 Commercial 100% Freehold
Tokyo, Japan Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku GES KAERE
29.  Commercial Centre, AU L g2 233,419 Commercial 50% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island EEL GES S
30.  Shop 401 on Ground Floor, KU = 2% & 7,417 Commercial 50% Medium
Coastiine Villa, Peninsula Vilage, BEHMT401E [ H
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island
31, Commercial Centre, Yi Pak, AELmRE=0E 170,162 Commercial 50% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island HEDD GES S
32.  CDW Buiding, MREE 975,520 Commercial 100% Medium
382-392 Castle Peak Road, ERHE7-3TH GES th H
27-37 Mei Wan Street, Tsuen Wan, F L1 #8382-30257
New Territories RERE
33. 325 car parking spaces FAEPE R 225 N/A Commercial 100% Medium
at Tuen Mun Central Square, TR RES TEA BE 5
22 Hoi Wing Road, 325 =i
Tuen Mun, New Territories
34, West Gate Tower, NERDE 146,531 Industrial (note) 100% Medium
7 Wing Hong Street and KBTS RIBMESH T () H
8 King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan, EEEHEH L
Kowloon
85.  3units of DANS, TREE 5,487 Industrial 100% Medium
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street, RE AE2-6% (saleable area) T % 8
Tsuen Wan, New Territories DANG 318 {2 (EAER)

Note: The Group has obtained approval to convert the property from industrial

to commercial use and the refurbishment works are underway.

M SEERGHLE BEEVEBTERERS
BERE BN IEMERET-

ERAXEREEERARF

FH



PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

TEVEFR

At 31 March 2020 7202053 H31H

C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

C. FEHEWE

Attributable
Gross floor area Nature of interestto Category
Descriptions (sg. ft) property the Group of lease
BEEER 5

BR (FAR) MEME EERE HEER

36.  Poggibonsi, KU 15 =2 186,948 Residential 50% Medium
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island R T=x ]

37. Remaining units of ZEEA 29,657 Residential 100% Freehold
The Sukhothai Residences, The Sukhothai Residences  (net saleable area) % KAENE
Bangkok, Thailand BT B (FER®ER)

38, Remaining units of hEFETRER 113,049 Residential 100% Long
Elite House, EFK1310% s =H
No. 1310 Ding Xi Road, HILEMAE
Changning District, BT B AL
Shanghai, the PRC

39, Remaining units of City One, REIARET 4,501 Residential 100% Long
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, AEREMRE FE R
the PRC BTEN

40, Remaining units of Riviera One, RENTT A R ET 39,569 Residential 100% Long
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, EREYEMRE F=x R H
the PRC STE

41, Remaining units of Oasis One, BT E N T 138,445 Residential 100% Long
Hangzhou City, BEEEER i =8
Zhejiang Province, BT B AL
the PRC
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
NAEREBREEERR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EES

=]
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson (Chairman)
ERBEE(FE)
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor

(Deputy Chairman and Managing Director)

BT E (B EEREFRCTE)
Mr CHUNG Sam Tin Abraham®
EOREE!
Mr TANG Moon Wah
B 2 5T A&
The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI
BEEEE
Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
ERETE
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
TEXELL
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SRAK R L HE
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
BB &
Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
e &2+
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
%ﬂ =1 E/ﬁ‘ﬁ

* Also alternate to Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson
"RESHEELEEIRGEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE
BERERE

Mr TANG Kwai Chang (Chairman)
HMEESTE(FE)

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
SR AR S

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
A E &t

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
FMEES
==
Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus (Chairman)
SRR G (E )
Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BRI T E
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
REZEE

Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson (Chairman)
BB EE (F/E)

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta

fal A 5 &+

Mr TANG Kwai Chang
WEZLE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
(/:(\)MM ITTEE

E S
TEEREES
Mr CHA Mou Sing Payson (Chairman)
BB EE(F/E)
Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry
Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HEETE
Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
FTEEELL

COMPANY SECRETARY
NEIWE

Ms LEUNG Wai Fan

REFTL

REGISTERED OFFICE
af i S R

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
TERSZR

23/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

&8 T 58 168-200 5%
BB LEERAE23#E

SHARE REGISTRARS
Ay E Y

ROBFETE

Hong Kong

&%

Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

BARRELSEZLEARAA

BBBTEFANEF 1835

SMAPOITEITI2-1TI6E

Cayman Islands

FREHS

Maples Corporate Services Limited
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

AUDITOR
B B

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
mE e HEMA FETAITT
AR A a5 B 8B 2D

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

FTEARET

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

FERIT(EB)BRAA

Hang Seng Bank Limited

BERTERAR

The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited

BEELBESRITAERRAA

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

BITIRTT(BEE)ERAA

MUFG Bank, Ltd.

A 2t = ZURJIRTT

LEGAL ADVISORS
EERER

Hong Kong Laws
BERERE

Kao, Lee & Yip

[SE 2315

Mayer Brown

FFEIT AT

Reed Smith Richards Butler
BEBESAEMmT

Woo Kwan Lee & Lo

AT EEATT

Cayman Islands Laws
FHEREELE

Maples and Calder
BEEEMELA

SEHK STOCK NAME/CODE
HESX FTRRAD SRS

HKR Int’I 2 7% 1 5 B % /00480

INVESTORS’ CALENDAR
?X ﬁ % H 70N

2020 Annual General Meeting
020FRRBFAEY

19 August 2020
20208 H19H

Closure of Registers of Members
EFEROBFER

14 to 19 August 2020 (Annual General Meeting)
2020568 A14HE19R (REAFAE)

26 to 28 August 2020 (Final Dividend)
202048 A26 B =28 A (KHK E)

Dividend Payment Date

iR 5k E B H

14 September 2020
20209 H14H

COMMUNICATION

B 4%

Website 42 31t : www.hkri.com

Tel & 55: (852) 2238 1188

Email = :

investors@hkri.com (Investors #& & Z)
cs@hkri.com (Shareholders i &)
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BAETHEET 168 R IERT OIHEBEAE23E

HKR INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

www.hkri.com
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